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Letter to the Shareholders

As economic cycles fluctuate one thing remains the same No matter who

they are or what part of the world they live in people define themselves by

the work that they do Peoples work allows them to provide food and shelter

for their family health and education for their children and most importantly

gives them sense of dignity and purpose

Nooruddn Rudy Karsan

CEO and Chaftman of the Board

2008 was undoubtedly the most challenging operating environment

that Kenexa has faced in its more than 20 year history The

credit crisis subsequent economic slowdown and increasing

unemployment rate had clear impact on HR-related technology

and consulting spending

During the fourth quarter the U.S unemployment rate was

announced at 7.2% representing the highest reported level since

the early 990s and we continue to read about major global

corporations announcing layoffs numbering in the thousands The

pronounced impact on the jobs market during 2008 is important

because the employer-employee relationship is at the heart of

Kenexas business While the economic downturn has placed

great deal of stress on employer-employee relationships worldwide

we believe that this strain will eventually create significant

opportunity for Kenexa as organizations begin to look for better

ways to identify
the best individuals for their jobs and create the

best work environments to maximize their employees performance

The long-term demand drivers for talent management solutions

remain intactthe aging of the workforce the declining tenure

of employees increased
globalization fluidity of organizational

structures and pressures on the HR department to minimize costs

As stated above we believe Kenexa is well positioned to take

advantage of this attractive long-term market opportunity Kenexas

use of employee research to study individual human behavior and

human behavior in work groups gives us the unique ability to create

content and measurement tools to predict and enhance individual

and organizational performance This is the foundation we use to

implement better HR business processes for our customers and

is the driver for our integrated technology strategy to support the

entire employee lifecycle This proven value proposition along with

our critical mass premier customer base strong balance sheet and

history of profitability gives us an optimistic view as we enter into

an uncertain 2009

2008 Accomplishments

There were many important accomplishments in 2008 that are

important from both short- and long-term perspective

We exited the year as one of the largest vendors in the overall

talent management and on-demand markets which provides

Kenexa with significant critical mass

We added more than 150 preferred partner customers

customers that generate $50000 or more in annual revenue

We signed record number of customers for our applicant

tracking system ATS during the fourth quarter and our ATS

renewal rates remained in the 90 percent rangeboth are

product of our significant investments in RD including our

Kenexa Recruiter BrassRing offering

Our technology was recognized as market leading by

independent industry analysts

Our solutions were used by the largest and most complex

organizations in the world such as GE Caterpillar

PricewaterhouseCoopers ExxonMobil amongst many others

We expanded our value proposition via internal development

and complementary acquisitions

Our P-cubed metric which measures the average annual

revenue contribution of our top 80 customers grew to more than

$1.4 million

We continued to grow our global footprint exiting the year with

operations in more than 15 countries and

We generated meaningful profitability and cash flow which

enabled Kenexa to repurchase over .6 million shares during

the year



Letter to the Shareholders

2008 Financial Performance

Total revenue for 2008 came in at $204 million which was

an increase of 12% compared to 2007 From profitability

perspective Kenexa generated non-GMP operating income

of $37 million which represented non-GAAP operating

margin of 18% Non-GMP earnings per share came in at

$1.35 which was an increase compared to $1.16 in 2007

Kenexas financial profile at the end of 2008 remained strong

We had cash cash equivalents and short- and long-term

investments of $43 million at December 31 2008 and

during the year we generated over $32 million in cash flows

from operations

In 2008 we followed through with key promise that we

made to shareholders Namely in the event that the economic

environment became more difficult and it impacted the

companys top line performance we would take action as

management team to protect the profitability of the company

In the fourth quarter we took action to realign our cost

structure and we announced similar but smaller action

during early 2009 as well

Well continue to monitor the health of the global economy

and remain committed to balancing the delivery of profitability

and cash flow ensuring that Kenexa is well positioned to drive

long-term growth

Kenexas Focus on Our Core

We want to be the company that organizations turn to when

they want to build the greatest workforce in their industry The

Human Resources solutions marketplace today is crowded

with multiple vendors offering
various solutions What

makes Kenexa unique in the Human Capital Management

marketplace is our philosophy that the HR department can

have the single largest impact on an organizations financial

success through combination of science technology and

business process outsourcing helping it place the
right

individuals in the right environments to ultimately drive

business outcomes

Serving Humanity

Beyond our goal to provide our customers with solutions that

ultimately
link Human Resources to their income statements

we remain driven by larger purpose As economic cycles

fluctuate one thing remains the same No matter who they

are or what part of the world they live in people define

themselves by the work that they do Peoples work allows

them to provide food and shelter for their family health and

education for their children and most importantly gives them

sense of dignity and purpose It is this mission of ultimately

improving lives by the work that we do that keeps Kenexans

passionate and engaged every day

would like to close by again thanking all of our stakeholders

for your continued support

look forward to writing to you again next year

Yours truly

Rudy Karsan

kenexa
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PART

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents incorporated herein contain forward-looking

statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended and Section 21E of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended Those statements are therefore entitled to the protection of the

safe harbor provisions of these laws These forward-looking statements which are usually accompanied by

words such as may might will should could intends estimates predicts potential

continue believes anticipates plans expects and similar expressions involve risks and uncertainties

and relate to without limitation statements about our market opportunities our strategy our competition our

projected revenue and expense levels and the adequacy of our available cash resources There are important

factors that could cause our actual results level of activity performance or achievements to differ materially

from those expressed or forecasted in or implied by such forward-looking statements particularly those factors

discussed in Item lARisk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are based upon

reasonable assumptions no assurance can be given that such expectations will be attained or that any deviations

will not be material In light of these risks uncertainties and assumptions the forward-looking events and

circumstances discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may not occur and our actual results could differ

materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements We disclaim any

obligation or undertaking to disseminate any update or revision to any forward-looking statement contained

herein to reflect any change in our expectations with regard thereto or any change in events conditions or

circumstances on which any such statement is based

ITEM Business

Company Overview

We provide software proprietary content and services that enable organizations to more effectively recruit

and retain employees Our solutions are built around suite of easily configurable software applications that

automate talent acquisition and employee performance management best practices We offer the software

applications that form the core of our solutions on an on-demand basis which materially reduces the costs and

risks associated with deploying traditional enterprise applications We complement our software applications

with tailored combinations of outsourcing services proprietary content and consulting services based on our

21 years of experience assisting clients in addressing their human resource or HR requirements Together our

software applications and services form what are commonly referred to as solutions We believe that these

solutions enable our clients to improve the effectiveness of their talent acquisition programs increase employee

productivity and retention measure key HR metrics and make their talent acquisition and employee performance

management programs more efficient

We sell our solutions to large and medium-sized organizations through our direct sales force As of

December 31 2008 we had client base of approximately 4400 companies including approximately 180

companies on the Fortune 500 list published in April 2008 Our client base includes companies that we billed for

services during the 12 months ended December 31 2008 and does not necessarily indicate an ongoing

relationship with each such client Our top 80 clients contributed approximately 56.3% 53.5% and 61.0% of our

total revenue for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Our clients typically purchase

multi-year subscriptions which provide us with recurring revenue stream Recently however the economic

downturn has adversely impacted this trend resulting in lower annual renewals During each of the years ended

December 31 2008 and 2007 our clients renewed more than 75% and 90% respectively of the aggregate value

of multi-year subscriptions for our on-demand talent acquisition and performance management solution contracts

subject to renewal during the period

We derive revenue primarily from two sources subscription fees for our solutions and fees for discrete

professional services During the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 subscription revenue

comprised approximately 80.2% 81.7% and 80.7% respectively of our total revenue



We are Pennsylvania corporation We began our operations under predecessor companies Insurance

Services Inc or 1ST and International Holding Company Inc or IHC in 1987 In December 1999 we

reorganized our corporate structure by merging ISI and IHC with and into Raymond Karsan Associates Inc or

RKA Pennsylvania corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Raymond Karsan Holdings Inc or RKH
Pennsylvania corporation Each of RKA and RKH were newly created to consolidate the businesses of 1ST and

IHC Tn April 2000 we changed our name to TalentPoint Inc and we changed the name of RKA to TalentPoint

Technologies Inc In November 2000 we changed our name to Kenexa Corporation or Kenexa and we changed

the name of TalentPoint Technologies Inc to Kenexa Technology Inc or Kenexa Technology Currently

Kenexa transacts business primarily through Kenexa Technology and its wholly owned subsidiaries

Our principal executive offices are located at 650 East Swedesford Road Second Floor Wayne PA 19087

Our telephone number is 610 971-9171 We maintain an Internet website at http//www.kenexa.com

Recent Events

In
response to the increasingly challenging macroeconomic environment and strengthening U.S dollar in

2008 we reduced our revenue guidance in the third quarter of 2008 for the remainder of the year Following this

we announced restructuring program involving staff reductions of approximately 12% The cost of the

restructuring which included one-time severance and outplacement benefits and legal fees totaled approximately

$2.0 million

On April 2008 we acquired Quorum International Holdings Limited Quorum provider of

recruitment process outsourcing services based in London England for purchase price of approximately $27.9

million in cash The total cost of the acquisition including legal accounting and other professional fees of $0.7

million was approximately $28.6 million The acquisition of Quorum has broadened our presence
in the global

recruitment market

On February 20 2008 our board of directors authorized stock repurchase plan providing for the

repurchase of up to 3000000 shares of our common stock of which 1125651 shares have been repurchased at

an aggregate cost of $20.4 million as of December 31 2008 The timing price and volume of repurchases were

based on market conditions relevant securities laws and other factors The stock repurchases may be made from

time to time on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions The stock repurchase program does not

require us to repurchase any specific number of shares and we may terminate the repurchase program at any

time As of December 31 2008 the number of shares available for repurchase under the stock repurchase plan

was 1874349

On November 2007 our board of directors authorized stock repurchase plan providing for the

repurchase of up to 2000000 shares of our common stock of which 1448091 shares were repurchased at an

aggregate cost of $25.5 million as of December 31 2007 These shares were restored to original status and

accordingly are presented as authorized but not issued In January 2008 the remaining 551909 shares available

for repurchase under this stock repurchase plan were repurchased at an aggregate cost of $9.8 million

Industry Overview

Talent acquisition is the sourcing recruiting screening and assessment of employees Employee

performance management is the systematic process by which an organization tracks monitors and optimizes

employee behavior and productivity and evaluates performance through employee reviews appraisals and

business metrics



Drivers of Demand for Talent Acquisition and Employee Performance Management Applications

According to the Bureau of Economic Analysis an agency of the U.S Department of Commerce the

amount spent on U.S labor in 2008 was approximately $6.5 trillion or approximately 45% of the total U.S gross

domestic product We believe that the drivers for human capital are affected by intense competition for qualified

employees as result of aging of the workforce declining tenure of employees increased globalization the

increasing service component of the U.S economy and pressure on human resource departments to reduce costs

Over the past two decades many organizations have implemented software systems that systematize best

practices and drive efficiency in most departments including enterprise resource planning systems ERP
customer relationship management systems and supply chain management systems These software applications

provide wide array of benefits that both increase revenue growth and eliminate expenses Based on our

experience however we believe that the HR departments of many of these organizations have only implemented

HR information systems which track basic employee information for payroll and benefits purposes or

rudimentary applicant tracking systems Although these systems provide some level of automation they do little

to increase the effectiveness of talent acquisition and employee performance management programs We believe

that few organizations have systemized best practices for talent acquisition and employee performance

management or have implemented software applications to support these processes and provide HR professionals

with critical analytics and metrics

Our experience indicates that presently many organizations talent acquisition functions consist of manual

paper-based processes ad hoc outsourcing and third-party or custom software applications with limited

functionality As result we believe that they suffer from the following shortcomings

Inefficiency Many organizations rely on manual paper-based processes and they cannot effectively

manage the massive number of candidates presented by todays many recruiting resources including

unsolicited inquiries internal referrals career fairs campus recruiting Internet job boards and third-

party referrals among many others As result they fail to identify high potential candidates or fail to

process those candidates in timely manner

Redundancy Many organizations do not maintain easily searchable databases of processed candidates

and they often conduct redundant searches candidate who did not meet the criteria for certain

position may meet the criteria for alternative or future positions Without an easily searchable database

candidate may be overlooked

Ineffectiveness Organizations generally do not employ sophisticated screening and assessment

mechanisms As result most hiring decisions are at best loosely based on objective indicators of

future success and fail to match high-potential candidates with roles or positions that leverage their

unique abilities and experience This lowers the probability that new hire will succeed and negatively

impacts employee productivity and satisfaction

Inconsistency Many organizations screen applications and resumes based on rudimentary criteria and

do not conduct sophisticated and objective assessments and base hiring decisions primarily on

subjective ad hoc interviews This process lacks consistency and objectivity This inconsistency not

only negatively impacts the effectiveness of recruiting programs but also may expose organizations to

regulatory liability

High cost and inflexibility As result of their inflexibility and absence of variable cost structure

organizations must either maintain larger HR departments or purchase greater supply of third-party

services in order to accomplish their recruiting goals significantly increasing the costs of their talent

acquisition programs

Similarly we believe that many organizations have neither automated nor applied best practices to

employee performance management In our experience most organizations employee performance management

processes consist of annual performance reviews and informal mentoring programs We believe that effective

employee performance management requires consistent systematized process that identifies employee



strengths weaknesses and issues in timely manner continually aligns employee goals with the evolving goals

of the organization monitors opportunities for internal advancement and enables management to analyze

employee data over time We believe that the absence of effective employee performance management systems

and processes has the following negative implications

Failure to retain top performers The absence of systems and processes to ensure the fulfillment

motivation and internal mobility of key employees negatively impacts an organizations ability to

retain its top performing employees Management may not have the opportunity to rectify problems

with valued employees before they depart from the organization without system to highlight these

issues Reducing employee turnover can have material impact on an organizations expenses

Failure to optimize productivity Maximum productivity is obtained when employees believe their

roles match their evolving skill sets find their jobs challenging and have confidence in their upward

mobility The absence of strong employee performance management systems contributes to the failure

to accomplish these goals and even if organizations succeed in retaining employees they may not be

able to maintain maximum productivity from their employees

Failure to remove poor performers An employee who does not fulfill his or her role effectively may

have recurring negative impact on an organization To the extent that poor performer has

managerial responsibility this negative impact on the organization expands materially Without

systems that identify poor performers organizations may not be able to address weaknesses within

their human capital in timely manner

We believe that the failure to employ sophisticated systems in their talent acquisition and employee

performance management processes
inhibits organizations from leveraging valuable data generated through these

functions This can negatively impact organizations in several ways including the failure both to identify overall

trends that could improve the efficiency and effectiveness of its processes and to quickly identify problems that

could lead to employee turnover

Emergence of On-Demand Applications

Based on our experience we believe that organizations have become increasingly dissatisfied with

traditional enterprise software applications resulting in the growing adoption of the on-demand model for

enterprise software Historically organizations have purchased perpetual software licenses and deployed

enterprise software applications on-site within their IT environment This traditional method of purchasing and

deploying enterprise software applications has left many organizations questioning whether the benefits of these

technologies outweigh the following burdens

Expensive and time consuming implementation traditional enterprise software application requires

an organization to invest in ancillary IT such as hardware systems application servers databases

storage and backup systems In addition the organization must employ consultants or additional IT

staff to integrate the application into increasingly complicated IT environments and customize the

application for specific needs The ancillary costs of complex deployment can be multiples of the

perpetual license fee for the software application and can take several months or even years to

complete

Expensive maintenance Once the software application has been deployed the organization must make

further investments to maintain the application In addition to the maintenance fee paid to the software

vendor which is typically approximately 20% of the perpetual license fee for all software used in

running the application the organization must retain both an IT staff capable of maintaining and

upgrading the software as well as personnel to train new users to operate the applications Such

upgrades must be made to all applications required to run the software such as operating system

databases security patches etc

Limited incentives to ensure client success typical perpetual software license requires the client to

pay up-front material amount for the license with significantly smaller amount typically



approximately 20% paid annually for basic support and upgrades This model leaves little incentive for

the software vendor to ensure successful implementation and on-going client satisfaction

Developments in technology have enabled software developers to offer enterprise software applications on

an on-demand basis Leveraging the Internet multi-tiered architectures advances in security and open standards

for application integration software vendors can offer software applications to their clients as service hosting

the software on servers operated by the software vendor Clients using an Internet browser access the

applications which are designed to be easily configured and integrated with clients existing applications

The on-demand model fundamentally changes both the purchasing and deployment of enterprise software from

client perspective Rather than making large up-front investments in perpetual licenses clients purchase limited

term subscriptions for on-demand software applications Further because only an Internet browser is required to

access on-demand software applications which can be easily configured to meet the buyers specific needs

organizations eliminate the
expense

of ancillary technology and third-party services required to implement

configure and maintain the enterprise application on-site Finally the finite duration of client subscriptions provides

strong incentive to software vendors to ensure that the software provides the expected benefits to the client

resulting in consistent customer service The on-demand model also reduces research and development support

costs for the software developer Because only limited versions of the software exist at any one time the on-demand

model relieves the burden of maintaining and upgrading historical versions of the software

We believe that talent acquisition and employee performance management applications are particularly

well-suited to the on-demand model Talent acquisition and employee performance management applications are

generally purchased by an organizations HR department Because the HR departments of most organizations

have little historical experience making capital expenditures for enterprise software applications we believe that

providing these departments the opportunity to license software applications on subscription basis eliminates

major impediment to the adoption of talent acquisition and employee performance management applications

Our Solution

We are leading provider of integrated talent management solutions Our solutions enable organizations to

implement systematic talent acquisition practices that ensure the efficient effective and consistent hiring of

qualified and talented individuals Our solutions also provide employee performance management systems that

help to ensure that organizations retain and optimize the performance of qualified individuals identify employees

who fail to perform and identify successors for critical positions In addition our solutions help organizations

manage learning events to develop employees for both current and desired future jobs Finally our solutions

enable customers to determine its workforces engagement level and diagnose where changes in behavior for

individual employees managers and senior leaders or HR programs will improve organizational performance

and business outcomes

Our solutions are built around suite of easily configurable software applications that automate and support

talent management leading practices We believe that by delivering our products via Software as Service

SaaS we materially reduce the costs and risks associated with traditional enterprise software application

implementations We also believe that implementing feature-rich and scalable highly configurable on real-time

basis talent acquisition and employee performance management solutions that meet organizations specific

needs requires combination of software services and domain-specific knowledge and expertise Accordingly

we complement our software applications with consulting services outsourcing services and proprietary content

Together these components form solutions that enable our clients to improve the quality of their hiring

programs increase employee productivity and retention enhance employee learning and development increase

employee engagement and make their integrated talent management programs more cost-effective

More effective and consistent talent acquisition programs Our talent acquisition solutions are

comprised of two major components that enable our clients to increase the consistency and

effectiveness of their recruiting programs The first component is our applicant tracking system which



automates and streamlines the recruiting process The second component is our testing and assessment

solutions which ensures that candidates have the desired knowledge skills behavior and experience

necessary to be successful in the desired position Our talent acquisition solutions enable our clients to

expand the pooi of qualified applicants

accurately communicate powerful employment brand that draws best fit candidates to the

organization

identify high-potential candidates more quickly

accurately measure candidate skills aptitude and experience

create interviews focused on necessary skills and qualities indicative of success

increase interview consistency and objectivity

identify training needs immediately

document compliance with regulatory requirements and

ensure cultural fit between candidates and the organization

Greater employee productivity and retention Our employee performance management solutions

combine software proprietary content and consulting services to automate and systematize employee

performance management leading practices Specifically our solutions enable organizations to

automate goal setting performance appraisal succession planning career planning and compensation

management activities manage learning and development events design and administer effective and

consistent employee surveys and implement productive mentoring programs Our solutions include

tools that facilitate the development of action plans to address weaknesses and cultivate strengths

identified through these processes We complement the software components of our solutions with

consulting services that help to encourage and manage behavioral change within an organization As

result we understand that our clients experience greater employee productivity and improved employee

retention after implementing our solutions and thus directly impact business outcomes

More cost-effective talent acquisition and employee performance management programs We believe

that our solutions increase the cost-effectiveness of talent acquisition and employee performance

management programs in three ways First our solutions automate these activities enabling

organizations to maintain smaller HR departments and eliminate some third-party services Second our

solutions enable organizations to more effectively identify high-potential candidates and retain

qualified employees Third our solutions provide management the opportunity to achieve economies of

scale by outsourcing non-core functions while also ensuring the application of best HR practices and

leading technology to these functions

Application of analytics to talent acquisition and employee performance management programs Our

solutions enable organizations to use the data generated by their talent acquisition and employee

performance management programs in order to improve these programs Specifically our solutions

enable management to identify overall trends that could improve the efficiency and effectiveness of

their
processes

For example we enable our clients to identify their most productive recruiting

channels establish criteria indicative of success in various roles and identify problems that could lead

to employee turnover

Ease of integration configuration and deployment We provide the software applications that form the

core of our solutions on an on-demand basis eliminating the material expenses and complexity of

traditionally purchased and deployed software applications We combine this deployment model with

an intuitive user interface to facilitate rapid and widespread adoption within the HR department Our

solutions are designed for ease of use by non-technical staffing professionals managers candidates and

employees We believe that these aspects of our solutions enable organizations to quickly achieve the

anticipated benefits



Our Strategy

Our objective is to be the leading global provider of integrated talent management solutions for the Global

2500 Key elements of our strategy include

Focus on strategic talent management solutions Unlike some vendors that provide broad suites of HR
administrative software we have focused on the strategic HR functions that have the greatest potential

to build and improve the workforces of our clients We believe that this focus has enabled us to deliver

solutions that meet the unique needs of our clients in these areas We also believe that this focus has

helped us to generate an increasingly recognized brand in these markets which are expected to grow at

materially faster rate than the broader HCM market over the next five years We intend to continue to

broaden our footprint in the integrated talent management space in order to leverage our increasingly

recognized brand in these markets and these positive market dynamics

Provide innovative and industry-specific solutions to our clients During the past three years we have

introduced several new solutions each in response to the unique needs of our clients We intend to

continue to work closely with our clients to further develop innovative solutions that increase the

effectiveness of their recruiting programs and contribute to greater employee retention and

productivity We have also introduced specific solutions for the following vertical industries financial

services and banking manufacturing life sciences biotechnology and pharmaceuticals retail

healthcare hospitality call centers and education We intend to develop specific solutions for

additional vertical industries

Cross-sell additional solutions to and further penetrate current clients During the year ended

December 31 2008 we renewed more than 75% of the aggregate value of multi-year subscriptions for

our on-demand talent acquisition and performance management solution contracts subject to renewal

This renewal rate provides us with strong base of recurring revenue We believe that our strong client

relationships provide us with meaningful opportunity to cross-sell additional solutions to our existing

clients and to achieve greater penetration within an organization We expect to continue to create

innovative programs designed to provide our employees with strong incentives to maximize the value

from each of our clients

Continue to leverage our global sourcing strategy to provide quality solutions efficiently We

established offices in Hyderabad India in 2003 In January 2008 we completed construction and

opened our facility in Vizag India We currently have approximately 190 employees working in our

offices in Hyderabad and Vizag We believe our sourcing strategy will continue to provide significant

benefits to our clients including cost benefits and year round 24 hours day days week

Expand our global presence
and client base For the year ended December 31 2008 we have expanded

our global presence to over 15 countries Although our primary focus has been on the U.S market our

solutions are also well suited to addressing problems faced by organizations outside the United States

In the future we intend to expand our distribution efforts in Europe the Middle East and the Asia

Pacific region Although we have employed direct sales force in the United States we intend to

expand our international distribution through direct sales and partnerships We believe that pursuing

channel strategy enables us to limit the costs associated with international expansion and acknowledges

that different geographies present different cultural challenges best addressed by local sales force

Pursue complementary acquisitions We have completed 28 acquisitions of businesses since 1994

These acquisitions have helped us to adapt our business to the evolving needs of our clients We
believe that the HCM market is significantly fragmented Many competing companies have strong

technology or vertical market expertise but lack the scale to compete with the industry leaders in the

long term We continue to identify similarly situated companies that we believe could broaden the

functionality and strength of our existing solutions



Our Products and Services

Our Talent Acquisition Solution

Kenexa Applicant Tracking Applications We have multiple applicant tracking system ATS products to

meet the recruiting needs of different types of organizations The following are our ATS products and the

markets they serve

Kenexa Recruiter serves mid-market and large domestic organizations with centralized recruiting

processes

Kenexa Recruiter BrassRing serves large domestic customers with more complex and/or

decentralized recruiting processes
and supports multi-national customers with multi-language

requirements including the multi-byte languages of Asia Pacific

Kenexa StoreFrontTM serves customers with hourly/retail specific recruiting needs

The Kenexa Systems are web-based talent acquisition systems that streamline and automate the entire

recruiting process allowing clients to

convert their corporate website into an interactive branded career center where candidates can search

and apply for jobs update personal information and receive automatic notifications of available jobs of

interest

integrate with our suite of testing and assessment technologies to identify candidates with the highest

potential for success

post job openings to the relevant free and fee-based Internet job boards

intelligently search Internet job sites corporate websites personal web pages and their own database of

resumes to automatically capture both passive and active candidates and pull their resumes directly to

the desktop

provide management with both standard and ad hoc reports to facilitate understanding of the status of

clients talent acquisition programs

provide management with individualized HR dashboards that display rich data regarding the status of

clients talent acquisition programs and access to the most frequently used functions

automate clients talent acquisition model and workflow processes and

integrate with clients HR information systems such as Oracle PeopleSoft SAP ADP Siebel

Systems and Lawson

Kenexa Prove It The Kenexa Prove It tool is an automated configurable skills assessment tool that

enables our clients to accurately identify qualified candidates Integrating software with proprietary content

Kenexa Prove It provides our clients with over 1000 skills assessments for clerical software call center

industrial healthcare and technical jobs

Kenexa SelectorTM The Kenexa Selector tool is an automated configurable candidate assessment tool that

provides accurate performance predictions for hourly sales and managerial positions Kenexa Selector integrates

our software with our proprietary content to elicit responses that reveal candidate situational judgment cognitive

ability personality and biodata and then immediately translate this information into profiles of candidate

strengths and weaknesses

Kenexa Insight The Kenexa Insight solution is consulting-based solution that provides our clients with

customized research-based interviews that accurately and consistently identify talented candidates for hire and

promotion Our consultants work directly with our clients to analyze the most talented performers in different

positions within their organization We translate this analysis into complete structured interviews that identify
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candidates that have similar traits and behaviors to our clients most talented employees We offer clients the

option of conducting the interviews themselves or outsourcing this task to our professionals Following the

interview we track the results to validate the relationship between the interview and actual performance

Kenexa Interview Builder Our Interview Builder tool is software tool integrated with reference library

of proprietary content including more than 1200 interview questions and competency profiles Our clients use

Interview Builder to generate efficient accurate and consistent interviews that encourage candidates to speak

freely about their knowledge abilities skills and other crucial job requirements for more than 40 different

competencies We complement this proprietary content with training for creating and conducting competency-

linked structured interviews

Kenexa Employment Branding Kenexa employment branding offering is consulting based solution used

by our customers to develop sourcing strategies to attract prospective employees by means of highlighting an

organizations corporate culture Offerings include Company Career Web Site design Recruitment Sourcing

Strategy Design and Execution as well as Cultural Insight Surveys that can be used in all facets of employment

branding communication change management and mergers and acquisitions The Cultural Insight survey tool

uses archetypes to examine difficult and ambiguous cultural concepts and uses them to articulate those concepts

in clear and compelling manner

Our Employee Performance Management Solution

Kenexa CareerTracker The Kenexa CareerTracker system is complete employee performance

management system that streamlines and automates the entire employee performance management process in

order to improve employee retention and productivity The Kenexa CareerTracker system consists of suite of

software applications complemented by proprietary content and consulting services that together support an

ongoing performance appraisal process and continuous employee improvement

Kenexa CareerTracker enables managers to

automatically track and categorize employees within the organization

align each departments goal with those of the overall organization

implement systematic employee performance appraisals

implement sophisticated and automated mentor matching programs

measure pay-for-performance with compensation guidelines merit matrix and modeling tools

identify high performers by plotting their performance and potential on 9-box map and

prepare for the future with succession planning

Kenexa CareerTracker enables employees to

create individualized step-by-step development plans

align personal goals with organizational objectives

access resources for improvement in targeted competencies and

identify future opportunities within the organization

Kenexa Survey Technology We believe that our survey technology enables our clients to conduct employee

surveys that are easy to administer even though the underlying organizational requirements are extremely

complex Our survey technology is comprised of

Surveys Online web-based survey system that has been load-tested to process more than million

surveys within 24-hour period
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OrgMapper An automated software system that simplifies the process of mapping an organization to

ensure appropriate recording capabilities and options

Survey Ordering System An automated online system that accepts orders distributes and tracks

employee surveys for geographically distributed organizations

Kenexa Survey Scorecard software system that integrates data derived from our surveys
into

secure web-based online portal that enables managers to view survey results identify areas for

improvement automate action-planning to address weaknesses and track progress against action-plans

It also integrates proprietary content from our HR best practices database to guide managers in the

action-planning process

Kenexa Online Dynamic Reporting flexible secure web-based reporting tool for employee surveys

which includes variety of pre-designed reports as well as facilitates the design of custom reports

Multi-rater surveys These surveys combine software proprietary content and consulting services to provide

our clients with comprehensive outsourced competency assessment service including design administration

and reporting The solution integrates our competency library which contains more than 40 competencies and

broad array of assessment items designed to measure the discrete behaviors that comprise competency with

consulting services provided by our staff psychologists who have significant experience developing

implementing and validating competency assessments

Employee engagement surveys
Our consultants assist our clients in designing administering and analyzing

employee engagement surveys We developed our Employee Engagement model through studies of

organizational effectiveness and comprehensive review of the academic literature related to employee

commitment psychological ownership organizational pride loyalty and satisfaction We conduct analyses which

link survey
results to business metrics By linking the survey results to clients performance variables we can

recommend actions for improved performance We have documented the relationship between employee

attitudes and business outcomes such as customer satisfaction employee retention and management

effectiveness We have used this information to improve customer satisfaction to increase efficiency and

ultimately to increase our clients financial performance

Learning Management Kenexa Learning Management KLM is software tool that enables organizations

to deliver track and administer learning events such as training and continuing education sessions KLM

provides an education management framework that enables businesses to manage and deliver Intranet/Internet

based training tests and certification programs

Recruitment Process Outsourcing

In concert with providing talent acquisition and employment performance management solutions that enable

organizations to implement best practices in these areas we provide our clients with the option of outsourcing to

us certain aspects
of their staffing operations and recruiting campaigns including the sourcing recruiting

screening assessment and on-boarding of employees Acknowledging that organizations need to retain strategic

control of their HR programs we offer our clients the ability to outsource only the tactical components and

design solutions that meet each clients specific objectives These solutions combine our services and technology

in what we believe is an integrated delivery platform that allows organizations to manage fluctuation in hiring

needs and leverage shared infrastructure to reduce costs We employ team of experienced staffing professionals

who have worked in the internal departments of some of the worlds largest companies and have completed our

comprehensive proprietary training and certification program

We believe our recruitment process outsourcing or RPO services enable our clients to reduce operating costs

focus on their core business create variable cost structure around certain non-strategic HR functions improve the

quality of certain HR functions foster innovation and obtain access to leading technology without the corresponding

investment to own the technology themselves Clients contract for our RPO services for pre-determined period

Generally we enter into service level agreements with our clients to ensure the quality of our services
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Our RPO services include the following

Process consulting We perform needs analyses and advise clients on the implementation of technology

and processes to optimize their talent acquisition operations

Staffing department management services We assume all or discrete parts of the staffing function on

an outsourced basis

On-site staffing professional support We provide on-site support for ongoing staffing operations or

during large scale hiring initiatives

Multi-channel sourcing strategy development and execution We develop and execute multi-channel

sourcing strategy that allows our clients to expand their candidate pooi and control costs multi-

channel sourcing strategy may include leveraging direct recruitment Internet mining traditional

advertising Internet job postings career centers internal candidate review and career/job fairs

Employee referral program administration We establish and administer our clients employee referral

program including promoting the program among employees creating incentive strategies that further

our clients goals recording referrals and administering payments

Direct sourcing We maintain off-site teams of recruiting professionals at our offices in Wayne

Pennsylvania and Vizag India These professionals support major hiring initiatives for our clients and

handle recruiting projects on an ongoing basis We believe that our investment in technology and

productivity tools offers our clients efficiency and reduced costs over other available sourcing options

Program Outsourcing We help our clients to develop effective cost-efficient strategies to conduct

large and small scale recruitment campaigns These strategies can be executed either by our clients

internal HR department or outsourced to team of our professionals or combination of both

Program Outsourcing programs can include evaluating the talent acquisition mission and business

objectives mapping recruitment processes and execution strategies engaging hiring management and

key stakeholders in defining deliverables creating detailed definition of qualified candidate for

each hiring manager executing candidate sourcing screening and assessment managing the candidate

interview selection hiring and communication process providing comprehensive weekly and monthly

reports which detail current progress against pre-established performance measures and metrics and

concluding the assignment with project summary and lessons learned to facilitate knowledge

transfer Executive candidate sourcing is the practice of identifying contacting and soliciting

individuals for the purpose
of screening and selecting for hire

Our RPO services are generally provided in concert with our talent acquisition and employee performance

management solutions and we have developed proprietary technology for large volume sourcing performed by

our sourcing center in Vizag India enabling us to provide these services in an efficient and scalable manner We

also provide our RPO services as separate service offering

Customer Support

We believe that superior customer support is critical to our clients Our customer support group assists our

clients by answering questions and troubleshooting our solutions Customer support is available 24 hours day

days week by telephone and Internet from member of our customer support team Members of our customer

support team receive comprehensive training and orientation to ensure that our clients receive high-quality

support and service Each of our clients is assigned single point of contact When an issue is reported to us our

customer support personnel follow clearly defined escalation process to ensure that mission-critical issues are

resolved to the satisfaction of the client During the year ended December 31 2008 we renewed more than 75%

of the aggregate value of multi-year subscriptions for our on-demand talent acquisition and performance

management solution contracts subject to renewal

We utilize our talent acquisition and employee performance management solutions to recruit and manage

our customer support personnel We believe that applying these solutions to our customer service department has

resulted in customer support group with superior skills competencies and aptitude for customer service As of
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December 31 2008 our customer support group consisted of 757 employees Our main customer support groups

reside in the following locations Massachusetts Texas Pennsylvania Nebraska England India and Poland

Technology Development and Operations

Technology

We believe that the current market desires integrated talent management solutions that deliver high degree

of business value by linking HR more directly to business outcomes This technology must be easy to use and

inexpensive to configure and integrate with the customer enterprise Kenexa solutions deliver this value by

meeting the diverse needs of key stakeholders Executives HR line managers and employees by supporting

enterprise processes and by integrating seamlessly with wide variety of internal and third party applications

and processes

Our integrated suite of talent management solutions is built using an Extended Enterprise Architecture

EEA which consists of open source components commercially available products and our own proprietary

tools This architecture has been built in manner that supports appropriate scaling to deliver high system

availability

Major components of this architecture include number of best-of-breed applications built and maintained

using various core technologies and tools Some applications have been developed internally by Kenexa while

others have been acquired over time Development plans for these applications vary based on market segment

and customer requirements Kenexa is pursuing two-tier architectural approach that seamlessly integrates

legacy and next generation solutions and includes the following tiers

Common Services Kenexa utilizes Service Oriented Architecture SOA to integrate its applications

to other applications vendors and customers These common services also include application

functionality that can be leveraged across multiple Kenexa applications enables extension of

best-of-breed capabilities and drives rapid code deployment across applications The benefit to Kenexa

customers is that it enables us to bridge current applications with future needs and better meet the

diverse needs of our customer base

Kenexa 2x This application represents the next generation of Kenexa development and is fully

integrated talent management application on unified data model security infrastructure and user

experience with universal talent record that enables organizations to aggregate all talent data across

the enterprise Kenexa 2x has been architected to use Common Services for various functions and to

integrate with Kenexa Brassring category applications

This tiered architecture enables Kenexa to meet the needs of the current customer base while developing and

deploying future capabilities with little to no customer impact and thus delivers high degree of customer care

Our software is designed to support easy-to-use features such as dynamic workilows job templates and user

configuration that enable clients to adapt the application for their specific requirements Dynamic workflows are

designs that facilitate business
processes whereby one step in the process cannot be completed until all prior

steps have been completed

We provide our clients with two options to use our solutions Most of our clients use our solutions on an

on-demand basis with only limited number of our clients implementing our solutions on-site

Development

Innovation is an important part of our business We believe that three primary factors drive our innovation

our employees our domain experts and our clients We have formalized system to cultivate participation from

all of our employees in research and development We also leverage the experience of our research scholars and
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domain experts who produce white papers case studies and thought pieces which form the foundation for our

innovation Our research and development team maintains repository of ideas and selected ideas are presented

to the market validation team Market validated ideas progress to the prototype stage The executive team

reviews prototypes and selects those with the highest potential which then enter the product development phase

In addition to our employees and domain experts some of the key ideas are generated from client feedback

gathered during user group meetings client symposiums and advisory councils

We follow development methodology that we believe allows us to develop projects quickly and then

proceed on predictable low risk path for high-quality results We conduct our product development through our

global development teams Kenexa is in the process
of transitioning from being an ISO 90012000 certified

organization to Capability Maturity Model Integration CMMI certified organization We intend to seek

CMMI certification in the coming years

Operations

Our data center in Sterling Virginia serves as the primary hosting facility for our on-demand solutions We

also have data centers in Massachusetts Pennsylvania Nebraska England beland and India We seek to adhere to

industry standards and best practices in our global operations Our goal is to deliver world-class hosted solutions

that are highly available scalable and reliable across our suite of HCM solutions We believe that we offer

best-in-industry security to our customers by partnering with CyberTrust to achieve Security Perimeter Certification

and Application Certification We seek to deliver quality service with service level guarantees to clients

Our Hosting Operations and Security teams include multiple Certified Information Systems Security

Professionals or CISSPs with training in the latest security and availability threats Our data centers are

continuously and proactively monitored by comprehensive set of tools and personnel 24 hours day days

week Our hosted data center has built-in power redundancy from multiple power grids with uninterrupted power

supplies backed up by N1 diesel generators designed to provide uninterrupted service to our clients The hosted

infrastructure is designed with focus on quality reliability scalability and security

Clients

As of December 31 2008 we had client base of approximately 4400 companies over number of

industries including financial services and banking manufacturing life sciences biotechnology and

pharmaceuticals retail healthcare hospitality call centers and education including 180 companies on the

Fortune 500 list published in April 2008 Our client base includes companies that we billed for services during

the year ended December 31 2008 and does not necessarily indicate an ongoing relationship with each such

client For the year ended December 31 2008 we provided our talent acquisition and employee performance

management solutions on subscription basis to approximately 4129 clients with an average subscription term

of two years Other than small number of perpetual license sales the remainder of our clients in 2008 engaged

us to provide discrete professional services and may not engage us for future services once project is

completed No single client accounted for more than 10% of our revenue in the year ended December 31 2008

Sales and Marketing

Our target clients are large- and medium-sized organizations with complex talent acquisition and employee

performance management needs We sell our solutions to both new and existing clients primarily through our

direct sales force which is comprised of inside sales telesales and field sales personnel As of December 31

2008 we had 225 sales and marketing representatives Our marketing strategy focuses on generating qualified

sales leads and building our brand Among various locations we generate sales leads through combination of

the marketing efforts described below We have 19 sales offices eight of which are located in the United States

in California Colorado Massachusetts Minnesota Nebraska Pennsylvania and Texas Some of our other sales

offices are located in Australia Canada China England Germany Hong Kong India The Netherlands and

United Arab Emirates
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We believe that our client relationships provide us with meaningful opportunity to cross-sell additional

solutions to our existing clients and to achieve greater penetration within the organization We have established

program intended to increase cross-selling into our largest clients and we expect to continue to create innovative

programs designed to incent our employees and maximize the value from each of our clients

Our marketing initiatives are generally targeted toward specific vertical industries or specific solutions Our

marketing programs primarily consist of

participation in and sponsorship of conferences trade shows and industry events

direct mail and email campaigns

advertising in trade magazines

distribution of white papers case studies and thought leadership documents and

using our website to provide product and company information

We have focused our public relations efforts on building our brand

Intellectual Property

Our intellectual property rights are important to our business We rely on combination of patents

copyright trade secret trademark and other common laws in the United States and other jurisdictions as well as

confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our proprietary technology processes and other

intellectual property

Although we rely on patents copyright trade secret and trademark law written agreements and common

law we believe that the following factors are more essential to establishing and maintaining competitive

advantage

the technological skills of our research and development personnel

the domain expertise of our consultants and outsourcing service professionals

frequent enhancements to our solutions

continued expansion of our proprietary content and

high levels of customer service

Others may develop products that are similar to our technology We generally enter into confidentiality and

other written agreements with our employees and partners and through these and other written agreements we

attempt to control access to and distribution of our software documentation and other proprietary technology and

other information However despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights third parties may in an

unauthorized manner attempt to use copy or otherwise obtain and market or distribute our intellectual property

rights or technology or otherwise develop product with the same functionality as our software Policing

unauthorized use of our software and intellectual property rights is difficult and nearly impossible on

worldwide basis Therefore we cannot be certain that the steps we have taken or will take in the future will

prevent misappropriation of our technology or intellectual property rights particularly in foreign countries where

we do business or where our software is sold or used where the laws may not protect proprietary rights as fully

as do the laws of the United States or where enforcement of such laws is not common or effective

Substantial litigation regarding intellectual property rights exists in the software industry From time to

time in the ordinary course of our business we are subject to claims relating to our intellectual property rights or

those of others and we expect that third parties may commence legal proceedings or otherwise assert intellectual

property claims against us in the future particularly as we expand the complexity and scope of our business the

number of similarproducts increases and the functionality of these products further overlap We cannot be
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certain that no third party intellectual property rights that exist could result in claim against us in the future

These actual and potential claims and any resulting litigation could subject us to significant liability for damages

In addition even if we prevail litigation could be time consuming and expensive to defend and could affect our

business materially and adversely Any claims or litigation from third parties may also limit our ability to use

various business processes software and hardware other systems technologies or intellectual property subject to

these claims or litigation unless we enter into license agreements with the third parties However these

agreements may be unavailable on commercially reasonable terms or not available at all

Competition

We have experienced and expect to continue to experience intense competition from number of

companies We compete with niche point solution vendors such as Authoria Inc iCIMS Inc Integrated

Performance Systems Inc PeopleClick Inc Kronos Pilat HR Solutions Inc Previsor Inc SHL Group plc

SuccessFactors Inc and Taleo Corporation that offer products that compete with one or more applications in

our suite of solutions In some aspects of our business we also compete with established vendors of enterprise

resource planning software with much greater resources such as Oracle Corporation PeopleSoft SAP AG and

Lawson Inc To lesser extent we compete with vendors of recruitment process outsourcing services and survey

services such as Accolo Inc The Gallup Organization The Right Thing and Recruitment Enhancement

Services

We believe the principal competitive factors in our industry include

solution breadth and functionality

ease of deployment integration and configuration

domain expertise

industry-specific expertise

service support including consulting services and outsourcing services

solution price

breadth of sales infrastructure and

breadth of customer support

We believe that we generally compete favorably with respect to these factors

We may face future competition in the talent acquisition and employee performance management market

from large established companies such as Oracle and SAP as well as from emerging companies Barriers to

entry into our industry are relatively low new software products are frequently introduced and existing products

are continually enhanced In addition we expect that there is likely to be consolidation in our industry which

would lead to increased price competition and other forms of competition Established companies not only may

develop their own competitive products but may also acquire or establish cooperative relationships with current

or future competitors including cooperative relationships between both larger established and smaller public and

private companies

In addition our ability to sell our solutions will depend in part on the compatibility of our software with

software provided by our competitors Our competitors could alter their products so that they will no longer be

compatible with our software or they could deny or delay access by us to advance software releases which would

limit our ability to adapt our software to these new releases If our competitors were to bundle their products in

this manner or make their products non-compatible with ours our ability to sell our solutions might be harmed

and could reduce our gross margins and operating income
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Employees

As of December 31 2008 we had 1535 employees consisting of 225 employees in sales and marketing

411 employees in development 757 employees in delivery of our solutions and 142 employees in general and

administrative positions None of our employees are represented by union We consider our relationship with

our employees to be good and have not experienced any interruptions of our operations as result of labor

disagreements

Securities and Exchange Commission Filings

Our Securities and Exchange Commission filings are available free of charge on our website

www.kenexa.com Our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form

8-K and amendments to those reports are posted on our website as soon as practicable after we furnish such

materials to the SEC

ITEM 1A.Risk Factors

We operate in market environment that involves signfi cant risks many of which are beyond our control

The following risk factors may adversely impact our results of operations cash flows and the market price of our

common stock Although we believe that we have identified and discussed below the key risk factors affecting our

business there may be additional risks and uncertainties that are not presently known or that are not currently

believed to be significant that may adversely affect our performance or financial condition

Our business will suffer if our existing clients terminate or do not renew their software subscriptions

We expect to continue to derive significant portion of our revenue from renewals of subscriptions for our

talent acquisition and employee performance management solutions During the year ended December 31 2008

our clients renewed more than 75% of the aggregate value of multi-year subscriptions for our on-demand talent

acquisition and performance management solution contracts subject to renewal rate which is significantly

lower than the approximately 90% rate at which our customers have historically renewed their subscriptions with

us If our clients terminate their agreements fall to renew their agreements renew their agreements upon less

favorable terms to us defer existing agreements or fail to purchase new solutions from us our revenue may
decline or our future revenue growth may be constrained

Maintaining the renewal rate of our existing subscriptions is critical to our future success Factors that may
affect the renewal rate for our solutions include

the price performance and functionality of our solutions

the availability price performance and functionality of competing products and services

the effectiveness of our support services

our ability to develop complementary products and services

the willingness of our clients to continue to invest their resources in our solutions in light of other

demands on those resources

the macroeconomic environment

Most of our existing clients have entered into subscription agreements with us that expire between one and

three years from the initial contract date Our clients have the right to terminate their contracts under certain

circumstances and are not obligated to renew their subscriptions for our solutions after the expiration of the

initial terms of their subscription agreements In addition our clients may negotiate terms which are less

favorable to us upon renewal or may request that we license our software to them on perpetual basis which

may reduce recurring revenue from these clients Our future success also depends in part on our ability to sell

new solutions to our existing clients
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If the unemployment rate increases materially our business may be harmed

Demand for our solutions depends in part on our clients ability to hire and retain their employees

According to the U.S Bureau of Labor Statistics the U.S unemployment rate in February 2009 was 8.1% It is

expected that unemployment will not decrease and may continue to increase throughout 2009 and beyond as

result of the current general downturn in macroeconomic conditions in the U.S and globally If the

unemployment rate continues to increase or does not materially decrease our existing and potential new clients

may no longer consider improvement of their talent acquisition and employee performance management systems

to be necessity and may have less of need to hire and retain employees which could have material adverse

effect on our business results of operations and financial condition

Reductions in information technology spending could limit our ability to grow our business

Our operating results may vary based on changes in the information technology spending of our clients The

revenue growth and profitability of our business depend on the overall demand for enterprise application

software and services We sell our solutions primarily to large organizations whose businesses fluctuate with

general economic and business conditions As result decreased demand for enterprise application software and

services and in particular talent acquisition and employee performance management solutions caused by

weakening global economy may cause decline in our revenue Historically economic downturns have resulted

in overall reductions in corporate information technology spending In particular software for talent acquisition

and employee performance management software may be viewed by some of our existing and potential clients as

lower priority and may be among the first expenditures reduced as result of unfavorable economic conditions

As result potential clients may decide to reduce their information technology budgets by deferring or

reconsidering product purchases which would negatively impact our operating results

Because we recognize revenue from the sale of our solutions ratably over the term of the subscription period

significant downturn in our business may not be immediately reflected in our operating results

decline in new or renewed subscriptions in any one quarter may not impact our financial performance in

that quarter but will negatively affect our revenue in future quarters If number of contracts expire and are not

renewed in the same quarter our revenue could decline significantly in that quarter and in subsequent quarters

For the
years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 we derived approximately 80.2% 81.7% and

80.7% respectively of our total revenue from the sale of subscriptions for our solutions and expect that

significant portion of our revenue for the foreseeable future will be derived from those subscriptions We

recognize the associated revenue ratably over the term of the subscription agreement which is typically between

one and three years As result significant portion of the revenue that we report in each quarter reflects the

recognition of deferred revenue from subscription agreements entered into during previous periods Accordingly

the effect of significant declines in sales and market acceptance of our solutions may not be reflected in our

short-term results of operations making our results less indicative of our future prospects

Historically our clients have renewed approximately 90% of the aggregate value of multi-year subscriptions

for our on-demand talent acquisition and performance management solution contracts subject to renewal

However our renewal rate during the year
ended December 31 2008 dropped to approximately 75% If the

current economic downturn continues we cannot assure you that our renewal rate will return to its historical

levels or that it will not continue to decrease

If our revenue does not meet our expectations we may not be able to curtail our spending quickly enough

and our cost of revenue compensation and benefits and product development would increase as percentage of

revenue Our subscription model also makes it difficult for us to rapidly increase our revenue through additional

sales in any one period as revenue from new clients is recognized over the applicable subscription term
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Our revenue is highly susceptible to changes in general economic conditions and recession or other

downturn in the U.S economy or in any geographic market in which we provide services could substantially

impact sales of our services and overall results of operations

Our operating results may vary based on changes in the information technology spending of our clients The

revenue growth and profitability of our business depend on the overall demand for enterprise application

software and services We sell our solutions primarily to large organizations whose businesses fluctuate with

general economic and business conditions Our clients may reevaluate their expenditures on enterprise

application software and services and in particular talent acquisition and employee performance management

solutions especially given the recent financial crisis in todays economic environment which could cause them

to cancel all or any portion of our services or delay the payment of their bills for services previously performed

by us As result in the event of prolonged recession or even less severe downturn in general economic

conditions our results of operations could be negatively impacted as result of decreased demand for enterprise

application software and services and in particular talent acquisition and employee performance management

solutions and the impact could be more pronounced for us than for those businesses that deliver products or

services that customers deem to be higher in priority In particular software for talent acquisition and employee

performance management software may be viewed by some of our existing and potential clients as lower

priority and may be among the first expenditures reduced as result of unfavorable economic conditions As

result potential clients may decide to reduce their information technology budgets by deferring or reconsidering

product purchases which would negatively impact our operating results In addition volatility and disruption of

financial markets could limit our clients ability to obtain adequate financing or credit to purchase and pay for

our services in timely manner or to maintain operations and result in decrease in demand for our services

that could have negative impact on our overall results of operations

Our financial performance may be difficult to forecast as result of our focus on large clients and the long

sales cycle associated with our solutions

Our sales cycles are generally up to nine months and in some cases even longer This long sales cycle impedes

our ability to accurately forecast the timing of sales in given period which could adversely affect our ability to

meet our forecasts for that period We focus our sales efforts principally on large organizations with complex talent

acquisition and employee performance management requirements Accordingly in any single quarter the majority

of our revenue from sales to new clients may be composed of large sales made to relatively small number of

clients Our failure to close sale in
any particular quarter may impede revenue growth until the sale closes if at all

As result substantial time and cost may be spent attempting to close sale that may not be successful The period

between an initial sales contact and contract signing is relatively long due to several factors including

the need to educate potential clients about the uses and benefits of our solutions and the ondemand

delivery model

the discretionary nature of our clients purchase and budget cycles

the competitive evaluation of our solutions

fluctuations in the talent acquisition and employee performance management requirements of our

prospective clients

potential economic downturns and reductions in corporate IT spending

announcements or planned introductions of new products or services by us or our competitors and

the lengthy purchasing approval processes of our prospective clients
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If our efforts to attract new clients or to sell additional solutions to our existing clients are not successful our

revenue growth will be adversely affected

To increase our revenue we must continually add new clients and sell additional solutions to existing

clients If our existing and prospective clients do not perceive our solutions to be of sufficiently high value and

quality we may not be able to attract new clients or to increase sales to existing clients Our ability to attract new

clients and to sell new solutions to existing clients will depend in large part on the success of our sales and

marketing efforts However our existing and prospective clients may not be familiar with some of our solutions

or may have traditionally used other products and services for some of their talent acquisition and employee

performance management requirements Our existing and prospective clients may develop their own solutions to

address their talent acquisition and employee performance management requirements purchase competitive

product offerings or engage third-party providers of outsourced talent acquisition and employee performance

management services Additionally some clients may require that we license our software to them on perpetual

basis or that we allow them the contractual right to convert from term license to perpetual license during the

contract term which may reduce recurring revenue from these clients

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate sign ficantly and these fluctuations may cause our stock price

to fall

As result of fluctuations in our revenue and operating expenses our quarterly operating results may vary

significantly We may not be able to curtail our spending quickly enough if our revenue falls short of our

expectations We expect that our operating expenses will increase substantially in the future as we expand our

selling and marketing activities increase our new product development efforts and hire additional personnel Our

operating results may fluctuate in the future as result of the factors described below

our ability to renew and increase subscriptions sold to existing clients attract new clients cross-sell our

solutions and satisfy our clients requirements

changes in our pricing policies

the introduction of new features to our solutions

the rate of expansion and effectiveness of our sales force

the length of the sales cycle for our solutions

new product and service introductions by our competitors

concentration of marketing expenses
for activities such as trade shows and advertising campaigns

concentration of research and development costs and

concentration of expenses associated with commissions earned on sales of subscriptions for our

solutions

We believe that period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations are not necessarily meaningful as

our future revenue and results of operations may vary substantially It is also possible that in future quarters our

results of operations will be below the expectations of securities market analysts and investors In either case the

price of our common stock could decline possibly materially

Our business may not continue to grow if the markets for our products do not continue to grow

Our growth is dependent upon the continued adoption of on-demand software as key mechanism for

delivering solutions in these markets The rapidly evolving nature of this market reduces our ability to accurately

evaluate our future prospects and forecast quarterly or annual performance The adoption of on-demand talent

acquisition and employee performance management solutions particularly among organizations that have relied

upon traditional software applications requires the acceptance of new way of conducting business and

exchanging and compiling information Because these markets are new and evolving it is difficult to predict with

any assurance the future growth rate and size of these markets which in comparison with the overall market for

enterprise software applications is relatively small
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Any additional impairment in the value of our goodwill will result in an accounting charge against our

earnings which could negatively impact our stock price

During the fourth quarter of 2008 we recorded goodwill impairment charge of $167.0 million As of

December 31 2008 we had $32.4 million of goodwill representing approximately 15% of our total assets as of

such date In accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles we conduct an impairment analysis

of our goodwill annually and at such other times when an event or change in circumstances occurs which would

indicate potential impairment If we determine significant impairment of our goodwill as result of any of those

tests we would be required to record corresponding non-cash impairment charge against our earnings that

could negatively affect our stock price

Our credit facility contains certain financial and negative covenants the breach of which may adversely affect

our financial condition

As result of the $167.0 million goodwill impairment charge that we recorded for 2008 we are no longer in

compliance with certain financial covenants under our existing credit facility We are currently evaluating the

cost of waiver agreement and are considering renegotiating the credit facility for an additional term If we are

unable to negotiate satisfactory agreement for the credit facility waiver our lender may elect to terminate our

credit facility We cannot assure you that in the event our current credit facility is terminated we would be able

to negotiate new credit facility with terms no less favorable to us that our current credit facility or that we even

would be able to enter into new credit facility on less favorable terms

If our on-demand delivery model is not widely accepted our operating results will be harmed

The on-demand delivery of enterprise software is new and to large extent unproven and it is uncertain

whether this model will achieve and sustain high levels of demand and market acceptance The majority of our

clients access and use our software solutions on an on-demand basis If the preferences of our clients change and

our clients elect to deploy our software on-site either upon the initiation of new agreement or upon the renewal

of an existing agreement we would potentially incur higher costs and encounter greater complexity in providing

maintenance and support for our software Potential clients may be reluctant or unwilling to purchase enterprise

software on-demand for number of reasons including security and data privacy concerns If such organizations

do not adopt the on-demand delivery model then the market for our solutions may develop more slowly than we

expect The inability of our on-demand delivery model to achieve widespread market acceptance would harm our

business

If we fail to develop or acquire new products or enhance our existing solutions to meet the needs of our

existing and future clients our revenue may decline

To remain competitive we must continually improve and enhance the responsiveness functionality and

features of our existing solutions and develop new solutions that address the talent acquisition and employee

performance management requirements of organizations If we are unable to successfully develop or acquire new

solutions or enhance our existing solutions our revenue may decline and our business and operating results will

be adversely affected Since our initial public offering we have introduced enhanced solutions We intend to

continue to introduce enhanced solutions to generate additional revenue attract new clients and respond to

competition We may not succeed in developing or introducing new or enhanced solutions or developing or

introducing them in timely manner and new or enhanced solutions that we develop or introduce may not

achieve the market acceptance necessary to generate significant revenue

In addition it is possible that evolving technology may enable new deployment mechanisms that make our

on-demand business model obsolete To the extent that we are not successful in continuing to develop our

solutions in correlation with evolving technology we may not be successful in establishing or maintaining our

client relationships
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We may engage in future acquisitions or investments which present many risks and we may not realize the

anticipated financial and strategic goals for any of these transactions

We have focused on developing solutions for the enterprise talent acquisition and employee performance

management market Our market is highly fragmented and in the future we may acquire or make investments in

complementary companies products services or technologies Acquisitions and investments involve number of

difficulties that present risks to our business including the following

we may be unable to achieve the anticipated benefits from the acquisition or investment

we may have difficulty integrating the operations and personnel of the acquired business and may have

difficulty retaining the key personnel of the acquired business

we may have difficulty incorporating the acquired technologies or products with our existing solutions

our ongoing business and managements attention may be disrupted or diverted by transition or

integration issues and the complexity of managing geographically and culturally diverse locations

we may lose customers of those companies that we acquire for reasons such as particular customer

desiring to have multiple service vendors

we may have difficulty maintaining uniform standards controls procedures and policies across

locations and

we may experience significant problems or liabilities associated with product quality technology and

legal contingencies

The factors noted above could have material adverse effect on our business results of operations and

financial condition or cash flows particularly in the case of larger acquisition or multiple acquisitions in short

period of time From time to time we may enter into negotiations for acquisitions or investments that are not

ultimately consummated These negotiations could result in significant diversion of management time as well as

out-of-pocket costs

The consideration paid for an investment or acquisition may also affect our financial results If we were to

proceed with one or more significant acquisitions in which the consideration included cash we could be required

to use substantial portion of our available cash or obtain debt or equity financing To the extent that we issue

shares of our capital stock or other rights to purchase shares of our capital stock as consideration for an

acquisition or in connection with the financing of an acquisition including options or other rights our existing

shareholders may be diluted and our earnings per share may decrease In addition acquisitions may result in the

incurrence of debt large one-time write-offs including write-offs of acquired in-process research and

development costs and restructuring charges Acquisitions in the future may require us to incur additional

indebtedness to finance our working capital and may also result in goodwill and other intangible assets that are

subject to impairment tests which could result in future impairment charges

If we are unable to compete effectively with companies offering enterprise talent acquisition and employee

performance management solutions our revenue may decline

We may not have the resources or expertise to compete successfully in the future If we are unable to

successfully compete we could lose existing clients fail to attract new clients and our revenue would decline

The talent acquisition and employee performance management solutions markets are rapidly evolving and highly

competitive and we expect competition in these markets to persist and intensify Barriers to entry into our

industry are low new software products are frequently introduced and existing products are continually

enhanced We compete with niche point solution vendors such as Authoria Inc iCIMS Inc Integrated

Performance Systems Inc Kronos Incorporated PeopleClick Inc Pilat HR Solutions Inc Previsor Inc SHL

Group plc SuccessFactors Inc and Taleo Corporation that offer products that compete with one or more

applications contained in our solutions In some aspects of our business we also compete with established

vendors of enterprise resource planning or ERP software with much greater resources such as Oracle
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Corporation PeopleSoft SAP AG and Lawson Inc To lesser extent we compete with vendors of recruitment

process outsourcing services and survey services such as Accolo Inc The Gallup Organization The Right

Thing and Recruitment Enhancement Services In addition many organizations have developed or may develop

internal solutions to address enterprise talent acquisition and employee performance management requirements

that may be competitive with our solutions

Some of our competitors and potential competitors especially vendors of ERP software have significantly

greater financial support technical development marketing sales service and other resources larger installed

client bases longer operating histories greater name recognition and more established relationships than we

have In addition ERP software competitors could bundle their products with or incorporate capabilities in

addition to talent acquisition and employee performance management functions such as automated payroll and

benefits in products developed by themselves or others Products with such additional functions may be

appealing to some clients because they would reduce the number of different types of software or applications

used to run their businesses Our niche competitors products may be more effective than our solutions at

performing particular talent acquisition and employee performance management functions or may be more

customized for particular client needs in given market Further our competitors may be able to respond more

quickly than we can to changes in client requirements or regulatory changes

Mergers or other strategic transactions involving our competitors could weaken our competitive position or

reduce our revenue

We believe that our industry is highly fragmented and that there is likely to be consolidation which could

lead to increased price competition and other forms of competition Increased competition may cause pricing

pressure and loss of market share either of which could have material adverse effect on our business results of

operations and financial condition Our competitors may establish or strengthen cooperative relationships with

business process outsourcing vendors systems integrators third-party consulting firms or other parties

Established companies may not only develop their own products but may also merge with or acquire our current

competitors In addition we may face competition in the future from large established companies as well as

from emerging companies that have not previously entered the markets for talent acquisition and employee

performance management solutions or that currently do not have products that directly compete with our

solutions It is also possible that new competitors or alliances among competitors may emerge and rapidly

acquire significant market share or sell their products at significantly discounted prices causing pricing pressure

In addition our competitors may announce new products services or enhancements that better meet the price or

performance needs of clients or changing industry standards If any of these events occur our revenues and

profitability could significantly decline

If we encounter barriers to the integration of our software or services with software provided by our

competitors or with the software used by our clients our revenue may decline and our research and

development expenses may increase

In some cases our software or services may need to be integrated with software provided by our competitors

These competitors could alter their products in ways that inhibit integration with our software or they could deny or

delay access by us to such software releases which would restrict our ability to provide our services or adapt our

software to facilitate integration with this software and could result in lost sales opportunities In addition our

software is designed to be compatible with the most common third-party ERP systems If the design of these ERP

systems changes integration of our software with new systems would require significant work and substantial

allocation of our time and resources and increase our research and development expenses
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Interruptions or delays in service from our Web hosting facilities could impair the delivery of our service and

harm our business

We provide our service through computer hardware and software that is currently located in Web hosting

facility from Qwest in Sterling VA that we manage All Web hosting facilities are vulnerable to damage or

interruption from earthquakes floods fires power loss telecommunications failures and similarevents These

facilities are also subject to break-ins sabotage intentional acts of terrorism vandalism and similar misconduct

Despite precautions that we take at these facilities the occurrence of natural disaster act of terrorism or other

unanticipated problem at any of these facilities could result in lengthy interruptions in our service Interruptions

in our service may reduce our revenue cause us to issue credits or pay penalties cause customers to terminate

their subscriptions and adversely affect our renewal rates Our business will be harmed if our customers and

potential customers believe our service is unreliable or if our Disaster Recovery Plan DRP fails to provide

adequate disaster recovery capabilities

If our security measures are breached and unauthorized access is obtained to client data clients may curtail

or stop their use of our solutions which would harm our business operating results and financial condition

Our solutions involve the storage and transmission of confidential information of clients and their existing

and potential employees and security breaches could expose us to risk of loss of or unauthorized access to this

information resulting in possible litigation and possible liability Although we have never sustained such

breach if our security measures were ever breached as result of third-party action employee error malfeasance

or otherwise and as result an unauthorized party obtained access to this confidential data our reputation could

be damaged our business may suffer and we could incur significant liability Techniques used to obtain

unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not discovered until launched

against target As result we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate

preventative measures If an actual or perceived breach of our security occurs the market perception of our

security measures could be harmed and we could lose sales and clients

Because our products collect and analyze applicants and employees stored personal information concerns that

our products do not adequately protect the privacy of applicants and employees could inhibit sales of our products

Some of the features of our talent acquisition and employee performance management applications depend

on the ability to develop and maintain profiles of applicants and employees for use by our clients These profiles

contain personal information including job experience home address and home telephone number Typically

our software applications capture this personal information when an applicant creates profile to apply for job

and an employee completes performance review Our software applications augment these profiles over time by

capturing additional data and collecting usage
data Although our applications are designed to protect user

privacy privacy concerns nevertheless may cause employees and applicants to resist providing the personal data

necessary to support our products Any inability to adequately address privacy concerns could inhibit sales of our

products and seriously harm our business financial condition and operating results

We may increase our sales and marketing efforts to clients outside the United States which would expose us to

additional risks associated with international operations including the risks of managing geographically

diverse operation and foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations

As part of our future business strategy we intend to increase our international sales efforts in Canada

Europe and Asia We currently maintain international sales offices in Australia Canada China England

Germany India Japan Singapore and Switzerland We may not be successful in these efforts International

operations and sales subject us to risks and challenges that we would otherwise not face if we conducted our

business only in the United States For example we will depend on third parties to market our solutions through

foreign sales channels and we may be challenged by laws and business practices favoring local competitors In

addition our ability to succeed in foreign markets will depend on the ability of our software to properly filter

foreign languages We must also adopt our pricing structure to address different pricing environments and may

face difficulty in enforcing revenue collection internationally
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In addition portion of our international sales are denominated in foreign currencies and we incur

majority of our international operating expenses
in Indian rupees British pounds EUROs and Canadian dollars

We expect our exposure to foreign exchange gains and losses to increase in the future

Material defects or errors in our software could affect our reputation result in significant costs to us and

impair our ability to sell our solutions which would harm our business

The software applications forming part of our solutions may contain material defects or errors which could

materially and adversely affect our reputation result in significant costs to us and impair our ability to sell our

solutions in the future The costs incurred in correcting any material product defects or errors may be substantial

and would adversely affect our operating results After the release of our products defects or errors may also be

identified from time to time by our internal team and by our clients Such defects or errors may occur in the

future Any defects that cause interruptions to the availability of our solutions could result in

lost or delayed market acceptance and sales of our solutions

loss of clients

product liability suits against us

diversion of development resources

injury to our reputation and

increased maintenance and warranty costs

If we fail to adequately protect our proprietary rights our competitive advantage could be impaired and we

may lose valuable assets experience reduced revenue and incur costly litigation to protect our rights

Our intellectual property rights are important to our business and our success is dependent in part on

protecting our proprietary software and technology and our brand marks and domain names We rely on

combination of copyright trademark trade secret and other common laws in the United States and other

jurisdictions as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our proprietary

technology processes and other intellectual property It may be possible for unauthorized third parties to copy

our software and use information that we regard as proprietary to create products and services that compete with

ours which could harm our competitive position and cause our revenue to decline

We have three issued patents and additionally we have four pending patent applications There is no

guarantee that the U.S Patent and Trademark Office will grant these patents or do so in manner that gives us

the protection that we seek We will not be able to protect our intellectual property if we are unable to enforce

our rights or if we do not detect unauthorized use of our intellectual property Existing intellectual property laws

only afford limited protection

To the extent that we expand our international activities our exposure to unauthorized copying and use of

our software and proprietary information may increase Some license provisions protecting against unauthorized

use copying transfer and disclosure of our licensed products may be unenforceable under the laws of certain

jurisdictions and foreign countries in which we operate Further the laws of some countries and in particular

India where we develop much of our intellectual property do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent as

the laws of the United States For example companies seeking to enforce proprietary rights in India can

experience substantial delays in prosecuting trademarks and in opposition proceedings In the event that we are

unable to protect our intellectual property rights especially those rights that we develop in India our business

would be materially and adversely affected

Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights and to protect our trade

secrets Litigation whether successful or unsuccessful could result in substantial costs and diversion of

management resources either of which could seriously harm our business
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Our results of operations may be adversely affected if we are subject to protracted infringement claim or

claim that results in significant damage award

We expect that software product developers such as ourselves will increasingly be subjected to

infringement claims as the number of products and competitors grows and the functionality of products in

different industry segments overlaps Our competitors or other third parties may challenge the validity or scope

of our intellectual property rights claim may also be made relating to technology that we acquire or license

from third parties If we were subject to claim of infringement regardless of the merit of the claim or our

defenses the claim could

require costly litigation to defend and resolve and the payment of substantial damages

require significant management time and attention

cause us to enter into unfavorable royalty or license agreements

require us to discontinue the sale of our solutions

create negative publicity that adversely affects the demand for our solutions

require us to indemnify our clients and/or

require us to expend additional development resources to redesign our software

Litigation could be costly for us to defend have negative effect on our operating results and financial

condition or require us to devote additional research and development resources to change our software

Changes in the regulatory envfronment and general economic condition in India and elsewhere could have

material adverse effect on our business

Adverse changes in the business or regulatory climate in India could have material adverse effect on our

business In addition wages in India are increasing at faster rate than in the United States In the event that

wages continue to rise the cost benefit of operating in India and elsewhere may diminish India has also

experienced significant inflation in the past and has been subject to civil unrest and terrorism There can be no

assurance that these and other factors will not have material adverse effect on our business results of

operations and financial condition

We employ technology licensed from third parties for use in or with our solutions and the loss or inability to

maintain these licenses on similar terms or errors in the software we license could result in increased costs or

reduced service levels which would adversely affect our business

We include in the distribution of our solutions certain technology obtained under licenses from other

companies We anticipate that we will continue to license technology and development tools from third parties in

the future There may not always be commercially reasonable software alternatives to the third-party software

that we currently license or any such alternatives may be more difficult or costly to replace than the third-party

software that we currently license In addition integration of our software with new third-party software may

require significant work and substantial allocation of our time and resources Also to the extent we depend upon

the successful operation of third-party products in conjunction with our software any undetected errors in these

third-party products could prevent the implementation or impair the functionality of our software delay new

solution introductions and injure our reputation Our use of additional or alternative third-party software would

require us to enter into license agreements with third parties which could result in higher costs
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If we do not retain our executive officers our ability to manage our business and continue our growth could

be negatively impacted

We have grown significantly in recent years and our management remains concentrated in small number

of executive officers most of whom have been employed with us for at least five years Our future success will

depend to significant extent on the continued service of these executive officers namely Nooruddin Karsan

Troy Kanter Donald Yolk Sarah Teten James Restivo and Archie Jones Jr as well as our other key

employees software engineers and senior technical and sales personnel We have not entered into employment

agreements with any of our employees The loss of the services of any of these individuals or group of

individuals could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of operations

Competition for qualified personnel in the software industry is intense and we compete for these personnel with

other software companies that have greater financial and other resources than we do If we lose the services of

one or more of our executive officers or other key personnel or if one or more of them decide to join

competitor or otherwise compete directly or indirectly with us our business could be harmed Searching for

replacements for key personnel could also divert managements time and attention and result in increased

operating expenses

We will not be able to maintain our revenue growth if we do not attract train or retain qualified sales

personnel

If we fail to successfully maintain and expand our sales force our future revenue and profitability will be

adversely affected We depend on our direct sales force for substantially all of our revenue and intend to make

significant expenditures in upcoming years to expand our sales force Our future success will depend in part upon

the continued expansion and increased productivity of our sales force To the extent that we experience attrition

in our direct sales force we will need to hire replacements We face intense competition for sales personnel in

the software industry and we may not be successful in hiring training or retaining our sales personnel in

accordance with our plans Even if we hire and train sufficient number of sales personnel we may not generate

enough additional revenue to exceed the expense of hiring and training the new personnel

Failure to implement the appropriate controls and procedures to manage our growth could harm our growth

business operating results and financial condition

We have and will continue to have periods of growth in our operations which has placed and will continue

to place significant strain on our management administrative operational technical and financial

infrastructure In 2004 we increased our employee base from 393 employees in 2003 to 522 employees during

2004 693 employees in 2005 1220 employees in 2006 1373 employees in 2007 and 1535 employees in 2008

The increase in 2006 was primarily due to the addition of 44 and 338 employees that we acquired as part of our

acquisition of Webhire and BrassRing respectively The increase in 2007 was primarily due to the addition of

134 and 25 employees that we acquired as part of our acquisition of Strategic Outsourcing Corporation and HRC

Human Resources Consulting GmbH respectively The increase in 2008 was primarily due to the addition of 135

employees that we acquired as part of our acquisition of Quorum International Holdings Limited Quorum
in April 2008 To manage our growth we will need to continue to improve our operational financial and

management processes and controls and reporting systems and procedures This effort may require us to make

significant capital expenditures or to incur significant expenses and may divert the attention of our personnel

from our core business operations any of which may adversely affect our financial performance If we fail to

successfully manage our growth our business operating results and financial condition may be adversely

affected

Evolving European Union regulations related to confidentiality of personal data may adversely affect our

business

In order to provide our solutions to our clients we rely in part on our ability to access our clients employee

data The European Union and other jurisdictions have adopted various data protection regulations related to the

confidentiality of personal data To date these regulations have not restricted our business as we have qualified

for safe harbor available for U.S companies that collect personal data from areas under the jurisdiction of the

European Union To the extent that these regulations are modified in such manner that our safe harbor no

longer applies our ability to conduct business in the European Union may be adversely affected
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Evolving regulation of the Internet may increase our expenditures related to compliance efforts which may

adversely affect our financial condition

As Internet commerce continues to evolve increasing regulation by federal state and/or foreign agencies

becomes more likely We are particularly sensitive to these risks because the Internet is critical component of

our business model For example we believe that increased regulation is likely in the area of data privacy and

laws and regulations applying to the solicitation collection processing or use of personal or consumer

information could affect our clients ability to use and share data potentially reducing demand for solutions

accessed via the Internet and restricting our ability to store process and share data with our clients via the

Internet In addition taxation of services provided over the Internet or other charges imposed by government

agencies or by private organizations for accessing the Internet may also be imposed Any regulation imposing

greater fees for Internet use or restricting information exchange over the Internet could result in decline in the

use of the Internet and the viability of Internet-based services which could harm our business

The failure of our solutions to comply with employment laws may require us to indemnify our clients which

may harm our business

Some of our client contracts contain indemnification provisions that require us to indemnify our clients

against claims of non-compliance with employment laws related to hiring To the extent these claims are

successful and exceed our insurance coverages these obligations would have negative impact on our cash flow

results of operation and financial condition

Our reported financial results may be adversely affected by changes in generally accepted accounting

principles

Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States are subject to interpretation by the Financial

Accounting Standards Board or FASB the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants the SEC and

various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles change in these

principles or interpretations could have significant effect on our historical or future financial results For

example prior to January 2006 we were not required to record share-based compensation charges if the

employees stock option exercise price was equal to or exceeded the deemed fair value of the underlying security

at the date of grant However effective January 2006 we are required to record the fair value of stock options

as an expense
in accordance with new accounting pronouncements

Anti -takeover provisions of Pennsylvania law and our articles of incorporation and bylaws could delay and

discourage takeover attempts that shareholders may consider to be favorable

Certain provisions of our articles of incorporation and applicable provisions of the Pennsylvania Business

Corporation Law may make it more difficult for third party to or prevent third party from acquiring control

of us or effecting change in our board of directors and management These provisions include

the classification of our board of directors into three classes with one class elected each year

prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors

the ability of our board of directors to issue preferred stock without shareholder approval

our shareholders may only take action at meeting of our shareholders and not by written consent

prohibiting shareholders from calling special meeting of our shareholders

our shareholders must comply with advance notice procedures in order to nominate candidates for

election to our board of directors or to place shareholders proposals on the agenda for consideration at

any meeting of our shareholders and

prohibiting us from engaging in some types of business combinations with holders of 20% or more of

our voting securities without prior approval of our board of directors unless majority of our

disinterested shareholders approve the transaction
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The Pennsylvania Business Corporation Law further provides that because our articles of incorporation

provide for classified board of directors shareholders may remove directors only for cause These and other

provisions of the Pennsylvania Business Corporation Law and our articles of incorporation and bylaws could

delay defer or prevent us from experiencing change of control or changes in our board of directors and

management and may adversely affect our shareholders voting and other rights Any delay or prevention of

change of control transaction or changes in our board of directors and management could deter potential

acquirors or prevent the completion of transaction in which our shareholders could receive substantial

premium over the then current market price for their shares of our common stock

Our board of directors has approved share repurchase program which may restrict our funds available for

other actions and negatively affect the market price of our securities

In November 2007 our board of directors authorized stock repurchase plan providing for the repurchase of

up to 2000000 shares of our common stock We completed the repurchase plan in January 2008 and

repurchased all 2000000 shares authorized by our board of directors at an average price per share of $17.61

In February 2008 our board of directors authorized stock repurchase plan providing for the repurchase of

up to 3000000 shares of our common stock As of December 31 2008 we repurchased 1125651 shares at an

average price per share of $18.12 and an aggregate cost of $20.4 million These shares were restored to original

status and accordingly are presented as authorized but not issued The timing price and volume of repurchases

were based on market conditions relevant securities laws and other factors As of December 31 2008 the

number of shares available for repurchase under the stock repurchase plan was 1874349

Share repurchases may not have the effects anticipated by our board of directors and may instead harm the

market price of our securities The full implementation of this repurchase plan would use significant portion of

our cash reserves and this use of cash could limit our future flexibility to complete acquisition transactions or

fund other growth opportunities In addition the share repurchases are subject to regulatory requirements We

may become subject to lawsuits regarding the use of our cash for share repurchases or for the failure to follow

applicable regulatory requirements in connection with our share repurchase program Our repurchase plan will

also likely result in an increase in the share percentage ownership of our existing shareholders and such increase

may trigger disclosure or other regulatory requirements for our larger shareholders As result certain

shareholders may liquidate portion of their holdings In addition our repurchase plan may decrease our public

float as shares are repurchased by us on the open market pursuant to the plan and may have negative effect on

our trading volume Such outcomes may have negative impact on the liquidity of our common stock the

market price of our common stock and could make it easier for others to acquire larger percentage of our voting

securities

The market price of our common stock has been and may continue to be particularly volatile and our

shareholders may be unable to resell their shares at profit

The market price of our common stock has been subject to significant fluctuations and may continue to

fluctuate or decline From January 2008 to December 31 2008 our common stock has been particularly

volatile as the price of our common stock has ranged from high of $24.01 to low of $4.68 In the past several

years technology stocks have experienced high levels of volatility and significant declines in value from their

historic highs Additionally as result of the current global credit crisis and the concurrent economic downturn

in the U.S and globally there have been significant declines in the values of equity securities generally in the

U.S and abroad Factors that could cause fluctuations in the trading price of our common stock include the

following

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time

significant volatility in the market price and trading volume of software companies in general and HR
software companies in particular

actual or anticipated changes in our earnings or fluctuations in our operating results
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general economic conditions and trends

major catastrophic events

the timing and magnitude of stock repurchases pursuant to our stock repurchase plan

sales of large blocks of our stock or

departures of key personnel

In the past following periods of volatility in the market price of companys securities securities class

action litigation has often been brought against that company If our stock price is volatile we may become the

target of securities litigation Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our managements

attention and resources from our business

Our investments in auction rate securities are subject to risks which may adversely affect our liquidity and

cause losses

At December 31 2008 we held $16.5 million of AA- and AAA-rated auction rate securities ARS the

underlying assets of which are generally student loans which are substantially backed by the U.S federal

government Auction rate securities are generally long-term instruments that are intended to provide liquidity

through Dutch auction process that resets the applicable interest rate at pre-determined calendar intervals

allowing holders of these instruments to rollover their holdings and continue to own their respective securities or

liquidate their holdings by selling the auction rate securities at par Beginning in February 2008 auctions failed

for our holdings because sell orders for these securities exceeded the amount of purchase orders The funds

associated with these failed auctions will not be accessible until the issuer calls the security successful auction

occurs buyer is found outside the auction process or the security matures Consequently because there is no

assurance we will be able to liquidate our positions in these securities within the next 12 months we have

reclassified all of our auction rate holdings to long-term investments on our consolidated balance sheet Until the

issuers of our auction rate securities are able to successfully close future auctions or if their credit ratings

deteriorate further we may in the future be required to record further charges on these investments and our

liquidity would be adversely affected to the extent that the cash we would otherwise receive upon liquidation of

the investments would not be available for use in the growth of our business and other strategic opportunities

Our ability to enforce the terms of our auction rate settlement with UBS is subject to UBSs continued viability

Recently UBS has experienced operational challenges including an executive management shakeup the

largest annual loss ever reported by Swiss company the elimination of 11000 jobs and the need for Swiss

government bailout All of these factors could add to the worsening financial viability of the bank and cause it to

cancel any settlement agreements involving the extension of credit to its customers If UBS were to terminate its

settlement agreement with its customers the Companys liquidity would adversely be affected

ITEM lB Unresolved Staff Comments

Not Applicable
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ITEM Properties

We lease our headquarters in Wayne Pennsylvania The table below provides information concerning our

principal facilities including the approximate square footage the approximate monthly rent and the lease

expiration date of each facility We believe that our facilities are in good operating condition and will adequately

serve our needs for at least the next 12 months We also anticipate that if required suitable additional or

alternative space will be available on commercially reasonable terms in office buildings we currently occupy or

in space nearby to accommodate expansion of our operations

Approximate

Square Monthly

Location Footage Rent Lease Expiration

Frisco Texas 26656 35886 January 31 2015

Hyderabad India 23668 15094 February 14 2011

Lincoln Nebraska 62787 76449 August 31 2010

London England 6844 15017 March 18 2011

Minneapolis Minnesota 15474 34402 February 29 2012

Vizag India 60000 Owned

Waltham Massachusetts 65546 $104437 April 29 2011

Wayne Pennsylvania 36635 94731 May 13 2013

On February 28 2008 our lease expired and we closed our facility in Lexington Massachusetts During

2007 the personnel at our Lexington facility were relocated to our Waltham Massachusetts facility In April

2008 our facility in Richardson Texas was closed and our resources were relocated to Frisco Texas

ITEM Legal Proceedings

We are involved in claims from time to time which arise in the ordinary course of business In the opinion

of management we have made adequate provision for potential liabilities if any arising from any such matters

However litigation is inherently unpredictable and the costs and other effects of pending or future litigation

governmental investigations legal and administrative cases and proceedings whether civil or criminal

settlements judgments and investigations claims and changes in any such matters and developments or

assertions by or against us relating to intellectual property rights and intellectual property licenses could have

material adverse effect on our business financial condition and operating results

ITEM Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

Not applicable
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PART II

ITEM Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters And Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Market Information and Dividends

Our common stock has been quoted on The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC under the symbol KNXA since

June 24 2005 Prior to that date there was no public market for our common stock The following table sets

forth for the periods indicated the high and low sales prices of our common stock reported by The Nasdaq Stock

Market LLC

Common Stock Price

High Low

Year Ended December 31 2007

First Quarter $39.33 $28.20

Second Quarter $39.24 $27.94

Third Quarter $42.44 $25.58

Fourth Quarter $34.50 $16.41

Year Ended December 31 2008

First Quarter $22.81 $16.07

Second Quarter $21.71 $17.41

Third Quarter $24.01 $14.77

Fourth Quarter $16.04 4.68

On March 11 2009 the last reported sale price of our common stock on The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC

was $4.17 per share As of March 11 2009 there were approximately 73 holders of record of our common stock

We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock since our inception We intend to

retain future earnings if any to finance the operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying

any cash dividends in the foreseeable future Consequently shareholders will need to sell shares of our common

stock to realize return on their investment if any
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STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH AND CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

The following graph shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the

Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 except to the extent we specifically incorporate it

by reference therein

Prior to June 28 2005 we were not publicly traded and there was no public market for our securities The

graph below compares the cumulative total return of our common stock with that of the NASDAQ Composite

Index the NASDAQ Computer Data Processing Index and the SP Smailcap 600 Index from June 28 2005

the date shares of our common stock began to trade publicly through December 31 2008 The graph assumes

that you invested $100 at the close of market on June 28 2005 in shares of our common stock and invested $100

on May 31 2005 the last day of the completed calendar month immediately preceding June 28 2005 in each of

these indexes and in each case assumes the reinvestment of dividends The comparisons in this graph are

provided in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission disclosure requirements and are not intended

to forecast or be indicative of the future performance of shares of our common stock
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Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information regarding our repurchase of our common stock during the fourth

quarter of 2008

Total Number of

Shares Purchased

as Part of Maximum Number of

Total Number of Weighted Publicly Shares that May Yet

Shares Average Price paid Announced Plans Be Purchased Under

Purchased Per Share or Programs the Plans or Programs

1943707

69358 $6.24 69358 1874349

1874349

18743491

Period

October 2008October 31 2008

November 2008November 30 2008

December 2008December 31 2008

Total

On February 20 2008 our board of directors authorized stock repurchase plan providing for the

repurchase of up to 3000000 shares of our common stock
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ITEM Selected Consolidated Financial Data

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below are derived from our consolidated financial

statements and should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes

appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K The consolidated

statements of operations data for each of the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 and the

consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31 2008 and 2007 are derived from and qualified by reference

to our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this filing The

consolidated statements of operations data for each of the years ended December 31 2005 and 2004 and the

consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31 2006 2005 and 2004 are derived from our audited

consolidated financial statements not included in this filing All of the historical consolidated financial data set

forth below gives retroactive effect to 0.8-for-i reverse stock split of our common stock on June 27 2005 Our

historical results are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period

For the Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

in thousands except share and per share data

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data

Revenues

Subscription 163420 148662 90470 50974 36348

Other 40312 33264 21637 14667 9952

Total revenues 203732 181926 112107 65641 46300

Cost of revenues 61593 50920 31712 18782 12230

Gross profit 142139 131006 80395 46859 34070

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing 40780 35324 25134 16133 13350

General and administrative 48884 39332 24520 15116 10243

Research and development 15555 17737 8618 3986 4271

Depreciation and amortization 12088 7584 3487 2112 2476

Restructuring charges 1979

Goodwillimpairmentcharge 167011

Total operating expenses 286297 99977 61759 37347 30340

Loss income from operations 144158 31029 18636 9512 3730

Interest income expense 1395 3098 1560 566 160

Interest on mandatory redeemable preferred shares 3396 8386

Loss income from operations before income tax 142763 34127 20196 6682 4816
Income tax benefit expense 38071 10579 4303 591 723

Net loss income 104692 23548 15893 6091 4093

Accretion of redeemable class common shares and class

common shares 41488 1019

Net loss income applicable to common shareholders 104692 23548 15893 35397 5112

Basic loss income per share

Net loss income per share applicable to common

shareholdersbasic 4.60 0.94 0.80 3.06 0.85

Weighted average shares used to compute net loss

income applicable to common

shareholdersbasic 22779694 24926468 19911775 11578885 5995389

Net loss income per share applicable to common

shareholdersdiluted 4.60 0.93 0.78 3.06 0.85

Weighted average shares used to compute net loss

income applicable to common

shareholdersdiluted 22779694 25327004 20425794 11578885 5995389
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

As of December 31

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term investments

Long-term investments

Total assets

Short term debt net

Capital leases short term

Deferred revenue

Series preferred stock

Series preferred stock

Capital leases long term

Term loan long term

Other long-term debt net

Redeemable class common stock

Redeemable class common stock

Class common stock

Treasury stock

Total shareholders equity deficiency

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

in thousands

21742 38032 42502 $43499 9494

4512 58423

16513

218465 347889 267459 73899 33288

20000

143 140 229 219 199

38638 35076 31251 12588 6650

41727

17178

108 94 145 185 277

45000

104 138 225 163 101

5291

4571

225 240 209 174 80

8772
156536 287648 147161 50742 49576

We adopted SFAS 150 effective July 2003 which required us to record the mandatory redeemable

preferred stock at fair value at the date of adoption and reflect the difference between carrying value and fair

value as cumulative effect of change in accounting principle Changes in fair value after the initial

adoption date are treated as interest expense Dividends on mandatory redeemable preferred stock are also

treated as interest expense The interest and change in accounting principle charges to net income were

discontinued with the redemption of our series preferred stock and series preferred stock in connection

with the completion of our initial public offering in June 2005
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ITEM Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in

conjunction with the Selected Consolidated Financial Data section and our consolidated financial statements

and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K In addition to historical

information this discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements based on current expectations that

involve risks uncertainties and assumptions such as our plans objectives expectations and intentions Our

actual results and the timing of events may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking

statements as result of various factors including those set forth in the Item JARisk Factors section and

elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Overview

We provide software services and proprietary content that enable organizations to more effectively recruit

and retain employees Our solutions are built around suite of easily configurable software applications that

automate talent acquisition and employee performance management best practices We offer the software

applications that form the core of our solutions on an on-demand basis which materially reduces the costs and

risks associated with deploying traditional enterprise applications We complement our software applications

with tailored combinations of outsourcing services consulting services and proprietary content based on our 21

years of experience assisting clients in addressing their human resource requirements Together our software

applications and services form solutions that we believe enable our clients to improve the effectiveness of their

talent acquisition programs increase employee productivity and retention measure key HR metrics and make

their talent acquisition and employee performance management programs more efficient

Since 1999 we have focused on providing talent acquisition and employee performance management

solutions on subscription basis and currently generate significant portion of our revenue from these

subscriptions For the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 revenue from these subscriptions comprised

approximately 80.2% and 81.7% respectively of our total revenue We generate the remainder of our revenue

from discrete professional services that are not provided as part of an integrated solution on subscription basis

These subscription-based solutions provide us with recurring revenue stream and we believe represent more

compelling opportunity in terms of growth and profitability than discrete professional services Since 2005

subscription revenue has represented approximately 80% of our total revenue we expect that trend to continue

We sell our solutions to large and medium-sized organizations through our direct sales force As of

December 31 2008 we had client base of approximately 4400 companies including approximately 180

companies on the Fortune 500 list published in April 2008 Our client base includes companies that we billed for

services during the year
ended December 31 2008 and does not necessarily indicate an ongoing relationship with

each such client Our top 80 clients contributed approximately $114.7 million or 56.3% of our total revenue for

the year ended December 31 2008

Over the past six months as result of the deteriorating financial conditions the global economy has slowed to

near historic lows as measured by most indices Unemployment in the United States was at 20 year high of 8.1% in

February 2009 and based upon recent survey data projected to be as high as 9.3% by December 2009 During the last

three months of 2008 gross
domestic product fell at an annualized 6.2% rate rate not experienced in the United

States since the 1982 recession and much faster than previous government forecasts Globally the outlook was similar

as the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Developments leading indicator edged closer to lows recorded

during the oil shock of the early 1970s Taken together all of these factors i.e high unemployment slower domestic

growth and global recession will most likely adversely affect our business in 2009 and perhaps beyond However the

extent or degree to which we may be affected by these events is extremely difficult to predict The uncertain economic

prospects being experienced by our clients will likely translate into slower growth or contraction for us since

substantial portion of our business is dependent upon our clients hiring and human capital needs However we believe

that by optimizing our internal resources for the current business conditions we can minimize these adverse effects and

emerge from this economic crisis with stronger more efficient operating model
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Although our compound annual growth of revenue for the three year period ending December 31 2008 has

been 45.9% and our clients have historically renewed their subscriptions at approximately 90% each year some

of our customers facing uncertainty and cost pressures in their own businesses during the current economic

downturn have indicated that they are waiting to purchase our products and are otherwise increasingly seeking

purchasing terms and conditions that are less favorable to us As result of this trend we experienced lower

renewal rates during the second half of fiscal 2008 resulting in renewal rate by aggregate value of multi-year

subscriptions for the year ended December 31 2008 of approximately 75% and as result we have forecasted

lower business levels for the first quarter of 2009 as well

Due to the decline in our stock price and market capitalization expected reductions in projected future net

income reduced future cash flow estimates and predicted slower growth rates in our industry we recorded an

impairment charge totaling $167.0 million for the year ended December 31 2008 representing portion of our

acquired goodwill If these trends persist additional impairment charges may be recorded in future periods

Although in the intermediate term our liquidity was adversely affected by the downturn in the credit

markets and our credit facility may be affected by our non-cash goodwill impairment charge recognized in the

fourth quarter 2008 we believe that the UBS settlement agreement for our auction rate securities our cash and

short-term investments on hand and our projected cash from operations will be sufficient to meet our liquidity

needs for the next twelve months

Background

We conmienced operations in 1987 as provider of recruiting services to wide variety of industries In

1993 we offered our first automated talent acquisition system and by 1997 we had expanded our business to

provide employee research employee performance management technology and consulting services In late

1997 responding to growing demand from our customers we embarked on strategy to provide

comprehensive human capital management services integrated with on-demand software Between 1994 and

1998 we acquired 15 businesses that collectively enabled us to offer comprehensive HCM services integrated

with on-demand technology

Over the past ten years we have pursued strategy designed to focus our business on talent acquisition and

employee performance management solutions and reduce our strategic focus on discrete professional services

that generated less predictable revenue streams and lower margins To that end

in 1999 we exited our temporary staffing business

in 2000 and 2001 we acquired four businesses which enhanced our screening and behavioral

assessment solutions and skills testing technologies

since 2002 we have reduced our strategic focus on position-specific recruiting services

in 2003 we discontinued our Oracle implementation business and discontinued and sold our

pharmaceutical training division

in 2005 we entered into an asset purchase agreement with Scottworks Solutions Inc

in 2006 we enhanced our talent acquisition solutions and client base through our acquisitions of

Webhire Inc Knowledge Workers Inc Gantz Wiley Research Psychometric Services Ltd and

BrassRing Inc

in 2007 we enhanced our talent acquisition solutions and client base through our acquisitions of

Strategic Outsourcing Corporation and HRC Human Resources Consulting and

in 2008 we expanded our global footprint in the talent acquisition space through our acquisition of

Quorum International Holdings Limited
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As result of our shift in strategic focus in 2000 an increasing proportion of our revenue has been derived

from talent acquisition and employee performance management solutions while decreasing portion of our

revenue has been derived from discrete professional services In 2000 revenue derived from subscriptions for

these solutions comprised approximately 54.4% of our total revenue in 2008 this percentage increased to 80.2%

of total revenue This shift to subscription based services has been driven by our customers adoption of the

on-demand model for software delivery and need for solutions that improve employee recruiting and retention

From our inception through 1999 our operations were funded primarily through internally generated cash

flows and our line of credit as well as private placements of our securities to institutional investors in 2000 and

2001 On June 29 2005 we completed our initial public offering and listed our common stock for trading on the

Nasdaq Stock Market

Recent Events

During the quarter ended December 31 2008 due to 49.5% decline in our stock price and market

capitalization lower projected net income cash flow estimates and slower projected growth rates in our industry

we reevaluated our goodwill impairment analysis Our analysis was performed to determine the implied fair

value of our goodwill with neither the write up or write down of any assets or liabilities nor recording any

additional unrecognized identifiable intangible assets Based upon our analysis we determined that the implied

fair value of the our goodwill was $32.4 million as of December 31 2008 resulting in goodwill impairment

charge of $167.0 million This goodwill impairment charge had no effect on our cash balances

In response to the challenging macroeconomic environment the strengthening U.S dollar relative to other

currencies of countries in which we do business and the resulting slowing or delaying of number of project

implementations on November 2008 we reduced our revenue guidance for the fourth quarter and year ended

December 31 2008 Following this announcement on November 2008 due to the widespread deterioration in

our business climate we announced restructuring program involving staff reductions of approximately 12% of

our workforce which included one-time severance and outplacement benefit and certain legal fees totaling

approximately $2.0 million

On April 2008 we acquired Quorum International Holdings Limited Quorum provider of

recruitment process outsourcing services based in London England for purchase price of approximately $27.9

million in cash The total cost of the acquisition including legal accounting and other professional fees of $0.7

million was approximately $28.6 million In addition the acquisition agreement contains an earn out provision

which provides for the payment of additional consideration by the Company based upon the
gross profit of

Quorum for the twelve month period ending June 30 2009 and June 30 2010 Formulaically the earnout is 3.86

times Quorums gross profit less the amount of base consideration as defined in the agreement The acquisition

of Quorum will broaden our presence
in the global recruitment market

On February 20 2008 our board of directors authorized stock repurchase plan providing for the

repurchase of up to 3.0 million shares of our common stock of which 1.1 million shares were repurchased at an

aggregate cost of $20.4 million as of December 31 2008 These shares were restored to original status and

accordingly are presented as authorized but not issued The timing price and volume of repurchases were based

on market conditions relevant securities laws and other factors As of December 31 2008 we are authorized to

repurchase approximately 1.9 million shares by value under this stock repurchase plan In addition in January

2008 we repurchased 0.5 million shares under previously authorized stock repurchase plan for an aggregate

cost of $9.8 million

Sources of Revenue

We derive revenue primarily from two sources subscription revenue for our solutions which is

comprised of subscription fees from clients accessing our on-demand software consulting services outsourcing

services and proprietary content and from clients purchasing additional support that is not included in the basic

subscription fee and fees for discrete professional services
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Our clients primarily purchase renewable subscriptions for our solutions The typical term is one to three

years with some terms extending up to five years The majority of our subscription agreements are not

cancelable for convenience although our clients have the right to terminate their contracts for cause if we fail to

provide the agreed upon services or otherwise breach the agreement client does not generally have right to

refund of any advance payments if the contract is cancelled Due to the current economic slowdown greater

number of our customers are delaying or seeking to revise the terms and conditions of our service agreements As

result we experienced for the year ended December 31 2008 lower than expected renewal rates in the range of

70%80% of the aggregate value of multi-year subscriptions for our on-demand talent acquisition and

performance management solution contracts rather than our historical renewal rate of approximately 90% We
expect this trend to continue in 2009 Consistent with our historical practices revenue derived from subscription

fees is recognized ratably over the term of the subscription agreement We generally invoice our clients in

advance in monthly or quarterly installments and typical payment terms provide that our clients pay us within 30

days of invoice Amounts that have been invoiced are recorded in accounts receivable prior to the receipt of

payment and in deferred revenue to the extent revenue recognition criteria have not been met Because our

revenue base has grown the amount of deferred revenue on our balance sheet has increased As of December 31

2008 deferred revenue increased to $38.6 million from $35.1 million at December 31 2007 We generally price

our solutions based on the number of software applications and services included and the number of client

employees Accordingly subscription fees are generally greater for larger organizations and for those that

subscribe for broader
array

of software applications and services

We derive other revenue from the sale of discrete professional services and translation services as well as

from out-of-pocket expenses The majority of our other revenue is derived from discrete professional services

which primarily consist of consulting and training services This revenue is recognized differently depending on

the type of service provided as described in greater detail below under Critical Accounting Policies and

Estimates

For the year ended December 31 2008 approximately 73.6% of our total revenue was derived from sales in

the United States Revenue that we generated from clients in Canada United Kingdom Germany and

Netherlands was approximately 2.7% 8.7% 4.8% 1.6% respectively for the
year ended December 31 2008

Revenue for other countries amounted to an aggregate of 8.6% Other than the countries listed no other country

represented more than 2% of our total revenue for the
year

ended December 31 2008 The decrease in our

percentage revenue derived from sales in the United States is primarily due to increased foreign sales

Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue primarily consists of compensation employee benefits and out-of-pocket travel-related

expenses for our employees and independent contractors who provide consulting or other professional services to

our clients Additionally our application hosting costs amortization of third-party license royalty costs technical

support personnel costs overhead allocated based on headcount and reimbursed expenses are also recorded as

cost of revenue Many factors affect our cost of revenue including changes in the mix of products and services

pricing trends changes in the amount of reimbursed expenses and fluctuations in our client base Because cost as

percentage of revenue is higher for professional services than for software products an increase in the services

component of our solutions or an increase in discrete professional services as percentage of our total revenue

would reduce gross profit as percentage of total revenue As our overall revenue begins to decline we expect

our cost of revenue to decline proportionately subject to pricing pressure related to economic conditions and

slightly influenced by the mix of services and software
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Operating Expenses

We classify our operating expenses as follows

Sales and Marketing Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of personnel and related costs for

employees engaged in sales and marketing including salaries commissions and other variable compensation

travel expenses
and costs associated with trade shows advertising and other marketing efforts and allocated

overhead We expense our sales commissions at the time the related revenue is recognized and we recognize

revenue from our subscription agreements ratably over the terms of the agreements Over the past several years

our sales and marketing expense has increased in absolute terms and as percentage of total revenue Although

we believe that our investment in sales and marketing commencing in 2003 resulted in significant revenue

growth during 2004 through 2008 based on recent economic conditions we have reduced our sales and

marketing expenditures to adjust for expected lower rates of growth projections However consistent with our

past practice we intend to continue to invest in sales and marketing to pursue new clients and expand

relationships with existing clients at levels we deem appropriate given our current economic conditions Our

sales and marketing expense has increased in absolute terms and as percentage of total revenue Although our

sales and marketing expense increased in both absolute terms and as percentage of total revenue we expect our

sales and marketing expense to decrease mainly due to reduced commission expense partially offset by increased

branding expense as business conditions dictate

General and Administrative General and administrative expenses primarily consist of personnel and related

costs for our executive finance human resources and administrative personnel professional fees and other

corporate expenses and allocated overhead Based upon the current state of the economy we believe that general

and administrative expenses will remain the same or decrease in dollar amount and increase as percentage of

total revenue in 2009

Research and Development Research and development expenses primarily consist of personnel and related

costs including salaries and employee benefits for software engineers quality assurance engineers product

managers technical sales engineers and management information systems personnel Our research and

development efforts have been devoted primarily to enhancements and upgrades to our existing products

Capitalized software development costs increased by $5.5 million or 203.7% to $8.2 million for the year ended

December 31 2008 from $2.7 million for the year ended December 31 2007 The increase in capitalized

software development costs represents 52.6% and 15.3% of research and development expense for the years

ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively and was directly attributable to an increase in the software

development projects qualifying for capitalization pursuant to SOP 98-1 This increase was due in part to greater

use of third party software developers and improved precision of their time and activity reporting The remaining

research and development expenses have been expensed as incurred We expect research and development

expenses to remain flat or increase slightly as we continue to execute on our strategies which include furthering

the common services enterprise architecture introducing Kenexa 2x modules and continuing to develop feature

enhancements
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Key Performance Indicators

The following tables summarize the key performance indicators that we consider to be material in managing

our business

For the Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in thousands except for percentages

Total Revenue 203732 181926 112107

Subscription revenue as percentage of total revenue 80.2% 1.7% 80.7%

Loss income from operations before income tax and interest expense 144158 31029 18636

Net cash provided by operating activities 32465 38563 18610

For the Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in thousands

Deferred revenue $38638 $35076 $31251

For the
year

ended December 31 2008 loss from operations before income taxes and interest expense

includes goodwill impairment and restructuring charges of $167011 and $1979 respectively Excluding

these charges non-gaap income from operations before income taxes and interest expense would have been

$24832

The following is discussion of some of the terms used in the tables above

Subscription revenue as percentage of total revenue Subscription revenue as percentage of total

revenue can be derived from our consolidated statement of operations This performance indicator illustrates the

evolution of our business towards subscription-based solutions which provide us with recurring revenue stream

and which we believe to be more compelling revenue growth and profitability opportunity We expect that the

percentage of subscription revenue will be in the range of 78-82% of our total revenues through at least 2009

Net cash provided by operating activities Net cash provided by operating activities is taken from our

consolidated statement of cash flows and represents the amount of cash generated by our operations that is

available for investing and financing activities Historically our net cash provided by operating activities has

exceeded our net income primarily due to the positive impact of deferred revenue We expect this trend to

continue because of the advance payment structure of our subscription agreements

Deferred revenue We generate revenue primarily from multi-year subscriptions for our on-demand talent

acquisition and employee performance management solutions We recognize revenue from these subscription

agreements ratably over the term of the contract which is typically one to three years We generally invoice our

clients in quarterly or monthly installments in advance Deferred revenue which is included in our consolidated

balance sheets is the amount of invoiced subscriptions in excess of the amount recognized as revenue Deferred

revenue represents in part the amount that we will record as revenue in our consolidated statements of

operations in future periods As the subscription component of our revenue has grown and customer willingness

to pay us in advance for their subscriptions has increased the amount of deferred revenue on our balance sheet

has grown It is reasonably possible that this trend may vary as business conditions change

The following table reconciles beginning and ending deferred revenue for each of the periods shown

For the Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in thousands

Deferred revenue at the beginning of the year 35076 31251 12588

Total invoiced subscriptions during the year 166982 152367 95087

Deferred revenue from acquisition 120 14046

Subscription revenue recognized during the year 163420 148662 90470
Deferred revenue at end of year 38638 35076 31251
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and consolidated results of operations are based upon

our consolidated financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles in the United States The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to

make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenue and expenses and

related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities On an on-going basis we evaluate our estimates including

those related to uncollectible accounts receivable and accrued expenses We base these estimates on historical

experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances the results of

which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily

apparent from other sources Our actual results may differ from these estimates

We believe that the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant estimates and

judgments used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements

Revenue Recognition

We derive our revenue from two sources subscription revenues for solutions which are comprised of

subscription fees from clients accessing our on-demand software consulting services outsourcing services and

proprietary content and from clients purchasing additional support beyond the standard support that is included in the

basic subscription fee and other fees for professional services translation services and reimbursed out-of-pocket

expenses Because we provide our solutions as service we follow the provisions of Staff Accounting Bulletin

No 101 Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements as amended by Staff Accounting Bulletin No 104 Revenue

Recognition On August 2003 we adopted Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No 00-21 Revenue Arrangements

with Multiple Deliverables We recognize revenue when all of the following conditions are met

there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement

the service has been provided to the client

the collection of the fees is probable and

the amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable

Subscription Fees and Support Revenues Subscription fees and support revenues are recognized on

monthly basis over the lives of the contracts Amounts that have been invoiced are recorded in accounts

receivable and in deferred revenue or revenue depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been

met We recorded subscription fees and support revenues of approximately $163.4 million $148.7 million and

$90.5 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Other Revenue Other revenue consists of discrete professional services translation services and

reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses Discrete professional services when sold with subscription and support

offerings are accounted for separately since these services have value to the customer on stand-alone basis and

there is objective and reliable evidence of fair value of the delivered elements Our arrangements do not contain

general rights of return Additionally when professional services are sold with other elements the consideration

from the revenue arrangement is allocated among the separate elements based upon the relative fair value

Revenues from professional services are recognized as the services are rendered

In determining whether revenues from professional services can be accounted for separately from

subscription revenue we consider the following factors for each agreement availability of professional services

from other vendors whether objective and reliable evidence of the fair value exists of the undelivered elements

the nature and the timing of when the agreement was signed in comparison to the subscription agreement start

date and the contractual dependence of the subscription service on the customers satisfaction with the other

services If the professional service does not qualify for separate accounting we recognize the revenue ratably

over the remaining term of the subscription contract In these situations we defer the direct and incremental costs

of the professional service over the same period as the revenue is recognized
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We record reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in accordance with EITF issue 01-14 Income

Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for Out-of-Pocket Expenses Incurred which requires

that reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses be classified as revenue and not as cost reductions

Before the December 15 2001 effective date of EITF Issue 01-14 out-of-pocket reimbursements from clients

were netted with the applicable costs These items primarily include travel meals and certain telecommunication

costs For the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 reimbursed expenses totaled $4.7 million

$3.5 million and $1.9 million respectively

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from clients inability to pay

us The provision is based on our historical experience and for specific clients that in our opinion are likely to

default on our receivables from them In order to identify these clients we perform ongoing reviews of all clients

that have breached their payment terms as well as those that have filed for bankruptcy or for whom information

has become available indicating significant risk of non-recoverability In addition we have experienced

significant growth in number of clients and we have less payment history to rely upon with these clients We
rely on historical trends of bad debt as percentage of total revenue and apply these percentages to the accounts

receivable associated with new clients and evaluate these clients over time To the extent that our future

collections differ from our assumptions based on historical experience the amount of our bad debt and allowance

recorded may be different

Capitalized Software Development Costs

In accordance with EITF Issue 00-3 Application of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2 to Arrangements

That Include the Right to Use Software Stored on Another Entitys Hardware we apply AICPA Statement of

Position No 98-1 Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use The

costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development are expensed as incurred Once an application has

reached the development stage internal and external costs if direct and incremental will be capitalized until the

software is substantially complete and ready for its intended use Capitalization ceases upon completion of all

substantial testing We also capitalize costs related to specific upgrades and enhancements when it is probable the

expenditures will result in additional functionality Maintenance and training cost are expensed as incurred

Internal use software is amortized on straight-line basis over its estimated useful life generally three years

Management evaluates the useful lives of these assets on an annual basis and tests for impairments whenever

events or changes in circumstances occur that could impact the recoverability of these assets There were no

impairments to internal software in any of the periods covered in this report

Goodwill and Other Identified Intangible Asset Impairment

On January 2002 we adopted SFAS No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets which superseded

Accounting Board Opinion No 17 Intangible Assets Upon adoption of SFAS No 142 we ceased amortization

of existing goodwill and are required to review the carrying value of goodwill for impairment If goodwill

becomes impaired some or all of the goodwill could be written off as charge to operations This comparison is

performed annually or more frequently if circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair

value of the reporting unit below its
carry amount

During the quarter ended December 31 2008 we reviewed the carrying values of goodwill at the enterprise

or company level by comparing the carrying values to the estimated fair values of the enterprise The fair value is

based on managements estimate of the future discounted cash flows to be generated by the enterprise and our

market capitalization Such cash flows consider factors such as future operating income historical trends as well

as demand and competition Comparable company multiples are based upon public companies in sectors relevant

to our business based on our knowledge of the industry Changes in the underlying business could affect these

estimates which in turn could affect our assessment of the recoverability of goodwill Based on the analysis we
determined that the implied fair value of the our goodwill as of December 31 2008 was $32.4 million resulting
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in goodwill impairment charge of $167.0 million for the year ended December 31 2008 The goodwill

impairment charge had no effect on our cash balances but did cause us to be out of compliance with certain

covenants under our credit facility pursuant to which we did not as of December 31 2008 and do not as of the

date of this report have any borrowings or the ability to borrow

Classification and Fair Value Measurement of Auction Rate Securities

We hold investments in auction rate securities having contractual maturities of greater than one year and

interest rate reset features of between and 35 days These auction rate securities were priced and subsequently

traded as short-term investments because of the interest rate reset feature Consequently we have historically

classified our auction rate securities as available for sale short-term investments at par

During 2008 as result of the deterioration in the credit markets our auction rate securities failed to trade

at recent auctions due to insufficient bids from buyers These events have led to uncertainty surrounding the

short-term liquidity of our auction rate security investments Since it is not possible to predict when auctions for

the securities we hold will succeed in the future we have reclassified our auction rate securities to long-term

investments on our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31 2008

Our auction rate securities which have par value of $18.6 million were acquired through UBS AG Due to

the failure of the auction rate market in early 2008 UBS AG and other major banks entered into discussions with

government agencies to provide liquidity to owners of auction rate securities In November 2008 we entered into

an agreement the Agreement with UBS AG which provides us with no net cost loan up to the par

value of Eligible ARS until June 30 2010 and us the right to sell these auction rate securities back to UBS

AG at par at our sole discretion anytime during the period from June 30 2010 through July 2012 and

UBS AG the right to purchase these auction rate securities or sell them on our behalf at par anytime through

July 2012 See Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements We elected to measure value of our option

to put the securities to UBS AG under the fair value option of SFAS No 159 recording income of approximately

$2.2 million pre-tax and corresponding long-term asset as of December 31 2008 Simultaneously we

transferred these auction rate securities from available-for-sale to trading investment securities As result of this

transfer we recognized an other-than-temporary impairment loss of approximately $2.2 million pre-tax

reflecting reversal of the related temporary valuation allowance that was previously recorded in other

comprehensive loss The recording of this income and the recognition of the other-than-temporary impairment

loss resulted in no material impact to our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31

2008 We anticipate that any future changes in the fair value of our put option under the agreement with UBS AG

will be offset by the changes in the fair value of the related auction rate securities with no material net impact to

our consolidated statement of operations Our option to put the securities to UBS AG under the agreement will

continue to be measured at fair value utilizing Level inputs as defined by SFAS 157 until the earlier of its

maturity or exercise

The fair values of our auction rate securities are estimated utilizing discounted cash flow analysis or other

types of valuation models as of December 31 2008 rather than at par These analyses are highly judgmental and

consider among other items the likelihood of redemption credit quality duration insurance wraps and expected

future cash flows These securities were also compared when possible to other observable market data with

similar characteristics to the securities held by us Any changes in fair value for our auction rate securities which

we attribute to market liquidity issues rather than credit issues are recorded in our statement of operations
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Accounting for Share-Based Compensation

We use Black-Scholes option-pricing model to calculate the fair value of our share-based awards The

calculation of the fair value of the awards using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model is affected by our stock

price on the date of grant as well as assumptions regarding the following

Volatility is measure of the amount by which the stock price is expected to fluctuate each year during

the expected life of the award and is based on weighted average of peer companies comparable

indices and our stock volatility An increase in the volatility would result in an increase in our expense

The expected term represents the period of time that awards granted are expected to be outstanding and

is currently based upon an average of the contractual life and the vesting period of the options With the

passage of time actual behavioral patterns surrounding the expected term will replace the current

methodology Changes in the future exercise behavior of employees or in the vesting period of the

award could result in change in the expected term An increase in the expected term would result in

an increase to our expense

The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S Treasury yield curve in effect at time of grant An

increase in the risk-free interest rate would result in an increase in our expense

The estimated forfeiture rate is the rate at which awards are expected to expire before they become

fully vested and exercisable An increase in the forfeiture rate would result in decrease to our

expense

Share-based compensation expense recognized during the period is based on the value of the number of

awards that are expected to vest In determining the share-based compensation expense to be recognized

forfeiture rate is applied to the fair value of the award This rate represents the number of awards that are

expected to be forfeited prior to vesting and is based on our historical employee behavior Changes in the future

behavior of employees could impact this rate decrease in this rate would result in an increase in our expense

In certain instances where market based performance share awards are granted we use the Monte Carlo

valuation model to calculate the fair value This approach utilizes two-stage process which first simulates

potential outcomes for our shares using the Monte Carlo simulation and then employs the Black-Scholes model

to value the various outcomes predicted by the Monte Carlo simulation The resulting fair value on the date of

the grant measurement date is being recognized over the vesting period using the straight-line method

The stage-one Monte Carlo simulation requires variety of assumptions about both the statistical properties

of the Companys shares as well as potential reactions to such share price movements by Company management
Such assumptions include the natural logarithm of the Companys stock price random log-difference using the

Russell 2000 stock index and random variable using the specific deviations of the Companys returns relative

to the returns dictated by the CAPM model

Accounting for Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with FASB Statement No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes
or SFAS No 109 which requires that deferred tax assets and liabilities be recognized using enacted tax rates for

the effect of temporary differences between the book and tax basis of recorded assets and liabilities

SFAS No 109 also requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by valuation allowance if it is more likely than

not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized

The realization of the deferred tax assets is evaluated quarterly by assessing the valuation allowance and by

adjusting the amount of the allowance if
necessary

The factors used to assess the likelihood of realization are

the forecast of future taxable income and available tax planning strategies that could be implemented to realize

the net deferred tax assets We have used tax-planning strategies to realize or renew net deferred tax assets in
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order to avoid the potential loss of future tax benefits In addition we operate within multiple taxing jurisdictions

and are subject to audit in each jurisdiction These audits can involve complex issues that may require an

extended period of time to resolve In our opinion adequate provisions for income taxes have been made for all

periods

Self-Insurance

We are self-insured for the majority of our health insurance costs including claims filed and claims incurred

but not reported subject to certain stop loss provisions We estimate our liability based upon managements

judgment and historical experience We also rely on the advice of consulting administrators in determining an

adequate liability for self-insurance claims As of December 31 2008 and 2007 self-insurance accruals totaled

approximately $0.6 million and $0.3 million respectively We continuously review the adequacy of our

insurance coverage Material differences may result in the amount and timing of insurance expense if actual

experience differs significantly from managements estimates

Consolidated Results of Operations and Geographic Information

Consolidated Historical Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain consolidated historical results of operations data expressed as

percentage of total revenue for the periods indicated Period-to-period comparisons of our financial results are

not necessarily meaningful and you should not rely on them as an indication of future performance

Kenexa Corporation Consolidated Statements of Operations

In thousands

For the Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Percent of Percent of Percent of

Amount Revenues Amount Revenues Amount Revenues

Revenues

Subscription revenue $163420 80.2% $148662 1.7% 90470 80.7%

Other revenue 40312 19.8% 33264 18.3% 21637 19.3%

Total revenues 203732 100.0% 181926 100.0% 112107 100.0%

Cost of revenues 61593 30.2% 50920 28.0% 31712 28.3%

Gross profit 142139 69.8% 131006 72.0% 80395 71.7%

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing 40780 20.0% 35324 19.4% 25134 22.4%

General and administrative 48884 24.0% 39332 21.6% 24520 21.9%

Research and development 15555 7.6% 17737 9.7% 8618 7.7%

Depreciation and amortization 12088 5.9% 7584 4.2% 3487 3.1%

Restructuring charges 1979 1.0%

Goodwill impairment charge 167011 82.0%

Total operating expenses 286297 140.5% 99977 55.0% 61759 55.1%

Loss income from operations 144158 70.8% 31029 17.1% 18636 16.6%

Interest income 1395 0.7% 3098 1.7% 1560 1.4%

Loss income before income tax 142763 70.1% 34127 18.8% 20196 18.0%

Income tax benefit expense from

operations 38071 18.7% 10579 5.8% 4303 3.8%

Net loss income $104692 51.4% 23548 12.9% 15893 14.2%
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Geographic Information

The following table summarizes the distribution of revenue by geographic region as determined by billing

addresses for each of the periods shown

For the Year

Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

United States 73.6% 85.3% 90.2%

United Kingdom and The Netherlands 10.3% 7.4% 5.3%

Other European 5.5% 3.0% 0.9%

Germany 4.8% 1.5% 0.0%

Canada 2.7% 1.4% 2.4%

Africa Asia-Pacific Middle East and other 3.1% 1.4% 1.2%

Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Comparison of Years Ended December 31 2008 and 2007

Revenues

Total revenue increased by $21.8 million or 12.0% to $203.7 million for the
year

ended December 31 2008

from $181.9 million for the year ended December 31 2007 Our subscription revenue increased by $14.7 million

to $163.4 million for the year ended December 31 2008 from $148.7 million for the year ended December 31

2007 Subscription revenue represented approximately 80.2% of our total revenue for the year ended

December 31 2008 compared to 81.7% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31 2007 The increase

in revenue is attributable primarily to an increase in sales volumes of our talent management solutions and the

continued acceptance of our on-demand model Revenue generated by Quorum comprised approximately 7.9%

of the increase in our total revenue for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the prior year Our other

revenue increased by $7.1 million to $40.3 million for the
year

ended December 31 2008 from $33.2 million for

the
year

ended December 31 2007 This increase was mostly due to an increase in demand for our consulting

services which resulted from an increase in our subscription-based revenues Based upon the current market

conditions we expect subscription-based and other revenues to decrease in 2009 over the prior year due to

greater number of customers delaying or looking to revise the terms and conditions of our service agreements

the strengthening US dollar relative to other currencies of countries in which we do business the loss of RPO

customers and loss of consulting engagements

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenue increased by $10.7 million or 21.0% to $61.6 million for the year ended December 31 2008

from $50.9 million for the year ended December 31 2007 As percentage of revenue cost of revenue increased

2.2% to 30.2% for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to 28.0% for the year ended December 31 2007

The $10.7 million increase in the cost of revenue was primarily due to increased salaries overhead direct costs

and other expense of $7.1 million $1.2 million $1.1 million and $1.3 million respectively Our increased

salaries were due in part to the addition of 100 employees from the acquisition of Quorum in 2008 As our

overall revenue begins to decline we expect our cost of revenue will decline proportionately subject to pricing

pressure related to economic conditions and slightly influenced by the mix of services and software To the

extent new customers are added we expect that the cost of services as percentage of revenue will be greater

than those services associated with existing customers

Sales and Marketing SM
SM expense increased by $5.5 million or 15.6% to $40.8 million for the year ended December 31 2008

compared to $35.3 million for the year ended December 31 2007 The $5.5 million increase was due in part to an

increase of staff related expense of approximately $5.6 million partially offset by decrease in performance
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bonuses commissions and travel expenses of approximately $3.7 million from the prior year The net $1.9

million increase in salaries was due partially to the addition of 24 employees from our Quorum acquisition and

39 employees hired for our existing business in 2008 In addition reserve for bad debt and advertising and

marketing expense contributed approximately $2.4 million and $1.2 million to the increase in SM expense for

the year ended December 31 2008 over the prior year The increase in bad debt was mainly attributed to three

customers As percentage of total revenue SM expense increased to 20.0% for the year ended December 31

2008 from 19.4% for the year ended December 31 2007 due to increased expense In the future we intend to

continue to invest in SM to pursue new clients and expand relationships with existing clients at levels we deem

appropriate given our current economic conditions Although our SM expense increased in both absolute terms

and as percentage of total revenue we expect our SM expense to decrease mainly due to reduced

commission expense partially offset by increased branding expense as business conditions dictate

General and Administrative GA
GA expense increased by $9.5 million or 24.1% to $48.9 million for the year ended December 31 2008

compared to $39.4 million for the year ended December 31 2007 The $9.5 million increase was due in part to an

increase in professional fees rent and utilities expense and share-based compensation expense which contributed

$2.6 million $1.6 million and $1.8 million respectively to the increase in GA expense for the year
ended

December 31 2008 compared to the prior year In addition increased travel phone and license expense

contributed approximately $0.9 million $0.8 million and $0.4 million in expense for the year ended

December 31 2008 compared to the prior year The remainder of the increase of $1.4 million was attributable to

increases in infrastructure expenses such as supplies insurance and other expenses of $1.0 million and salary and

bonus expenses of $0.4 million As percentage of total revenue GA expense increased by 2.4% to 24.0% for

the year ended December 31 2008 compared to 21.6% for the year ended December 31 2007 Based upon the

current economic environment we believe that GA expenses will decrease in dollar amount and increase as

percentage of total revenue in 2009

Research and Development RD
RD expense decreased by $2.1 million or 11.9% to $15.6 million for the year ended December 31 2008

from $17.7 million for the year ended December 31 2007 The $2.1 million decrease in RD expense was

directly attributable to increased capitalized software development costs during 2008 Capitalized software

development costs increased by $5.5 million or 203.7% to $8.2 million for the year ended December 31 2008

from $2.7 million for the year ended December 31 2007 The increase in capitalized software development costs

represents 52.6% and 15.3% of RD expense for the years
ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively and

was directly attributable to an increase in the software development projects qualifying for capitalization

pursuant to SOP 98-1 This increase was due in part to greater use of third party software developers and

improved precision of their time and activity reporting As percentage of total revenue research and

development expense decreased from 9.7% to 7.6% for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the year

ended December 31 2007 due to increased capitalized software development costs small portion of our RD
expense relates to the efforts of our Kenexa Research Institute scientists which is more fixed in nature This cost

structure will result in future RD expense being more constant and also greater percentage of revenue as our

revenue decreases We expect RD expenses to remain flat or increase slightly as we continue to execute on our

strategies which include furthering the common services enterprise architecture introducing Kenexa 2x modules

and continuing to develop feature enhancements

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $4.4 million or 57.9% to $12.0 million for the year
ended

December 31 2008 compared to $7.6 million for the year ended December 31 2007 The $4.4 million increase

was due in part to increased amortization expense
associated with our recent acquisitions and increased

depreciation expense associated with our capitalized software and our capital purchases including our building in

Vizag In the future we expect depreciation and amortization expense to increase due to recent capital purchases
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Restructuring expense

During the quarter ended December 31 2008 in response to the weakness of our macroeconomic

environment and widespread deterioration in our business climate we announced restructuring program

involving staff reductions of approximately 12% of our workiorce which included one-time severance and

outplacement benefits totaling approximately $2.0 million In the future additional staff reductions or other cost

saving measures will be considered to further align our cost structure for lower anticipated revenues

Goodwill Impairment

During the quarter ended December 31 2008 due to adverse changes in the economic climate 49.5%

decline in the our market capitalization from September 30 2008 and downward revision in our earnings

guidance for the quarter and
year

ended December 31 2008 we reevaluated our goodwill impairment analysis

Pursuant to SFAS No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets these factors signaled triggering event

which requires us to determine whether and to what extent our goodwill may have been impaired as of

December 31 2008 The first step of this analysis requires the estimation of our fair value as an entity and is

calculated based on the observable market capitalization with range of estimated control premiums as well as

discounted future estimated cash flows This step yielded an estimated fair value for us which was less than our

carrying value including goodwill at December 31 2008 The next step entails performing an analysis to

determine whether the carrying amount of goodwill on our balance sheet exceeds our implied fair value The

implied fair value of our goodwill for this step was determined in the same manner as goodwill recognized in

business combination Our estimated fair value was allocated to our assets and liabilities including any

unrecognized identifiable intangible assets as if we had been acquired in business combination with our

estimated fair value representing the price paid to acquire it The allocation process performed on the test date

was only for purposes of determining the implied fair value of goodwill with neither the write up or write down

of any assets or liabilities nor recording any additional unrecognized identifiable intangible assets as part of this

process but did cause us to be out of compliance with the covenants under our credit facility pursuant as of

December 31 2008 Based on the analysis we determined that the implied fair value of the Kenexa goodwill

was $32.4 million resulting in goodwill impairment charge of $167.0 million The goodwill impairment charge

had no effect on our cash balances

Interest Income

Interest income decreased $1.7 million or 54.8% for the
year

ended December 31 2008 to $1.4 million for

the
year

ended December 31 2008 from $3.1 million for the year ended December 31 2007 The $1.7 million

decrease is due primarily to lower cash balances and lower rates of interest in 2008

Income Tax Expense

An income tax benefit on continuing operations of $38.1 million was recorded for the year ended

December 31 2008 as compared with an income tax expense of $10.6 million for the year ended December 31

2007 This income tax benefit is primarily attributable to the recognition of deferred tax asset of $42.3 million

relating to goodwill impairment loss that is deductible for U.S tax purposes Changes to deferred income taxes

are generally based on managements evaluation of our positive and negative evidence bearing upon the

realizability of its deferred tax assets and the determination that it is more likely than not that we will realize

portion of the benefits of federal and state tax assets

Webhire which we acquired in January 2006 had net operating loss carryforward balance of

approximately $48.0 million for federal purposes as of September 30 2005 BrassRing which we acquired in

November 2006 had net operating loss carryforward balance of approximately $78.0 million for federal

purposes as of December 31 2006 Based upon the uncertainty of our ability to utilize these acquired net

operating losses we recorded valuation allowance of approximately $12.0 million during the year
ended

December 31 2006
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During the year
ended December 31 2007 Webhire and BrassRing made retroactive elections under

Section 338g of the Internal Revenue Code with the effect of increasing the tax basis of acquired intangible

assets to the deemed purchase price of these assets We will amortize the increased tax basis of acquired

intangibles over 15-year period for federal and state income tax purposes Separate gains equal to the respective

increases in tax basis were included in the pre-acquisition taxable incomes of each acquired company Webhire

and BrassRing each had sufficient net operating loss carryforwards to fully offset the income recognized on the

deemed sale of assets for regular federal income tax purposes However under the federal alternative minimum

tax rules net operating loss carryforwards may not offset more than 90% of income taxable under this measure

We have therefore paid alternative minimum tax on these gains of approximately $0.5 million Concurrent with

the recognition of these gains certain of the acquired net operating losses were deemed to expire Accordingly

we have reduced the deferred tax assets associated with these acquired net operating losses and the related

valuation allowances by offsetting amounts of approximately $12.0 million

Comparison of Years Ended December 31 2007 and 2006

Revenue

Total revenue increased by $69.8 million or 62.3% to $181.9 million for the year ended December 31 2007

from $112.1 million for the
year

ended December 31 2006 Our subscription revenue increased by 58.2 million

to $148.7 million for the
year

ended December 31 2007 from $90.5 million for the year ended December 31

2006 Subscription revenue represented approximately 81.7% of our total revenue for the year ended

December 31 2007 compared to 80.7% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31 2006 The increase

in revenue is attributable primarily to an increase in sales volumes of our talent management solutions and the

continued acceptance of our on-demand model The acquisitions of HRC and StraightSource comprised

approximately 18% of the increase in our total revenue for the year ended December 31 2007 compared to the

prior year Our other revenue increased by 11.7 million to $33.3 million for the year ended December 31 2007

from $21.6 million for the year ended December 31 2006 This increase was due to an increase in demand for

our consulting services which resulted from an increase in our subscription based revenues

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue increased by $19.2 million or 60.6% to $50.9 million for the year ended December 31 2007

from $31.7 million for the year ended December 31 2006 As percentage of revenue cost of revenue remained

approximately the same at 28.0% for the year ended December 31 2007 compared to 28.3% for the year
ended

December 31 2006 The increase in the cost of revenue was primarily due to increased salaries overhead direct

costs and other expense of $10.8 million $1.7 million $5.3 million and $1.4 million respectively associated

with our increased revenue Our increased salaries were due in part to the addition of 19 employees from our

acquisitions in 2006 and 2007

Sales and Marketing

SM expense increased by $10.2 million or 40.5% to $35.3 million for the
year

ended December 31 2007

compared to $25.1 million for the year ended December 31 2006 Increased increased staff related
expense

including performance bonuses and commissions and travel expense contributed of $7.2 million and $1.5

million respectively to the increase in SM expense from the prior year In addition bad debt and advertising

expense contributed approximately $0.9 million to the increase in SM expense
while other

expense
increased

$0.6 million for the year ended December 31 2007 over the prior year The increase in salaries was due in part to

the addition of 37 employees from our acquisitions in 2006 and 2007 As percentage of total revenue SM
expense decreased to 19.4% for the year ended December 31 2007 from 22.4% for the

year
ended December 31

2006 due to increased revenues
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General and Administrative

GA expense increased by $14.8 million or 60.4% to $39.3 million for the year ended December 31 2007

compared to $24.5 million for the year
ended December 31 2006 The $14.8 million increase was due in part to

an increase in staff related expense
of $6.5 million related to the addition of 75 employees In addition rent and

utilities expense professional fees and office supplies contributed of $2.7 million $3.0 million and $0.9 million

respectively to the increase in GA expense
for the year ended December 31 2007 compared to the prior year

The remainder of the increase of $1.7 million was attributable to increases in infrastructure expenses such as

phone supplies insurance and other expenses As percentage of total revenue GA expense was

approximately the same at 21.6% for the year ended December 31 2007 compared to 21.9% for the year ended

December 31 2006

Research and Development

RD expense
increased by $9.1 million or 105.8% to $17.7 million for the year ended December 31 2007

from $8.6 million for the year ended December 31 2006 The $9.1 million increase in RD expense was due to

the addition of 49 employees in 2007 As percentage of total revenue research and development expense

increased from 7.7% to 9.8% for the year
ended December 31 2007 compared to the year

ended December 31

2006 due to increased development effort on our products

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense
increased $4.1 million or 117.5% to $7.6 million for the

year
ended

December 31 2007 compared to $3.5 million for the year ended December 31 2006 due to increased capital

purchases and additional intangibles acquired in connection with our recent acquisitions

Interest Income

Interest income increased $1.5 million or 98.6% for the year ended December 31 2007 to $3.1 million for

the year ended December 31 2007 from $1.6 million for the year ended December 31 2006 The $1.5 million

increase is due primarily to interest earned on the net proceeds of our January 2007 public offering in which we

raised $130.4 million

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense on continuing operations increased $6.3 million or 145.9% to $10.6 million for the year

ended December 31 2007 from $4.3 million for the
year

ended December 31 2006 The $6.3 million increase in

income tax expense was primarily attributable to an increase in income before taxes Changes to deferred income

taxes are generally based on managements evaluation of our positive and negative evidence bearing upon the

realizability of its deferred tax assets and the determination that it is more likely than not that we will realize

portion of the benefits of federal and state tax assets Webhire which we acquired in January 2006 had net

operating loss carryforward balance of approximately $48.0 million for federal purposes as of September 30

2005 BrassRing which we acquired in November 2006 had net operating loss carryforward balance of

approximately $78.0 million for federal purposes as of December 31 2006 Based upon the uncertainty of our

ability to utilize these acquired net operating losses we recorded valuation allowance of approximately $12.0

million during the year
ended December 31 2006

During the year
ended December 31 2007 Webhire and BrassRing made retroactive elections under

Section 338g of the Internal Revenue Code with the effect of increasing the tax basis of acquired

intangibleassets to the deemed purchase price of these assets We will amortize the increased tax basis of

acquired intangibles over 15-year period for federal and state income tax purposes Separate gains equal to the

respective increases in tax basis were included in the pre-acquisition taxable incomes of each acquired company

Webhire and BrassRing each had sufficient net operating loss carryforwards to fully offset the income

recognized on the deemed sale of assets for regular federal income tax purposes However under the federal
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alternative minimum tax rules net operating loss carryforwards may not offset more than 90% of income taxable

under this measure We have therefore paid alternative minimum tax on these gains of approximately $0.5

million Concurrent with the recognition of these gains certain of the acquired net operating losses were deemed

to expire Accordingly we have reduced the deferred tax assets associated with these acquired net operating

losses and the related valuation allowances by offsetting amounts of approximately $12.0 million

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since we were formed in 1987 we have financed our operations primarily through internally generated cash

flows our revolving credit facilities and the issuance of equity As of December 31 2008 we had cash and cash

equivalents of $21.7 million short term investments of $4.5 million and long term investments of $16.5 million

In addition we had no debt and approximately $0.3 million in capital equipment leases

Our cash provided from operations was $32.5 million $38.6 million and $18.6 million for the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Cash used in investing activities was $18.1 million $86.3

million and $156.1 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Cash used in

and provided by financing activities was $29.7 million $42.3 million and $136.4 million for the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively All of these effects in 2008 resulted in decrease in our cash

and cash equivalents of $16.3 million for the year ended December 31 2008 While our investing and financing

activities have been significant over the past three years we expect positive cash flow from operations to

continue in future periods

As of December 31 2008 we held auction rate securities with fair value of $16.5 million and par value of

$18.6 million Our auction rate securities portfolio includes solely AA- and AAA-rated investments comprised

of federally insured student loans However the auction rate securities we hold have failed to trade at recent

auctions due to insufficient bids from buyers This limits the short-term liquidity of these instruments and may
limit our ability to liquidate and fully recover the carrying value of our auction rate securities if we needed to

convert some or all to cash in the near term We believe that based upon our current other cash and cash

equivalent balances the current lack of liquidity in the auction rate securities market will not have material

impact on our liquidity or our ability to fund our operations

Our auction rate securities were acquired through UBS AG Due to the failure of the auction rate market in

early 2008 UBS and other major banks entered into agreements with governmental agencies to provide liquidity

to owners of auction rate securities In November 2008 we entered into an agreement with UBS which provides

to us no net cost loan up to the par value of Eligible ARS until June 30 2010 and the right to sell

these auction rate securities back to UBS AG at par at our sole discretion anytime during the period from

June 30 2010 through July 2012 and UBS AG the right to purchase these auction rate securities or sell

them on the our behalf at par anytime through July 2012 See Note 13 to our Consolidated Financial

Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information

As of December 31 2008 as result of our goodwill impairment charge for the year then ended we are no

longer in compliance with certain financial covenants under our current line of credit We are currently

evaluating the cost of waiver agreement and are considering renegotiating the credit facility for an additional

term If we are unable to negotiate satisfactory agreement for the credit facility waiver we will lose our credit

facility and all access to previously available credit from the facility This could negatively impact our financial

condition and liquidity

Although in the intermediate term our liquidity was adversely affected by the downturn in the credit

markets and our credit facility may be affected by our non-cash goodwill impairment charge recognized in the

fourth quarter 2008 we believe that the UBS settlement agreement for our auction rate securities and our

projected cash from operations will be sufficient to meet our liquidity needs for the next twelve months

On April 2008 we acquired Quorum International Holdings Limited Quorum provider of

recruitment process outsourcing services based in London England for purchase price of approximately
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$27.9 million in cash The total cost of the acquisition including legal accounting and other professional fees

of $0.7 million was approximately $28.6 million In addition the acquisition agreement contains an earn out

provision which provides for the payment of additional consideration by the Company based upon the gross

profit of Quorum for the twelve month period ending June 30 2009 and June 30 2010 Formulaically the eamout

is 3.86 times Quorums gross profit less the amount of base consideration as defined in the agreement The

acquisition of Quorum broadens our presence in the global recruitment market

On February 20 2008 our board of directors authorized stock repurchase plan providing for the

repurchase of up to 3000000 shares of our common stock of which 1125651 shares were repurchased at an

aggregate cost of $20.4 million as of December 31 2008 These shares were restored to original status and

accordingly are presented as authorized but not issued The timing price and volume of repurchases were based

on market conditions relevant securities laws and other factors As of December 31 2008 the number of shares

available for repurchase under the stock repurchase plan was 1847349

On November 2007 our board of directors authorized stock repurchase plan providing for the

repurchase of up to 2000000 shares of our common stock of which 1448091 shares were repurchased at an

aggregate cost of $25.5 million as of December 31 2007 The timing price and volume of repurchases were

based on market conditions relevant securities laws and other factors In January 2008 the remaining 551909

shares available for repurchase under the stock repurchase plan were repurchased at an aggregate cost of

$9.8 million

On August 20 2007 we acquired HRC leading consultancy for business-orientated employee surveys

based in Munich Germany for purchase price of approximately $3.8 million in cash The total cost of the

acquisition including legal accounting and other professional fees of $0.5 million was approximately

$4.3 million The acquisition of HRC provides us with presence in Germany and enhances our expansion in

European countries

On June 2007 we acquired StraightSource provider of recruitment process outsourcing services based

in Richardson Texas for purchase price of approximately $12.2 million in cash and $4.2 million in stock

consideration The total cost of the acquisition was approximately $16.4 million In addition the acquisition

agreement contains an earnout provision which provides for the payment of additional consideration by the

Company based upon the annual revenues of StraightSource through December 31 2009 Based upon the 2008

results we accrued additional consideration of $3.0 million The related liability has been accrued in the financial

statements at December 31 2008 In December 2008 approximately $0.9 million of the $1.2 million held in an

escrow was released to the former stockholders of StraightSource We expect that the acquisition of

StraightSource will provide additional efficiency to our exempt and non-exempt recruitment offering and expand

our distribution capabilities in the Southwest market

On March 26 2007 we entered into First Amendment to the Credit Agreement with PNC Bank The

amendment increased the maximum amount available under the revolving credit facility portion of the Credit

Agreement from $25.0 million to $50.0 million including sublimit of up to $2.0 million for letters of

credit The amendment provides that the credit agreement will terminate and all borrowings will become due and

payable on March 26 2010

On January 18 2007 we completed public offering of 3750000 shares of our common stock at price to

the public of $31.86 per
share We also sold an additional 562500 shares of our common stock to cover over-

allotments of shares Our net proceeds from the offering after payment of all offering expenses and

commissions aggregated approximately $130.4 million We repaid all of the then outstanding borrowings under

our credit facility with portion of the net proceeds from the offering

On November 20 2006 we acquired Psychometric Services Limited PSL provider of online and

paper-based assessment products training and consultancy based in the United Kingdom for approximately $7.5

million in cash and $0.6 million in stock consideration The total cost of the acquisition including legal
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accounting and other professional fees of $0.3 million was approximately $8.4 million In November 2008

approximately $0.7 million held in an escrow was released to the former stockholders of PSL There were no

claims for indemnification made by the Company against PSL under the acquisition agreement The strategic

rationale for acquiring PSL was to add PSL library of content and team of psychologists to extend our value

proposition and to further differentiate us from domain expertise perspective In addition we believe that the

acquisition of PSL advances our efforts to build its international infrastructure while adding an attractive

customer list of commercial and government entities in the United Kingdom

On November 13 2006 we entered into new secured credit facility with PNC Bank N.A as

administrative agent in connection with our acquisition of BrassRing Our obligations under the new credit

facility were secured by substantially all of our assets and the assets of our subsidiaries This credit facility

replaced our prior $25 million revolving credit facility with PNC Bank Under the terms of the credit facility we

borrowed $75 million on November 13 2006 to fund our acquisition of BrassRing

On November 13 2006 we acquired BrassRing provider of talent management solutions for

approximately $114.7 million in cash The total cost of the acquisition including legal accounting and other

professional fees of $3.1 million was approximately $117.8 million In November 2007 approximately

$11.5 million held in an escrow was released to the former stockholders of BrassRing There were no claims for

indemnification made by the Company against BrassRing under the acquisition agreement The strategic

rationale for acquiring BrassRing included expansion of opportunities with large global customers expansion of

global infrastructure and product capabilities and creation of cross-marketing opportunities with our existing

suite of products and services Additionally managements industry expertise and experience were also important

factors for the acquisition of BrassRing

On August 14 2006 we acquired Gantz Wiley Research an employee and customer survey data analysis firm

based in Minneapolis Minnesota for purchase price including contingent consideration of approximately $3.3

million in cash and $3.8 million in stock consideration The total cost of the acquisition including estimated legal

accounting and other professional fees was approximately $7.1 million In addition the payment of $1.3 million in

cash and equity during the first quarter of 2007 to the former shareholder of Gantz Wiley of additional consideration

by the Company was based upon the annual revenues of Gantz Wiley Research through December 31 2006 The

$1.3 million liability was reflected in the financial statements at December 31 2006 In August 2008 approximately

$6.0 million held in an escrow was released to the former stockholders of Gantz Wiley There were no claims for

indemnification made by the Company against Oantz Wiley under the acquisition agreement

On April 10 2006 we acquired Knowledge Workers Inc human capital consulting and technology firm

based in Denver Colorado for approximately $2.5 million in cash The total cost of the acquisition including

estimated legal accounting and other professional fees of $0.1 million was approximately $2.6 million In

April 2008 approximately $1.0 million held in an escrow was released to the former stockholders of Knowledge

Workers There were no claims for indemnification made by the Company against Knowledge Workers under the

acquisition agreement

On March 2006 we completed public offering of 2425000 shares of our common stock at price to

the public of $27.00 per
share We also sold an additional 216800 shares of our common stock to cover over-

allotments of shares Our net proceeds from the offering after payment of all offering expenses
and

commissions aggregated approximately $66.3 million In addition certain of our shareholders sold an aggregate

of 3510700 shares of our common stock in the offering including an over-allotment of 585700 shares We
received no proceeds from the common stock sold by the selling shareholders in this offering

On January 13 2006 we acquired Webhire for approximately $34.4 million in cash The total cost of the

acquisition including legal accounting and other professional fees of $0.7 million was approximately $35.1

million In July 2007 approximately $5.0 million held in an escrow was released to the former stockholders of

Webhire There were no claims for indemnification made by the Company against Webhire under the acquisition

agreement Webhires results of operations were included in the Companys consolidated financial statements

beginning on January 2006
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Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $32.5 million $38.6 million and $18.6 million for the years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Our largest source of operating cash flows is cash collections from our customers following the purchase

and renewal of their software subscriptions Payments from customers for subscription agreements are generally

received near the beginning of the contract term which can vary from one to three years in length We also

generate significant cash from our recruitment services and to lesser extent our consulting services Our

primary uses of cash from operating activities are for personnel related expenditures as well as payments related

to taxes and leased facilities

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31 2008 resulted primarily from

net loss of approximately $104.7 million an increase in deferred tax benefits of $46.5 million and other changes

in working capital of $8.4 million partially offset by non-cash charge to goodwill impairment of $167.0

million other non-cash charges of $20.9 million and deferred revenue of $4.2 million

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31 2007 resulted primarily from net

income of approximately $23.5 million non-cash charges to net income of $12.3 million deferred revenue of

$3.7 million and other changes in working capital of $0.4 million offset by $1.3 million reduction in taxes

payable resulting from our adoption of FAS 123R in 2006

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year
ended December 31 2006 resulted primarily from net

income of approximately $15.9 million non-cash charges to net income of $6.6 million deferred revenue of $4.6

million and other changes in working capital of $5.3 million offset by $2.8 million reduction in taxes payable

resulting from our adoption of FAS 23R in 2006 and an increase in accounts and unbilled receivables of $11.0

million

During 2008 we completed restructuring plan to decrease costs by reducing our workforce across our

organization and by consolidating facilities where the workforce reductions resulted in excess office space This

restructuring plan was designed to decrease costs by reducing our workforce throughout the company by at least

200 positions We recorded restructuring and other charges and have made payments of $2.0 million during fiscal

2008 We expect ongoing annual savings of approximately $15.0 million related to our 2008 restructuring plan

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $18.1 million $86.3 million and $156.1 million for the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Cash flows used in investing activities consisted primarily of

adjustments for earnouts taxes escrow payments acquisitions and additional capital equipment as follows

Scottworks acquisition

Webhire acquisition

Knowledge Workers acquisition

Gantz Wiley Research acquisition

BrassRing acquisition

Psychometrics acquisition

StraightS ource acquisition

HRC acquisition

Quorum acquisition

Cash held in escrow for acquisitions

Intangible asset purchase

Capitalized software and purchases of computer hardware

Purchases of available-for-sale investments

Sales of available-for-sale investments
______ ______ ______

Total Cash flows from investing activities
_____ ______ ______

Years ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

0.1

5.0 27.2

0.1 2.1

0.6 0.7 2.1

11.7 95.6

3.4 0.3 6.7

2.0 9.9

0.2 2.4

27.7

1.6 14.9 17.9

0.3

20.8 12.7 4.2

20.5 133.7

55.7 75.2

18.1 86.3 $156.1
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Financing Activities

Net cash used in provided by financing activities was $29.7 million $42.3 million and $136.4 million

for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

For the
year

ended December 31 2008 net cash used in financing activity resulted primarily from

repurchases of our comn-ion shares of $30.3 million repayments of capital lease obligations and notes payable of

$0.3 million partially offset by net proceeds from stock option exercises of $0.4 million excess tax benefits from

share-based payment arrangements of $0.2 million and share issuance from our employee stock purchase plan of

$0.3 million

For the year ended December 31 2007 net cash provided by financing activity resulted primarily from net

proceeds from our public offering of $130.4 million net proceeds from stock option exercises of $1.6 million

excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements of $1.3 million share issuance from our employee

stock purchase plan of $0.2 million partially offset by deferred financing costs of $0.1 million repayments of

borrowings under our line of credit of $65.0 million repurchases of our common shares of $25.5 million

repayments of capital lease obligations of $0.2 million and net repayments of notes payable of $0.4 million

For the year ended December 31 2006 net cash provided by financing activity resulted primarily from net

proceeds from our public offering of $66.3 million borrowings under our line of credit of $65.0 million net

proceeds from stock option exercises of $4.4 million excess tax benefits from share-based payment

arrangements of $2.8 million partially offset by deferred financing costs of $1.4 million repayments of capital

lease obligations of $0.4 million and net repayments of notes payable of $0.3 million In January 2007 the

Company used portion of the net proceeds of the public offering to repay all outstanding borrowings

We believe that our cash and cash equivalent balances and cash flows from operations will be sufficient to

satisfy our working capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next 12 months We intend to

continue to invest our cash in excess of current operating requirements in interest-bearing investment-grade

securities Changes in our operating plans lower than anticipated revenue increased expenses or other events

may cause us to seek additional debt or equity financing Financing may not be available on acceptable terms or

at all and our failure to raise capital when needed could negatively impact our growth plans and our financial

condition and consolidated results of operations Additional equity financing would be dilutive to the holders of

our common stock and debt financing if available may involve significant cash payment obligations and

covenants or financial ratios that restrict our ability to operate our business
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For the Three Months Ended

December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31 December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31
2008 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 2007

Revenues
unaudited and in thousands except per share data

Subscription revenue 37565 $43031 $43668 $39156 $38733 $38233 $37009 $34687

Other revenue 7493 10995 12773 9051 9015 8564 8155 7530

Total revenues 45058 54026 56441 48207 47748 46797 45164 42217

Cost of revenues 14854 16461 17173 13105 13183 13705 12600 11432

Gross profit 30204 37565 39268 35102 34565 33092 32564 30785

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing 9605 10298 10988 9889 9184

General and administrative 11397 12649 12845 11993 10269

Research and development 2950 3756 4307 4542 4400

Depreciation and amortization 3322 3337 3278 2151 2409

Restructuring charges 1979

Goodwill impairment charge 167011

Total operating expenses 196264 30040 31418 28575 26262
______ ______ ______

Loss income from operations 166060 7525 7850 6527 8303 _______ _______ _______

Interest income expense 179 255 320 641 929
_______ _______ _______

Loss income before income tax 165881 7780 8170 7168 9232

Income tax benefit expense 45026 2356 2205 2394 3269
______ ______ ______

Net loss income $120855 5424 5965 4774 5963
_______ _______ _______

Net loss income per sharebasic 5.36 0.24 0.26 0.20 0.24

Net loss income per

sharediluted 5.36 0.24 0.26 0.20 0.24

Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the Three Months Ended

December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31 December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31
2008 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 2007

Operating expenses
Sales and marketing 21.3%

General and administrative 25.3%

Research and development 6.5%

Depreciation and amortization 7.4%

Restructuring charges 4.4%

Goodwill Impairment charge 370.7%

Total operating expenses 435.6%

Income from operations 368.5%

Interest income expense 0.4%

Income before income tax 368.1%
Income tax benefit expense 99.9%

Net income 268.2%

Unaudited Quarterly Statements of Operations

The following tables present our unaudited quarterly results of operations for each of the eight quarters in

the period ended December 31 2008 and our unaudited quarterly results of operations expressed as percentage

of our subscription and other revenues for the same periods You should read the following tables in conjunction

with our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing in this annual report on Form

10-K We have prepared the unaudited information on basis consistent with our audited consolidated financial

statements and have included all adjustments which in the opinion of management are necessary to fairly

present our operating results for the quarters presented Our historical unaudited quarterly results of operations

are not necessarily indicative of results for any future quarter or for full year

Consolidated Statements of Operations

8816 9094 8230

9625 9765 9672

4717 4297 4323

2269 1477 1430

25427 24633 23655

7665 7931 7130

1072 974 123

8737 8905 7253

1660 3092 2558

7077 5813 4695

0.28 0.23 0.20

0.27 0.23 0.19

Revenues

Subscription revenue 83.4%

Other revenue 16.6%

Total revenues 100.0%

Cost of revenues 33.0%

Gross profit

79.6% 77.4% 81.2% 81.1%

20.4% 22.6% 18.8% 18.9%

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

30.5% 30.4% 27.2% 27.6%

69.5% 69.6% 72.8% 72.4%

19.1% 19.5% 20.5% 19.2%

23.4% 22.8% 24.9% 21.5%

7.0% 7.6% 9.4% 9.2%

6.2% 5.8% 4.5% 5.0%

55.6% 55.7% 59.3% 55.0%

13.9% 13.9% 13.5% 17.4%

0.5% 0.6% 1.3% 1.9%

14.4% 14.5% 14.9% 19.3%

4.4% 3.9% 5.0% 6.8%

10.0% 10.6% 9.9% 12.5%

81.7% 81.9% 82.2%

18.3% 18.1% 17.8%

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

29.3% 27.9% 27.1%

70.7% 72.1% 72.9%

18.8% 20.1% 19.5%

20.6% 21.6% 22.9%

10.1% 9.5% 10.2%

4.8% 3.3% 3.4%

54.3% 54.5% 56.0%

16.4% 17.6% 16.9%

2.3% 2.2% 0.3%

18.7% 19.7% 17.2%

3.5% 6.8% 6.1%

15.1% 12.9% 11.1%
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Comparison of Unaudited Quarterly Results

Revenues

Total revenue increased throughout 2007 and through the second quarter of 2008 due to purchases of our

solutions by new clients purchases of additional solutions by existing clients and contract renewals however as

the economic conditions deteriorated during the latter half of 2008 total revenues declined Based upon current

market conditions we expect subscription-based and other revenues to decrease in 2009 over the prior year due

to greater number of customers delaying or revising the terms and conditions of our service agreements the

strengthening US dollar the loss of RPO customers and loss of consulting engagements

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenue for the quarters presented has fluctuated between 27.1% and 33.0% based on the mix of

sales between subscription revenue and other revenue Cost of revenue was highest as percentage of total

revenue for the three months ended December 31 2008 As our overall revenue begins to decline we expect our

cost of revenue to decline proportionately subject to pricing pressure related to economic conditions and slightly

influenced by the mix of services and software To the extent new customers are added the cost of services as

percentage of revenue will be greater than those services associated with existing customers

Sales and Marketing

Following our acquisitions in 2007 and 2008 sales and marketing increased slightly from approximately

18.8% to 21.3% of our total revenues for those periods During this time sales and marketing expenses have

increased in terms of absolute dollars through the same period as result of increased marketing programs and

variable compensation programs

General and Administration

General and administrative expenses have increased as percentage of revenues from approximately 20.6%

during 2007 to 25.3% in 2008 In absolute dollar terms over the eight quarters presented general and

administrative expenses have increased due to the increasing infrastructure costs associated with larger global

organization

Research and Development

Research and development expenses have decreased as percentage of revenues from 10.2% during 2007 to

6.5% in 2008 due to an increase in capitalized software development costs during 2008

Restructuring charges

During the quarter ended December 31 2008 in response to weakness of our macroeconomic environment

and widespread deterioration in our business climate we announced restructuring program involving staff

reductions of approximately 12% of our workforce which included one-time severance and outplacement benefits

totaling approximately $2.0 million

Goodwill Impairment

During the quarter ended December 31 2008 due to adverse changes in the economic climate 49.5%

decline in our market capitalization from September 30 2008 and downward revision in earnings guidance we

reevaluated our goodwill impairment analysis Pursuant to SFAS No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible

Assets these factors signaled triggering event which required us to determine whether and to what extent our

goodwill may have been impaired as of December 31 2008 Based on the analysis we determined that the

implied fair value of our goodwill was $32.4 million resulting in goodwill impairment charge of $167.0

million in the three months ended December 31 2008 The goodwill impairment charge had no effect on our

cash balances but did cause us to be out of compliance with certain covenants under our credit facility pursuant

to which we did not as of December 31 2008 and do not as of the date of this report have any borrowings

60



Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations at December 31 2008

Payments due by period

Total Less than year 1-3 years 3-5 years More than years

Capital Lease Obligations 272 153 98 21

Operating Lease Obligations 20922 7346 9425 3464 687

Total $21194 $7499 $9523 $3485 $687

The amounts listed above for capital lease obligations represent payments that we are required to make for

equipment If we fail to remain current with our obligations for any of these capital leases we would be in

default and our continued failure to cure such default would cause our remaining obligations under the

defaulted capital lease to become immediately due

The amounts listed above for operating leases represent our leases for office space copiers and other

operating obligations If we fail to make rent payments on any of these operating leases when due we will be

required to pay all remaining rent payments on the leases

We had no off-balance sheet arrangements for the periods presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2008 the FASB issued SFAS 162 The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

SFAS 162 SFAS 162 is intended to improve financial reporting by identifying consistent framework or

hierarchy for selecting the principles used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental entities

that are presented in conformity with GAAP This statement shall be effective 60 days following the Securities

and Exchange Commissions approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Auditing

amendments to AU Section 411 The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity with Generally Accepted

Accounting Principles We are evaluating the impact of this standard and do not expect the adoption of

SFAS 162 to have material impact on the Companys financial statements

In March 2008 the FASB issued SFAS 161 Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging

Activities an amendment of FASB Statement 133 SFAS 161 SFAS 161 amends and expands the disclosure

requirements of SFAS 133 with the intent to provide users of financial statements with an enhanced

understanding of how and why an entity uses derivative instruments ii how derivative instruments and

related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS 133 and its related interpretations and iiihow derivative

instruments and related hedged items affect an entitys financial position financial performance and cash flows

This statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after

November 15 2008 with early application encouraged We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 161 to have

material impact on its financial statements

In December 2007 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued SPAS No 14 1R
Business Combinations FAS 141R and FAS No 160 Accounting and Reporting of Noncontrolling

Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements an amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin No 51 FAS
160 Changes for business combination transactions pursuant to FAS 141R include among others expensing

of acquisition-related transaction costs as incurred the recognition of contingent consideration arrangements at

their acquisition date fair value and capitalization of in-process research and development assets acquired at their

acquisition date fair value Changes in accounting for noncontrolling minority interests pursuant to FAS 160

include among others the classification of noncontrolling interest as component of consolidated shareholders

equity and the elimination of minority interest accounting in results of operations FAS 141R and FAS 160

are required to be adopted simultaneously and are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15

2008 The adoption of FAS 14 1R will impact the accounting for our future acquisitions We do not believe the

adoption of FAS 160 will have material impact on our consolidated financial position results of operations or

cash flows
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On January 2007 we adopted the Financial Accounting Standard Boards Interpretation No 48

Accounting for Income Tax Uncertainties FIN 48 FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertain income tax

positions recognized in financial statements and requires the impact of tax position to be recognized in the

financial statements if that position is more likely than not of being sustained by the taxing authority As of

December 31 2006 and December 31 2007 we had an insignificant amount of unrecognized tax benefits none

of which would materially affect our effective tax rate if recognized We do not expect that the amount of

unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease within the next twelve months Our policy is to

recognize interest and penalties on unrecognized tax benefits in provision for income taxes in the consolidated

statements of operations The amount of interest and penalties for the year ended December 31 2007 was

insignificant Tax years beginning in 2005 are subject to examination by taxing authorities although net

operating loss and credit carryforwards from all
years are subject to examinations and adjustments for at least

three years following the year in which the attributes are used

In September 2006 the FASB issued SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS No 157 clarifies

the principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market participants would use when pricing an

asset or liability and establishes fair-value hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to develop those

assumptions Under SFAS No 157 fair-value measurements would be separately disclosed by level within the

fair-value hierarchy SFAS No 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 We do not

believe the adoption of SFAS No 157 will have material impact on our consolidated financial position results

of operations or cash flows

ITEM 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to adverse changes in

financial market prices and rates Our market risk exposure is primarily result of fluctuations in interest rates

and foreign currency exchange rates We do not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

In 2008 approximately 73.6% of our total revenue was comprised of sales to clients in the United States

key component of our business strategy is to expand our international sales efforts which will expose us to

foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations 30% increase in the value of the U.S dollar during 2008 relative

to each of our non-U.S.-generated sales would have resulted in reduced annual revenues of approximately 5% for

the year ended December 31 2008

The financial position and operating results of our foreign operations are consolidated using the local

currency as the functional currency Local currency assets and liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange to

the U.S dollar on the balance sheet date and the local currency revenue and expenses are translated at average

rates of exchange to the U.S dollar during the period The related translation adjustments to shareholders equity

were decrease of $3.9 million and an increase of $1.4 million during 2008 and 2007 respectively and are

included in other comprehensive income The foreign currency translation adjustment is not adjusted for income

taxes as it relates to an indefinite investment in non-U.S subsidiary

Interest Rate Risk

The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while maximizing income without

significantly increasing risk Some of the securities in which we invest may be subject to market risk This means

that change in prevailing interest rates may cause the principal amount of the investment to fluctuate To

minimize this risk in the future we intend to maintain our portfolio of cash equivalents and short-term

investments in variety of securities including commercial paper money market funds government and

non-government debt securities and certificates of deposit Our cash equivalents which consist solely of money

market funds are not subject to market risk because the interest paid on these funds fluctuates with the prevailing

interest rate We believe that 10% change in interest rates would not have significant effect on our interest

income for the year ended December 31 2008
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Shareholders

Kenexa Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kenexa Corporation and Subsidiaries

collectively Kenexa Corporation Pennsylvania corporation as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the

related consolidated statements of operations shareholders equity and cash flows for each of the two years in

the period ended December 31 2008 These financial statements are the responsibility of the Kenexa

Corporations management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our

audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test

basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our

opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects

the financial position of Kenexa Corporation and Subsidiaries as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the results

of their operations and their cash flows for each of the two years
in the period ended December 31 2008 in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements the Company has adopted Statement of

Financial Accounting Standard SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements and SFAS No 159 the Fair

Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial LiabilitiesIncluding an Amendment of FASB Statement

No 115 on January 2008

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Kenexa Corporations internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based

on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO and our report dated March 16 2009 expressed an

unqualified opinion

Is GRANT THORNTON LLP

Philadelphia PA

March 16 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Shareholders

Kenexa Corporation

Wayne Pennsylvania

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations shareholders equity and cash

flows of Kenexa Corporation and Subsidiaries for the
year

ended December 31 2006 These financial statements

are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these

financial statements and schedules based on our audits

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test

basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting

principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall presentation of

the financial statements and schedules We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects

the results of operations and cash flows of Kenexa Corporation and Subsidiaries for the
year

ended December 31

2006 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

The Company adopted SFAS No 123 revised 2004 Share-based payment in 2006

BDO Seidman LLP

Philadelphia Pennsylvania

March 16 2007
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Kenexa Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets

in thousands except share data

December 31 December 31
2008 2007

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
21742 38032

Short-term investments 4512 58423

Accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $3755 and

$1158 33518 31893

Unbilled receivables 5849 2423

Income tax receivable 1238 2008

Deferred income taxes 4615 2399

Prepaid expenses
and other current assets 3745 3356

Total Current Assets 75219 138534

Long-term investments 16513

Property and equipment net of accumulated depreciation 27360 17620

Software net of accumulated amortization 3840 1557

Goodwill 32366 173502

Intangible assets net of accumulated amortization 13414 10134

Deferred income taxes non-current 39465

Deferred financing costs net of accumulated amortization 364 663

Other long-term assets 9924 5879

Total assets 218465 $347889

Liabilities and Shareholders Equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable
6448 5812

Notes payable current
40 49

Commissions payable
559 1025

Accrued compensation and benefits 4010 8363

Other accrued liabilities 10090 6298

Deferred revenue
38638 35076

Capital lease obligations
143 140

Total current liabilities 59928 56763

Capital lease obligations less current portion
108 94

Notes payable less current portion
41 73

Deferred income taxes 1789 3246

Other liabilities
63 65

Total liabilities 61929 60241

Commitments and Contingencies

Shareholders Equity

Preferred stock par value $0.01 100000 shares authorized no shares issued or

outstanding

Common stock par
value $0.01 100000000 shares authorized 22504924 and

24032446 shares issued and outstanding respectively
225 240

Additional paid-in-capital
269365 291942

Accumulated other comprehensive loss income 2421 1407

Accumulated deficit 110633 5941

Total shareholders equity
156536 287648

Total liabilities and shareholders equity
218465 $347889

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Kenexa Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations

in thousands except share and per share data

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Revenues

Subscription 163420 148662 90470

Other 40312 33264 21637

Total revenues 203732 181926 112107

Cost of revenues 61593 50920 31712

Gross profit 142139 131006 80395

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing 40780 35324 25134
General and administrative 48884 39332 24520
Research and development 15555 17737 8618

Depreciation and amortization 12088 7584 3487

Restructuring charges 1979

Goodwill impairment charge 167011

Total operating expenses 286297 99977 61759

Loss income from operations 144158 31029 18636

Interest income net 1395 3098 1560

Loss income before income taxes 142763 34127 20196
Income tax benefit expense 38071 10579 4303

Net loss income 104692 23548 15893

Basic net loss income per share 4.60 0.94 0.80

Weighted average shares used to compute net loss income per

sharebasic 22779694 24926468 19911775

Diluted net loss income per share 4.60 0.93 0.78

Weighted average shares used to compute net loss income per

sharediluted 22779694 25327004 20425794

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Kenexa Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

in thousands

Year ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss income $104692 23548 15893

Adjustments to reconcile net loss income to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 12088 7584 3487

Non-cash interest expense 22 72

Goodwill impairment charge 167011
Share-based compensation expense 5761 3793 3076
Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements 169 1284 2762
Amortization of deferred financing Costs 299 734 115

Bad debt expense recoveries 2702 329 182
Deferred income benefit taxes 46509 4752 829

Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts and unbilled receivables 294 307 11010
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 243 389 967

Income tax receivable 1238 2008
Other long-term assets 3075 1042 233
Accounts Payable 286 708 1446
Accrued compensation and other accrued liabilities 3824 855 6107
Commissions payable 466 649 787

Deferred revenue 4242 3698 4616
Other liabilities 47 48

Net cash provided by operating activities 32465 38563 18610

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property and equipment 20783 12701 4182
Purchase of available-for-sale securities 20495 133746
Sales of available-for-sale securities 55706 75220
Cash paid for intangible assets 300
Acquisitions net of cash acquired 34174 29959 133678
Cash released from deposited in escrow for acquisitions 1628 14890 17958

Net cash used in investing activities 18118 86296 156118

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayments borrowings under line of credit and term loan 65000 65000

Repayments of notes payable 40 363 422
Collections of notes receivable 120

Proceeds from common stock issued through Employee Stock Purchase Plan 338 251

Repurchase of common stock 30277 25482
Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements 169 1284 2762
Net proceeds from public offering 130398 66281
Deferred financing costs 102 1360
Net proceeds from option exercises 367 1560 4364

Repayment of
capital

lease obligations 232 222 360

Net cash used in provided by financing activities 29675 42324 136385

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 962 939 126

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 16290 4470 997
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 38032 42502 43499

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 21742 38032 42502

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information

Cash paid during the period for

Interest expense 200 821 1050
Income taxes 5089 6564 2442

Non-cash investing and financing activities

Capital lease obligations incurred 260 91 325

Common stock consideration for Gantz Wiley acquisition 3170
Common stock consideration for Psychometric Services Ltd acquisition 627

Common stock consideration for Gantz Wiley earn out 650

Common stock consideration for StaightSource acquisition 1050 3174

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Kenexa Corporation and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

All amounts in thousands except share and per share data unless noted otherwise

Organization

Kenexa Corporation and its subsidiaries collectively the Company or Kenexa commenced operations

in 1987 as provider of recruiting services to wide variety of industries In 1993 the Company offered its first

automated talent management system Between 1994 and 2008 the Company acquired 28 businesses that

enabled it to offer comprehensive human capital management or HCM services integrated with web-based

technology

The Company began its operations in 1987 under its predecessor companies Insurance Services Inc or

1ST and International Holding Company Inc or IHC In December 1999 the Company reorganized its corporate

structure by merging ISI and IHC with and into Raymond Karsan Associates Inc or RKA Pennsylvania

corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Raymond Karsan Holdings Inc or RKH Pennsylvania

corporation Each of RKA and RKH were newly created to consolidate the businesses of ISI and IHC In

April 2000 the Company changed its name to TalentPoint Inc and changed the name of RKA to TalentPoint

Technologies Inc In November 2000 the Company changed its name to Kenexa Corporation and changed the

name of TalentPoint Technologies Inc to Kenexa Technology Inc or Kenexa Technology Currently Kenexa

transacts business primarily through Kenexa Technology While the Company has several product lines our

chief decision makers determine resource allocation decisions and assess and evaluate periodic performance

under one operating segment

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of Kenexa and its subsidiaries

All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with remaining maturities of three months or

less at the time of purchase Cash which is restricted for lease deposits is included in other assets

Cash and cash equivalents in foreign denominated currencies which are held in foreign banks at

December 31 2008 and 2007 totaled $6935 and $11072 and represented 31.9% and 29.1% of our total cash and

cash equivalents balance at the end of each period respectively

Cash balances are maintained at several banks Accounts located in the United States are insured by the

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation FDIC up to $100000 which has been temporarily increased to

$250000 through December 31 2009 Certain operating cash accounts may periodically exceed the FDIC

limits

Short-term Investments

Short-term investments at December 31 2008 include floating rate letter of credit backed securities and

municipal bonds The maturities of these securities
range

from day to year and are rated to AAA by various

rating agencies Short-term investments are recorded at fair value based on current market rates and are classified

as available-for-sale Changes in the fair value are included in accumulated other comprehensive income loss in

the accompanying consolidated financial statements
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Kenexa Corporation and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsContinued

All amounts in thousands except share and per share data unless noted otherwise

Long-term investments

Long-term investments at December 31 2008 include auction rate securities These investments are

recorded at fair value using the discounted cash flow model and are classified as trading securities Changes in

the fair value are included in the statement of operations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements

Both the cost and realized gains and losses of these securities are calculated using the specific identification

method

Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets

Prepaid expenses
and other current assets consist primarily of prepaid software maintenance agreements

deferred implementation costs insurance and other current assets Deferred implementation costs represent

internal payroll and other costs incurred in connection with the customization of the sites associated with our

internet hosting arrangements These costs are deferred over the implementation period which precedes the

hosting period typically three to four months and are expensed ratably when the hosting period commences

typically four to five years

Other long-term assets

Other long-term assets primarily includes cash held in escrow in connection with our acquisitions security

deposits and deferred implementation costs Outstanding amounts are for the years ended December 31 2008 and

2007

Year ended

December 31

2008 2007

Acquisition related escrow balances $1440 $3068

Security deposits 1966 1160

Deferred implementation costs 3314 1290
UBS Settlement Agreement 2219
Other long-term assets 985 361

Total other long-term assets $9924 $5879

As cash is released from escrow accounts as required under our acquisition agreements the amounts are

then accounted for as additional purchase consideration of the respective acquisition

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost Equipment under capital lease is stated at the lower of the fair

market value at the date of acquisition or net present value of the minimum lease payments at inception of the

lease Depreciation and amortization expense are recognized on straight-line basis over the assets estimated

useful lives or if shorter the lease terms for leasehold improvements Estimated useful lives are generally

years for office furniture to years for computer equipment and to years for software Reviews are

regularly performed if facts and circumstances exist that indicate that the carrying amount of assets may not be

recoverable or that the useful life is shorter than originally estimated Costs of maintenance and repairs are

charged to expense as incurred When property and equipment or leasehold improvements are sold or otherwise

disposed of the fixed asset account and related accumulated depreciation account are relieved and any gain or

loss is included in results of operations Costs of software not yet placed into service are accumulated as software

in development Upon placement into service the costs of the assets are transferred to software Construction

costs not yet placed into service are accumulated as building construction in
progress Upon placement into

service the costs of the assets are transferred to building In January 2008 the building was placed into service

and accordingly all costs of the building have been transferred out of construction in progress The Building is

being depreciated over 30 years
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Kenexa Corporation and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsContinued

All amounts in thousands except share and per share data unless noted otherwise

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company records an allowance for doubtful accounts based on specifically identified amounts that

management believes to be uncollectible The Company also records an additional allowance based on certain

percentages of aged receivables which is determined based on historical experience and managements assessment

of the general financial conditions affecting the Companys customer base If actual collections experience changes

revisions to the allowance may be required Activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows

Balance at Charged Acquired Recoveries Balance at

Year January costs reserves Write offs December 31

2008 $1158 $2702 $105 $3755

2007 975 329 146 1158

2006 448 405 304 182 975

Software Developed for Internal Use

In accordance with EITF 00-3 Application of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2 to Arrangements That

Include the Right to Use Software Stored on Another Entitys Hardware the Company applies AICPA

Statement of Position No 98-1 Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for

Internal Use The costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development are expensed as incurred Once an

application has reached the development stage internal and external costs if direct and incremental are

capitalized until the software is substantially complete and ready for its intended use Capitalization ceases upon

completion of all substantial testing The Company also capitalizes costs related to specific upgrades and

enhancements when it is probable the expenditures will result in additional functionality Maintenance and

training costs are expensed as incurred Internal use software is amortized on straight-line basis over its

estimated useful life generally three years Management evaluates the useful lives of these assets on an annual

basis and tests for impairments whenever events or changes in circumstances occur that could impact the

recoverability of these assets There were no impairments to internal software in any of the periods covered in

these consolidated financial statements

The Company capitalized internal-use software costs for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and

2006 of $8137 $3321 and $1954 respectively Amortization of capitalized internal-use software costs for the

years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was $1629 $1163 and $1291 respectively

Goodwill

On January 2002 the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 142

Goodwill and Other intangible Assets SFAS 142 which superseded Accounting Principles Board Opinion

No 17 Intangible Assets Upon adoption of SFAS 142 the Company ceased amortization of existing goodwill

and is required to annually review the carrying value of goodwill for impairment Prior to 2007 the Company

evaluated the carrying value of its goodwill under two reporting units within its single segment During 2007 the

Company combined those two reporting units into single reporting unit to be in alignment with its

organizational and management structure which was evaluated and restructured as part of the integration of our

acquired businesses As result of the change the Company now evaluates goodwill at the enterprise or

Company level

Due to adverse changes in the economic climate 49.5% decline in the Companys market capitalization from

September 30 2008 our annual testing date through December 31 2008 and downward revision in earnings

guidance the Company reevaluated its goodwill impairment analysis during the quarter ended December 31 2008

Pursuant to SFAS No 142 these factors represented triggering event which requires the determination as to

whether and to what extent the Companys goodwill may have been impaired as of December 31 2008

72



Kenexa Corporation and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsContinued

All amounts in thousands except share and per share data unless noted otherwise

The first step of this analysis requires the estimation of fair value of the Company and is calculated

primarily based on the observable market capitalization with range of estimated control premiums as well as

discounted future estimated cash flows This step yielded an estimated fair value of the Company which was less

than the Companys carrying value including goodwill at December 31 2008 The next step entails performing

an analysis to determine whether the carrying amount of goodwill on the Companys balance sheet exceeds its

implied fair value The implied fair value of the Companys goodwill for this step was determined in similar

manner as goodwill recognized in business combination That is the estimated fair value of the Company was

allocated to its assets and liabilities including any unrecognized identifiable intangible assets as if the Company
had been acquired in hypothetical business combination with the estimated fair value of the Company
representing the price paid to acquire it The allocation process performed on the test date was only for purposes

of determining the implied fair value of goodwill with no assets or liabilities written up or down nor any

additional unrecognized identifiable intangible assets recorded as part of this process Based on the analysis

management recorded goodwill impairment charge of $167011 for the quarter and year ended December 31
2008 The goodwill impairment charge had no effect on the Companys cash balances

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill which include adjustments for earnouts taxes and escrow

adjustments and acquisitions for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 and 2006 are as follows

Balance as of December 31 2005 8815

Acquisitions or adjustments

ScottWorks 30

Webhire 26564

Knowledge Workers 2474
Gantz Wiley Research 5573

BrassRing 93104

Psychometrics Services Ltd 6811

Balance as of December 31 2006 143371

Acquisitions or adjustments

Webhire 7942
Knowledge Workers 796
Gantz Wiley Research 81
BrassRing 13059

Psychometrics Services Ltd 516

StraightSource 2007 acquisition 5700
HRC Human Resources Consulting GmbH 2007 acquisition 3791

Balance as of December 31 2007 173502

Acquisitions or adjustments

ScottWorks 85

Webhire 311

Knowledge Workers 100

Gantz Wiley Research 398

BrassRing 121
Psychometrics Services Ltd 3383
StraightSource 6051

HRC Human Resources Consulting GmbH 330

Quorum 2008 acquisition 15338

Impairment charge 167011

Balance as of December 31 2008 32366
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Intangible Assets

Intellectual property and non-compete agreements intangible assets are amortized on straight-line basis

over their estimated useful lives or contract periods generally ranging from to 20 years The increase in

customer lists during the year ended December 31 2008 was due to the acquisition of Quorum see Note

Acquisitions The amounts were based in part on an analysis of the incremental cash flows expected to be

derived from the customer lists using historic retention rates and an appropriate discount rate Accumulated

amortization of intangible assets was $9443 $4091 and $1688 as of December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively Amortization expense related to these intangible assets was $5168 $2412 and $175 for 2008 2007

and 2006 respectively

Intangible Assets that are subject to amortization at December 31 2008 and 2007 consist of the following

Weighted

Gross Carrying Accumulated
Amortizafion

Value Amortization
Period

Description
2008 2007 2008 2007 in years

CustomerLists $21115 $12884 $7764 $2820 7.8

Trademarks 91 91 27 21 12.9

Fully Amortized Intangibles 1652 1250 1652 1250

Total $22858 $14225 $9443 $4091 7.8

Estimated amortization expense for each of the next five years is as follows

Amortization

Year Ending December 31 Expense

2009 $4383

2010 2994

2011 2023

2012 1404

2013 1031

Impairment of Long Lived Assets

In connection with the Companys goodwill impairment analysis at December 31 2008 the Company

evaluated its long-lived assets including certain identifiable intangible assets for potential impairment by

comparing the carrying amount of any asset to future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset

pursuant to SFAS No 144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal ofLong-LivedAssets SFAS 144
and determined that no such assets were impaired Given the general current economic climate it is possible that

the estimated future cash flows of the asset groupings will be reduced which may result in an impairment in

future periods If such assets are considered to be impaired the impairment is measured by the amount by which

the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets
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Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenue from two sources subscription revenue for solutions which is

comprised of subscription fees from clients accessing our on-demand software consulting services outsourcing

services and proprietary content and from clients purchasing additional support beyond the standard support that

is included in the basic subscription fee and other fees for discrete professional services Because the

Company provides its solution as service the Company follows the provisions of Securities and Exchange

Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No 101 Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements as amended by

Staff Accounting Bulletin No 104 Revenue Recognition On August 2003 the Company adopted Emerging

Issues Task Force Issue No 00-21 Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables The Company recognizes

revenue when all of the following conditions are met

There is persuasive evidence of an arrangement

The service has been provided to the client

The collection of the fees is probable and

The amount of fees to be paid by the client is fixed or determinable

Subscription fees and support revenues are recognized on monthly basis over the lives of the contracts

Amounts that have been invoiced are recorded in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenue

depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met

Discrete professional services and other revenues when sold with subscription and support offerings are

accounted for separately since these services have value to the customer on stand-alone basis and there is

objective and reliable evidence of fair value of the delivered elements The Companys arrangements do not

contain general rights of return Additionally when professional services are sold with other elements the

consideration from the revenue arrangement is allocated among the separate elements based upon the relative fair

value Professional services and other revenues are recorded as follows Consulting revenues are recognized upon

completion of the contracts that are of short duration generally less than 60 days and as the services are

rendered for contracts of longer duration

In determining whether revenues from professional services can be accounted for separately from

subscription revenue the Company considers the following factors for each agreement availability from other

vendors whether objective and reliable evidence of fair value exists of the undelivered elements the nature and

the timing of when the agreement was signed in comparison to the subscription agreement start date and the

contractual dependence of the subscription service on the clients satisfaction with the other services If the

professional service does not qualify for separate accounting the Company recognizes the revenue ratably over

the remaining term of the subscription contract In these situations the Company defers the direct and incremental

costs of the professional service over the same period as the revenue is recognized

Deferred revenue represents payments received or accounts receivable from the Companys clients for

amounts billed in advance of subscription services being provided

The Company records expenses billed to clients in accordance with Out-of-Pocket Expenses Incurred

EITF 01-14 which requires that reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses be classified as

revenues and not as cost reductions Before the effective date of EITF 01-14 out-of-pocket reimbursements from

clients were netted with the applicable costs These items primarily include travel meals and certain

telecommunication costs For the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 reimbursed expenses totaled

$4700 $3469 and $1915 respectively
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Income Taxes

The Company files consolidated income tax return with its subsidiaries for federal tax purposes and on

various bases depending on applicable taxing statutes for state and local as well as foreign tax purposes Deferred

income taxes are provided using the asset and liability method for temporary differences between the financial

statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year
in which the

differences are expected to reverse Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax

assets to the amounts which are more likely than not expected to be realized

Other Taxes

Non-income taxes such as sales and value-added tax are presented on net basis on the statement of

operations

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred Advertising costs for the years ended December 31 2008

2007 and 2006 were $670 $554 and $220 respectively

Self-Insurance

The Company is self-insured for the majority of its health insurance costs including claims filed and claims

incurred but not reported subject to certain stop loss provisions The Company estimated the liability based upon

managements judgment and historical experience At December 31 2008 and 2007 self-insurance accruals

totaled $560 and $355 respectively Management continuously reviews the adequacy of the Companys stop
loss

insurance coverage Material differences may result in the amount and timing of health insurance expense if

actual experience differs significantly from managements estimates

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially expose the Company to concentration of credit risk consist

primarily of accounts receivable Credit risk arising from receivables is mitigated due to the large number of

clients comprising the Companys client base and their dispersion across various industries The Company does

not require collateral The clients are concentrated primarily in the Companys U.S market area At

December 31 2008 there were no clients that represented more than 10% of the net accounts receivable balance

There were no clients that individually exceeded 10% of the Companys revenues

Cash balances are maintained at several banks Accounts located in the United States are insured by the

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation FDIC up to $100000 which has been temporarily increased to

$250000 through December 31 2009 Certain operating cash accounts may periodically exceed the FDIC

limits

401k Plan

The Company sponsors 40 1k defined contribution plan which is available for participation to all eligible

employees Company contributions to the plan are subject to the board of directors election to make

contribution each year Company contributions if elected by the board of directors are allocated to the

participants accounts based upon the percentage of each participants
contributions to the plan during the given

year to the total of all participant contributions For the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 the

Companys board of directors elected to make matching contribution of $655 and $1031 or 20% and 50% of

employee contributions respectively For the year
ended December 31 2008 matching contribution was not

elected
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Loss Earnings Per Share

The Company follows SFAS 128 Earnings Per Share Under SFAS 128 companies that are publicly

held or have complex capital structures are required to present basic and diluted earnings per share on the face of

the statement of operations Loss earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares and

common stock equivalents outstanding during the period In the calculation of diluted earnings per share shares

outstanding are adjusted to assume conversion of the Companys non-interest bearing convertible stock and the

exercise of options and warrants if they are dilutive In the calculation of basic earnings per share weighted

average numbers of shares outstanding are used as the denominator The Company had net income available to

shareholders for the periods ended December 31 2007 and 2006 and net loss applicable to shareholders for the

period ended December 31 2008 As result the common stock equivalents of stock options issued and

outstanding totaling 150629 shares at December 31 2008 were not included in the computation of diluted

earnings per
share for the period then ended as they were antidilutive The computation of common stock

equivalents excluded options to purchase 608800 and 109000 shares of common stock for the
years

ended

December 31 2007 and 2006 respectively as their effect was antidilutive Options to purchase shares of

common stock and restricted stock included in computation of common stock equivalents for the years ended

December 31 2007 and 2006 totaled 400536 and 514019 respectively

Net loss income per share is computed as follows

Twelve Months Ended December31

2008 2007 2006

Numerator

Net loss income 104692 23548 15893

Denominator

Weighted average shares used to compute net loss income per

common sharebasic 22779694 24926468 19911775

Effect of dilutive stock options and warrants 400536 514019

Weighted average shares used to compute net loss income per

common sharedilutive 22779694 25327004 20425794

Basic net loss income per share 4.60 0.94 0.80

Diluted net loss income per share 4.60 0.93 0.78

Share-based Compensation Expense

On January 2006 we adopted SFAS No 123R using the Modified Prospective Approach MPA The

MPA requires that compensation expense
be recorded for restricted stock and all unvested stock options as of

January 2006 Following the adoption we recognized the cost of previously granted share-based awards under

the straight-line basis over the remaining vesting period The compensatation expense for new share-based

awards with service condition that cliff vest is recognized on straight-line basis over the awards requisite

service period For those awards with service condition that have graded vest compensation expense is

calculated using the graded-vesting attribution method This method entails recognizing expense on straight-

line basis over the requisite service period for each separately vesting portion as if the grant consisted of multiple

awards each with the same service inception date but different requisite service periods This method accelerates

the recognition of compensation expense The pool of excess tax benefits available to absorb tax deficiencies was

determined using the alternative transition method described in FSP FAS 123R-3

The fair value of market based performance vesting share awards granted is calculated using Monte Carlo

valuation model that results in factor applied to the fair market value of the Companys common stock on the

77



Kenexa Corporation and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsContinued

All amounts in thousands except share and per share data unless noted otherwise

date of the grant measurement date and is recognized over four year explicit service period using the straight--

line method Since the award requires both the completion of years of service and the share price reaching

predetermined levels as defined in the option agreement compensation cost will be recognized over the year

explicit service period If the employee terminates prior to the four-year requisite service period compensation

cost will be reversed even if the market condition has been satisfied by that time

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts of assets and liabilities disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial

statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period Actual results could

differ from those estimates and such differences may be material to the companys consolidated financial

statements

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Companys financial assets and liabilities including cash and cash equivalents

accounts receivable and accounts payable at December 31 2008 and 2007 approximate fair value of these

instruments

Foreign Currency Translation

The financial position and operating results of the Companys foreign operations are consolidated using the

local currency as the functional currency Local currency assets and liabilities are translated at the rate of

exchange to the U.S dollar on the balance sheet date and the local currency revenues and expenses are translated

at average rates of exchange to the U.S dollar during the period The related translation adjustments are reported

in the shareholders equity section of the balance sheet and resulted in net reduction in shareholders equity of

$3861 for the year ended December 31 2008 and net increase in shareholders equity of $1415 for the year

ended December 31 2007 The foreign currency translation adjustment is not adjusted for income taxes as it

relates to an indefinite investment in non-U.S subsidiary

Comprehensive Loss Income

Comprehensive loss income consists of losses or gains on foreign currency
translations and unrealized

losses and gains on available-for-sale investment securities in addition to reported net loss income

Guarantees

The Companys software license agreements typically provide for indenmifications of customers for

intellectual property infringement claims The Company also warrants to customers when requested that the

Companys software products operate substantially in accordance with standard specifications for limited

period of time The Company has not incurred significant obligations under customer indemnification or

warranty provisions historically and does not expect to incur significant obligations in the future Accordingly

the Company does not maintain accruals for potential customer indemnification or warranty-related obligations

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in prior calendar years have been reclassified to conform with the presentation adopted in

the current calendar year
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Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements

On January 2007 we adopted Financial Accounting Standard Board Interpretation No 48 Accounting

for Income Tax Uncertainties FIN 48 FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertain income tax positions

recognized in financial statements and requires the impact of tax position to be recognized in the financial

statements if that position is more likely than not of being sustained by the relevant taxing authority As of

December 31 2006 we had an insignificant amount of unrecognized tax benefits none of which would

materially affect our effective tax rate if recognized We do not expect that the amount of unrecognized tax

benefits will significantly increase or decrease within the next twelve months Our policy is to recognize interest

and penalties on unrecognized tax benefits in the provision for income taxes in the consolidated statements of

operations Tax years begiiming in 2004 are subject to examination by taxing authorities although net operating

loss and credit carryforwards from all
years are subject to examinations and adjustments for at least three years

following the
year

in which the attributes are used

As of January 2007 unrecognized tax benefits totaled $234 which was recorded as purchase price

adjustment and an increase to goodwill As result of the implementation of FIN 48 our tax liabilities increased

$18 which was expensed to tax expense for year ended December 31 2007 Our January 2007 tax liabilities

include $89 of interest related to the adoption of FIN 48 It is not expected that the amount of unrecognized tax

benefits will change in the next 12 months Although the Company will continue to evaluate the application of

FIN 48 management does not currently believe that FIN 48 will have material impact on the Companys results

of operations or financial position

In September 2006 the FASB issued SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurement SFAS 157 SFAS 157

defines fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value and also expands disclosures about fair

value measurements SFAS 157 is effective for periods beginning after November 15 2007 The Company

adopted this standard with respect to its financial assets effective January 2008 In February 2008 the FASB

issued FASB Staff Position SFAS No 157-2Effective Date of FASB Statement No 157 delaying the

effective date of SFAS 157 for one year for all non financial assets and non financial liabilities except those that

are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on recurring basis at least annually See

Footnote of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further detail regarding the impact of our

adoption of SFAS 157 for financial assets

In February 2007 the FASB issued FASB Statement No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets

and Financial LiabilitiesIncluding an Amendment of FASB Statement No 115 SFAS 159 SFAS 159

permits the Company to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value The

Company adopted SFAS 159 as of January 2008 As the Company already measures its financial instruments

at fair value the Company did not make any fair value elections during the current period Therefore the

adoption of SFAS 159 did not impact the Companys consolidated financial statements

New Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2008 the FASB issued SFAS 161 Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging

Activities an amendment of FASB Statement 133 SFAS 161 SFAS 161 amends and expands the disclosure

requirements of SFAS 133 with the intent to provide users of financial statements with an enhanced

understanding of How and why an entity uses derivative instruments iiHow derivative instruments and

related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS 133 and its related interpretations and iiiHow derivative

instruments and related hedged items affect an entitys financial position financial performance and cash flows

This statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after

November 15 2008 with early application encouraged The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 161

to have material impact on its financial statements

79



Kenexa Corporation and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsContinued

All amounts in thousands except share and per share data unless noted otherwise

In May 2008 the FASB issued SFAS 162 The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

SFAS 162 SFAS 162 is intended to improve financial reporting by identifying consistent framework or

hierarchy for selecting the principles used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental entities

that are presented in conformity with GAAP This statement shall be effective 60 days following the Securities

and Exchange Commissions approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Auditing

amendments to AU Section 411 The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity with Generally Accepted

Accounting Principles The Company is evaluating the impact of this standard and does not expect the adoption

of SFAS 162 to have material impact on the Companys financial statements

In December 2007 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued SFAS No 141R
Business Combinations FAS 14 1R and SFAS No 160 Accounting and Reporting of Noncontrolling

Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements an amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin No 51 FAS
160 Changes for business combination transactions pursuant to FAS 141R include among others expensing

of acquisition-related transaction costs as incurred the recognition of contingent consideration arrangements at

their acquisition date fair value and capitalization of in-process research and development assets acquired at their

acquisition date fair value Changes in accounting for noncontrolling minority interests pursuant to FAS 160

include among others the classification of noncontrolling interest as component of consolidated shareholders

equity and the elimination of minority interest accounting in results of operations FAS 141R and FAS 160

are required to be adopted simultaneously and are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15

2008 The adoption of FAS 141R will impact the accounting for the Companys future acquisitions We do not

believe the adoption of FAS 160 will have material impact on our consolidated financial position results of

operations or cash flows

Investments

Short-term investments

The following is summary of our short-term available-for-sale investments at December 31 2008

Gross Fair

Unrealized Accrued Market

Cost Gains Interest Value

Short-term investments

Municipal securities $4510 $32 $34 $4512

Unrealized gains and losses from fixed-income securities are primarily attributable to changes in interest

rates Management does not believe any unrealized losses represent an other-than-temporary impairment based

on our evaluation of available evidence as of December 31 2008 At December 31 2008 contractual maturities

of our short-term investments were one year or less
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The following is summary of our short-term available-for-sale investments at December 31 2007

Gross Gross Fair

Unrealized Unrealized Market

Cost Gains Losses Value

Short-term investments

Municipal securities $28627 $106 $28523

Auction market securities 29900 29900

Total short-term investments $58527 $2 $106 $58423

Unrealized losses from fixed-income securities are primarily attributable to changes in interest rates

Management does not believe any unrealized losses represent an other-than-temporary impairment based on our

evaluation of available evidence as of December 31 2007

Long-term investments

During the
year

ended December 31 2008 the Company experienced failed auctions for thirteen tax exempt

auction rate securities ARS issues representing principal and accrued interest of $16513 Nine of these ARS

are guaranteed by the Family Federal Educational Loan Program with the remainder being insured by private

issuers Due to the uncertainty surrounding the ability to liquidate its ARS issues over the next twelve months

the Company has reclassified these investments to long-term assets as of December 31 2008 These securities

will continue to accrue interest at the contractual rate and will be auctioned every 90 days until sold

The auction rate securities which have par value of $18575 were acquired through UBS AG Due to the

failure of the auction rate market in early 2008 UBS AG and other major banks entered into discussions with

government agencies to provide liquidity to owners of auction rate securities In November 2008 we entered into

an agreement the Agreement with UBS AG which provides us with no net cost loan up to the
par

value of Eligible ARS until June 30 2010 and us the right to sell these auction rate securities back to UBS

AG at par at our sole discretion anytime during the period from June 30 2010 through July 2012 and

UBS AG the right to purchase these auction rate securities or sell them on our behalf at par anytime through

July 2012 We elected to measure value of our option to put the securities to UBS AG under the fair value

option of SFAS No 159 recording income of approximately $2219 pre-tax and corresponding long-term asset

as of December 31 2008 The settlement agreements valuation at December 31 2008 was based in part on an

expected life of eighteen months and discount rate of 3.79% Simultaneously we transferred these auction rate

securities from available-for-sale to trading investment securities As result of this transfer we recognized an

other-than-temporary impairment loss of approximately $2219 pre-tax reflecting reversal of the related

temporary valuation allowance that was previously recorded in other comprehensive loss The recording of this

income and the recognition of the other-than-temporary impairment loss resulted in no material impact to our

consolidated statement of operations for the
year

ended December 31 2008

The Company adjusted the fair value of its ARS investment portfolio using discounted cash flow model to

determine the estimated fair value of its ARS investments as of December 31 2008 The assumptions used in

preparing the discounted cash flow model include level three inputs as defined in SFAS No 157 Fair Value

Measurements and are presented in the following table

Input description Amounts

Maximum auction rate interest rate 1.40%

Liquidity risk premium 6.00%

Probability of earned maximum rate until maturity 0.0 1%

Probability of default 11.17%
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Based on the results of the discounted cash flow analysis the Company determined that the fair value of its

investment in ARS should be discounted approximately $2219 to $16513 at December 31 2008 however any

other-than temporary impairment in the fair value of the ARS has been offset substantially by the fair value

recognized for the rights provided in the settlement agreement

The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 157 effective January 2008 Under this standard fair value

is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly

transaction between market participants at the measurement date

The Company has investments that are valued in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 157 SFAS 157

establishes hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and

minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available

The hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on the reliability of inputs as follows

Level 1Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets that the Company has

the ability to access

Level 2Valuations based inputs on other than quoted prices included within level for which all

significant inputs are observable either directly or indirectly

Level 3Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value

measurement

On December 31 2008 the fair value for the Companys investments was determined based upon the inputs

presented below

Quoted prices in

active markets Significant other Significant

for identical observable unobservable

Description Total assets Level inputs Level inputs Level

Municipal Bonds 4512 $4512

Auction rate securities 16513 16513

Total investments $21025 $4512 $16513

reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for the auction rate securities using significant

unobservable inputs Level for the period ended December 31 2008 is presented below

Auction rate

securities

Balance at December 31 2007 29900

Total net realized losses

Included in earnings 1191
Purchases issuances and settlements 12196

Balance at December 31 2008 16513

Based on the size of this investment the Companys ability to access cash and other short-term investments

and expected operating cash flows the Company does not anticipate the illiquidity of this investment will affect

its operations
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Acquisitions

Quorum International Holdings Limited

On April 2008 the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of Quorum International Holdings

Limited Quorum provider of recruitment
process outsourcing services based in London England for

purchase price of approximately $27950 in cash of which $19753 was paid in April 2008 and $8197 was paid

in July 2008 The total cost of the acquisition including legal accounting and other professional fees of $664

was approximately $28614 including acquired intangibles of $8633 with estimated useful lives between and

10 years In addition the acquisition agreement contains an earn out provision which provides for the payment of

additional consideration by the Company based upon the gross profit of Quorum for the twelve month period

ending June 30 2009 and June 30 2010 Formulaically the earnout is 3.86 times Quorums gross profit less the

amount of base consideration as defined in the agreement Pursuant to SFAS 141 Business Combinations the

Company accrues contingent purchase consideration when the outcome of the contingency is determinable

beyond reasonable doubt As of December 31 2008 the June 30 2009 and June 30 2010 earnout amounts

were substantially uncertain as such the estimated earn out range is not possible to disclose The Company

evaluates the earnout provisions contained in the acquisition agreement at each financial statement reporting

date In connection with the acquisition $780 of the purchase price was deposited into an escrow account and

recorded in other long-term assets to cover any claims for indemnification made by the Company against

Quorum under the acquisition agreement The escrow agreement will remain in place for approximately two

years from the acquisition date and any funds remaining in the escrow account at the end of the two year period

will be distributed to the former stockholders of Quorum The Company expects that the acquisition of Quorum

will broaden our presence in the global recruitment market The purchase price has been allocated on

preliminary basis to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon managements best estimate of fair

value with any excess over the net tangible and intangible assets acquired allocated to goodwill In accordance

with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No 141 the purchase price and related purchase price

allocation may be updated to reflect changes such as any additional transaction fees or the finalization of the

valuation of assets acquired or liabilities assumed Quorums results of operations were included in the

Companys consolidated financial statements beginning on April 2008

HRC Human Resources Consulting GmbH

On August 20 2007 the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of HRC Human Resources

Consulting GmbH HRC consultancy for business-orientated employee surveys based in Munich

Germany for purchase price of approximately $3757 in cash The total cost of the acquisition including legal

accounting and other professional fees of $529 was approximately $4286 In connection with the acquisition

$410 of the cash portion of the purchase price was deposited into an escrow account and recorded in other long-

term assets to cover any claims for indemnification made by the Company against HRC under the acquisition

agreement The escrow agreement will remain in place for approximately five years from the acquisition date

and any funds remaining in the escrow account at the end of the five year period will be distributed to the former

stockholders of HRC The acquisition of HRC will provide the Company with presence in Germany and

enhance its expansion into European countries The purchase price has been allocated to the assets acquired and

liabilities assumed based upon managements best estimate of fair value with any excess over the net tangible

and intangible assets acquired allocated to goodwill HRCs results of operations were included in the

Companys consolidated financial statements beginning on August 20 2007

StraightSource

On June 2007 the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of Strategic Outsourcing Corporation

StraightSource provider of recruitment process outsourcing services based in Richardson Texas for

purchase price including contingent consideration of approximately $12150 in cash and $4224 in stock
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consideration The total cost of the acquisition including legal accounting and other professional fees of $40

was approximately $16414 including acquired intangibles of $7963 with estimated useful lives between 2.5

and years In addition the acquisition agreement contains an earnout provision which provides for the payment

of additional consideration to the former shareholders of StraightSource by the Company based upon the annual

revenues and net income of StraightSource for each of the years ended December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 An

earnout of $1200 relating to annual revenues for 2009 is payable if StraightSource achieves total annual revenue

net of reimbursable expenses of $9500 An earnout ranging between $1200 to $2400 for net income is

dependent upon 20% and 30% growth as defined in the agreement in net income from the prior year Based

upon the results for the year ended December 31 2007 $2100 of additional consideration was earned by the

former shareholders of StraightSource Pursuant to SPAS 141 Business Combinations additional

consideration will be accrued when the outcome of the contingency is determinable beyond reasonable doubt

During the quarter ended March 31 2008 an additional $2100 was earned based upon the 2007 results since

the outcome of the contingency was determinable beyond reasonable doubt Both amounts totaling $4200 were

paid in cash and common stock during the first quarter of 2008 Based upon the results for the year ended

December 31 2008 additional consideration of $3000 was earned and paid in cash during the first quarter of

2009 to the former shareholders of StraightSource The related liability was accrued for the financial statements

at December 31 2008 In connection with the acquisition $1200 of the cash portion of the purchase price was

deposited into an escrow account and recorded in other long-term assets to cover any claims for indemnification

made by the Company against StraightSource under the acquisition agreement The escrow agreement will

remain in place for three years from the acquisition date and any funds remaining in the escrow account at the

end of the three year period will be distributed to the former stockholders of StraightSource The acquisition of

StraightSource provides additional efficiencies to our exempt and non-exempt recruitment offerings and expands

our distribution capabilities in the Southwest market The purchase price has been allocated to the assets acquired

and liabilities assumed based upon managements best estimate of fair value with any excess over the net

tangible and intangible assets acquired allocated to goodwill StraightSources results of operations were

included in the Companys consolidated financial statements beginning on June 2007
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Property Equipment and Software

summary of property equipment and software and related accumulated depreciation and amortization as

of December 31 2008 and 2007 is as follows

December 31

2008 2007

Equipment $15112 $11667

Software 13999 10945

Office furniture and fixtures 2370 1791

Leasehold improvements 2744 1575

Land 643 752

Building 6771

Building construction in progress 4881

Software in development 7185 2960

48824 34571

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 17624 15394

$31200 $19177

Depreciation and amortization expense
is excluded from cost of revenues

Equipment and office furniture and fixtures included assets under capital leases totaling $2612 and $2590

at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively Depreciation and amortization expense including amortization of

assets under capital leases was $6920 $5172 and $3312 for the
years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and

2006 respectively

Contemporaneous with its goodwill impairment analysis as result of the Companys market capitalization

being less than stockholders equity at December 31 2008 the Company also reviewed its fixed assets and

determined that the fair value exceeded the carrying value pursuant to SFAS 144 and therefore did not record

any fixed asset impairment

Other Accrued Liabilities

Other accrued liabilities consist of the following

December 31

2008 2007

Accrued professional fees 131 70

Straight line rent accrual 1904 932

Other taxes payable
450 973

Income taxes payable 3549 818

Other liabilities 1056 1405

Contingent purchase price 3000 2100

Total other accrued liabilities $10090 $6298
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Line of Credit

As result of its goodwill impairment charge the Company was not in compliance with certain financial

covenants under its current line of credit as of December 31 2008 The Company is currently evaluating the cost

of waiver agreement and is considering renegotiating the credit facility for an additional term If unable to

negotiate satisfactory agreement for the credit facility waiver the Company will lose its credit facility and all

access to previously available credit under the line of credit facility This could negatively impact our financial

condition and liquidity in the future

On November 13 2006 the Company entered into secured credit agreement with PNC Bank N.A the

Credit Agreement as administrative agent in connection with its acquisition of BrassRing The secured

Credit Agreement increased the maximum amount available under the credit facility from $25000 to $75000

including sublimit of up to $2000 for letters of credit Borrowings under the new credit facility are secured by

substantially all of the Companys assets and the assets of its subsidiaries This Credit Agreement replaced the

prior $25000 revolving Credit Agreement with PNC Bank In connection with this agreement the Company
borrowed $65000 under the credit facility for the acquisition of BrassRing in November 2006

In January 2007 the Company repaid the balance of its obligations relating to the term loan portion of the

Credit Agreement with the net proceeds from the Companys public offering of its common stock The

Amendment provides that the Credit Agreement will terminate and all borrowings will become due and payable

on March 26 2010 The Company and each of the U.S subsidiaries of Kenexa Technology are guarantors of the

obligations of Technology under the Credit Agreement as amended by the Amendment

On March 26 2007 the Company entered into First Amendment to Credit Agreement the Amendment
with PNC Bank N.A The Amendment increased the maximum amount available under the revolving credit

facility portion of the Credit Agreement from $25000 to $50000 including sublimit of up to $2000 for letters

of credit

The Companys borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at tiered rates based upon the ratio of

Net Funded Debt to EBITDA as defined in the Third Amendment The Company may also elect interest rates on

its borrowings calculated by reference to LIBOR plus margin based upon the ratio of its Net Funded Debt to

EBITDA ratio Interest on LIBOR borrowings is calculated on an actuaIJ36O day basis and is paid on the last day

of each interest period LIBOR advances are available for periods of 123 or months LIBOR pricing is

adjusted for any statutory reserves

Borrowings under the Revolver are collateralized generally by all of the Companys assets including

pledge of the capital stock of its subsidiaries The Credit Agreement contains various terms and covenants that

provide for restrictions on capital expenditures payment of dividends dispositions of assets investments and

acquisitions and require the Company among other things to maintain minimum levels of tangible net worth net

income and fixed charge coverage As of and for the year ended December 31 2008 the Company had no

borrowings or the ability to borrow under this Credit Agreement
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Income Taxes

The components of income tax benefit expense
for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

consisted of the following

December 31

2008 2007 2006

Current

Federal 4542 4866 4646

Foreign
2777 308 177

State and local 616 422 664

Total current 7935 5596 5487

Deferred

Federal $39325 3517 427

Foreign 696 836 574
State and local 5985 630 183

Total deferred 46006 4983 1184

Total income tax benefit provision $38071 $10579 4303

reconciliation of the Companys effective income tax rate to the U.S statutory federal income tax rate of

35% for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 is as follows

December 31

2008 2007 2006

U.S statutory federaltax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Foreign tax differential 1.9% 1.5% 2.8%

Domestic production deduction 0.5%

Nondeductible goodwill impairment 12.1%

State income taxes 2.4% 2.0% 2.4%

Officers life insurance 0.1% 0.2%

Other nondeductible expenses
0.1% 0.7% 0.5%

Change in valuation allowance 0.5% 4.7%

Research and development credit 0.4% 2.7% 3.4%

Non-taxable interest 0.3% 3.2% 1.8%

Provision to return true-up
0.6% 1.1% 1.2%

HRI trust 2.9Zo

Income tax benefit expense 26.7% 31.0% 21.3%
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount of

assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes Components

of the Companys net deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 2008 and 2007 were as follows

December 31

2008 2007

Deferred tax assets

Foreign net operating loss carryforwards 2209 1533

Accrued expenses 43 175

Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards 877 960

AMT tax carryforward 166 231

Deferred revenue 3178 1777

Accounts receivable allowance 799 399

Stock options 4092 2240

Depreciation and amortization 1636 823

Goodwill impairment 36309

Capitalized RD tax credits 262 1329

Section 48 1a adjustment 361

Other 121

Total deferred tax assets $50053 9468

Deferred tax liabilities

Capitalized RD 423
Other accrued expenses 481
Amortization of intangibles and goodwill 5529 9662
Total deferred tax liabilities 6443 9662
Net deferred tax asset 43620 194
Valuation allowance 1329 653
Net deferred tax asset liability $42291 847

At December 2008 the Company has remaining net operating loss carryforwards from acquisitions of

$2253 with an expiration date of 2025 Additionally the Company is subject to Internal Revenue Code section

382 loss limitations for these acquired net operating loss carryforwards The Company also has net operating loss

carryforwards available from foreign acquisitions of $7731 These losses have no expiration date Based on the

uncertainty of fully utilizing these NOLs the Company has recorded valuation allowance of $4417 The

Company also has state NOL carryforwards of $2266

At December 2007 the Company has remaining net operating loss carryforwards from acquisitions of

$2491 with an expiration date of 2025 Additionally the Company is subject to Internal Revenue Code section

382 loss limitations for these acquired net operating loss carryforwards The Company also has net operating loss

carryforwards available from foreign operations of $5094 These losses have no expiration date Based on the

uncertainty of fully utilizing these NOLs the Company has recorded valuation allowance of $1780 The

Company also has state NOL carryforwards of $2266 In 2006 the Company released $946 of its foreign

valuation allowance resulting in no corresponding valuation allowance against these foreign net operating loss

carryforwards as the Company believes they will be fully utilized in the future
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In 2005 the Company was granted tax holiday from the government of India for its development center

located in Hyderabad India This tax holiday was granted for five year period was subsequently extended via

statute for an additional year and is scheduled to expire in 2010 The income tax benefit on this holiday is $65

$362 and $404 in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively In 2008 the Company was granted separate tax holiday

from the Indian government covering the activities of its new development center in Vizag India This tax

holiday was granted for period of 10 years and will expire in 2018 The income tax benefit on this holiday is

$309 in 2008

Activity in the valuation allowance account for the years
ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 is

presented in the table below

Acquired Release of

Beginning valuation valuation 338g Ending

Balance allowance allowance election Balance

2008 653 676 1329
2007 $12634 653 $796 $11838 653
2006 946 12634 946 12634

The Company does not provide for U.S deferred income taxes or tax benefits on the undistributed earnings

or losses of its non-U.S subsidiaries because earnings are permanently reinvested and in the opinion of

management will continue to be reinvested indefinitely At December 31 2008 the Company had not provided

for deferred income tax expense for cumulative income of individual international subsidiaries of $16392

Should these earnings be distributed in the form of dividends or otherwise the Company would be subject to

both U.S income taxes and withholding taxes in various international jurisdictions Determination of the related

amount of unrecognized deferred U.S income tax liability is not practicable because of the complexities

associated with its hypothetical calculation In the event of the repatriation of foreign earnings the Company

believes that it would be in position to claim sufficient foreign tax credits for U.S federal income taxes

purposes to offset significant amount of potential tax liability

During 2007 the Company filed separate elections under Section 338g of the Internal Revenue Code to

treat the acquisitions of Webhire and BrassRing as the purchase of assets for tax purposes These elections allow

the tax basis in acquired assets to be valued at their relative fair market values on the respective dates of

purchase As result of these elections certain deferred tax assets of Webhire and BrassRing totaling $2942 and

$342 respectively were reduced and reclassified to goodwill following the elimination of certain tax attributes

including previously recorded net operating loss carryforwards

The Company is currently under review by the Internal Revenue Service for 2006

The Company does not anticipate that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits reflected as of December 31

2008 will materially change in the next 12 months any changes are not expected to have significant impact on

the results of operations cash flows or the financial position of the company With certain limited exceptions the

Company is no longer subject to U.S federal state and local or non-U.S income tax audits by taxing authorities

for tax years through 2004 For subsequent years certain tax positions taken by the Company could be subject to

differing interpretations of applicable laws regulations and authoritative pronouncements utilized in the

determination of the amounts and/or timing of income deductions and tax credits The Company is currently

under examination by the Internal Revenue Service and certain state taxing authorities for tax year 2006

Although the outcome of tax audits is difficult to predict with certainty the Company believes that adequate

amounts of tax and interest have been provided for any adjustments that may result from tax examinations
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Commitments and Contingencies

Leasing Arrangements

The Company leases certain of its facilities and equipment under various operating and capital leases

Equipment under capital leases consists primarily of computer equipment and furniture and fixtures These leases

generally have terms of three to five years bear interest up to 13.0% per annum and are collateralized by the

underlying equipment Operating leases primarily consist of leases for office space and equipment Future

minimum lease payments for each of the following five years are

Year Ended December 312008

Capital Operating
Leases Leases

2009 $153 7346
2010 54 5838
2011 44 3587
2012 21 2219
2013 1245

Total minimum lease payments $272 $20235

Less amount representing interest 21

Present value of minimum payments under capital leases 251

Less current portion 143

$108

Rent expense was $7174 $5824 and $3678 for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively Most of the Companys capital and operating leases contain automatic renewal terms bargain

purchase options or escalation clauses

Severance arrangement

On November 26 2006 the Company entered into separation agreement and general release with its

former Chief Operating Officer who resigned from his positions as an officer and director of the Company and

each of its subsidiaries effective on the close of business on November 30 2006 The separation agreement

provided that the Company continue to pay the former officer his base salary of $250 per year through

November 29 2008 In addition until May 29 2010 the Company will provide the former officer with

continued participation in the medical insurance
coverage plans of the Company or the economic equivalent of

the employer portion of the premium for such plans Pursuant to the separation agreement the former officer

received $397 under the Companys 2006 bonus plan In addition previously unvested options to purchase

28333 shares of the Companys common stock held by the former officer became immediately exercisable and

all other unvested stock options granted to the former officer by the Company were forfeited on the separation

date

Also pursuant to the separation agreement the former officer provided the Company and its subsidiaries

and affiliates with general release and the former officer agreed to certain restrictive covenants including

confidentiality and non-disparagement and non-competition and non-solicitation for period of two years after

the separation date as such the company recognized the severance expense over the non compete term
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Litigation

On October 31 2000 Gallup Inc which conducts its business under the name The Gallup Organization

filed suit against the Company in U.S District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania seeking unspecified

damages and injunctive relief alleging that the Company unlawfully raided Gallups employees and tortuously

interfered with Gallups relationships with former employees and customers infringed on Gallups copyrighted

survey language and falsely advertised aspects of the Companys employee survey services In November 2001

the District Court granted the Companys motion to dismiss Gallups claim that we conducted an unlawful raid

of Gallups employees In December 2002 the District Court granted the Companys motion for summary

judgment on the false advertising claim In January 2003 the District Court granted the Companys motion for

summary judgment on the claims regarding the Companys alleged tortuous interference with Gallups

relationships with its former employees and its customers Gallup did not appeal any of these rulings

In November 2004 the District Court granted the Companys motion for summary judgment on the

copyright claim Gallup appealed that ruling to the U.S Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit and the U.S

Court of Appeals reversed the judges grant of summary judgment in the Companys favor

On January 27 2006 the Company and Gallup settled the outstanding claim and entered into confidential

settlement agreement On January 30 2006 the Court entered consent order relating to the settlement The

terms of the settlement will not have material adverse effect on the Companys results of operations or financial

position

The Company is involved in claims including those identified above which arise in the ordinary course of

business In the opinion of management the Company has made adequate provision for potential liabilities if

any arising from any such matters However litigation is inherently unpredictable and the costs and other

effects of pending or future litigation governmental investigations legal and administrative cases and

proceedings whether civil or criminal settlements judgments and investigations claims and changes in any

such matters and developments or assertions by or against the Company relating to intellectual property rights

and intellectual property licenses could have material adverse effect on the Companys business financial

condition and operating results
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10 Equity

Roliforward of Shares

The Companys conmion shares issued and repurchased during the years ended December 31 2008 2007

and 2006 are as follows

Common

Shares

Class

December 31 2005 ending balance 17459044
Shares from public offering 2641800
Warrant exercises 250499
Stock option exercises 387986
Shares issued for acquisition 158448

December 31 2006 ending balance 20897777

Repurchase of shares 1448091
Shares from public offering 4312500
Stock option exercises 136673

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 10152

Restricted shares issued 16200

Shares issued for acquisition 107235

December 31 2007 ending balance 24032446

Repurchase of shares 1677560
Stock option exercises 67021

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 27141

Shares issued for earnout 55876

December 31 2008 ending balance 22504924

Refer to the accompanying consolidated statements of shareholders equity and this note for further

discussion

Stock and Voting Rights

Undesignated Preferred Stock

The Company has 100000 shares of $0.01 par value undesignated preferred stock authorized with no

shares issued or outstanding at December 31 2008 or 2007 These shares have preferential rights in the event of

liquidation and payment of dividends

Common Stock

At December 31 2008 and 2007 the Company had 100000000 authorized shares of common stock At

December 31 2008 and 2007 22504924 and 24032446 shares of common stock respectively were

outstanding net of treasury stock discussed below Each share of common stock has one-for-one voting rights
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Authorized but not issued shares

On November 2007 our board of directors authorized stock repurchase plan providing for the

repurchase of up to 2000000 shares of our common stock of which 1448091 shares were repurchased at an

aggregate cost of $25482 as of December 31 2007 These shares were restored to original status prior to

December 31 2007 and accordingly are presented as authorized but not issued The timing price and volume of

repurchases were based on market conditions relevant securities laws and other factors As of December 31

2007 the amount of shares available for repurchase under the stock repurchase plan was 551909 Through

January 24 2008 the remaining 551909 shares available for repurchase under the stock repurchase plan were

repurchased at an aggregate cost of $9848

On February 20 2008 our board of directors authorized stock repurchase plan providing for the

repurchase of up to 3000000 shares of the Companys common stock of which 1125651 shares were

repurchased at an aggregate cost of $20429 as of December 31 2008 These shares were restored to original

status prior to December 31 2008 and accordingly are presented as authorized but not issued The timing price

and volume of repurchases were based on market conditions relevant securities laws and other factors As of

December 31 2008 the amount of shares available for repurchase under the stock repurchase plan was 1874349

11 Stock Plans

Stock Option Plan

The Companys 2005 Equity Incentive Plan the 2005 Option Plan which was adopted by the

Companys Board of Directors the Board in March 2005 and was approved by the Companys shareholders

in June 2005 provides for the granting of stock options to employees and directors at the discretion of the Board

or committee of the Board The 2005 Option Plan replaced the Companys 2000 Stock Option Plan the 2000

Option Plan As of December 31 2008 there were options to purchase 2487654 shares of common stock

outstanding under the 2005 Option Plan The Company is authorized to issue up to an aggregate of 4842910

shares of its common stock pursuant to stock options granted under the 2005 Option Plan As of December 31

2008 there were total of 1732506 shares of common stock not subject to outstanding options and available for

issuance under the 2005 Option Plan The purpose of stock options is to recognize past services rendered and to

provide additional incentive in furthering the continued success of the Company Stock options granted under

both the 2005 Option Plan and the 2000 Stock Option Plan expire between the fifth and tenth anniversary of the

date of grant and generally vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant Unexercised stock options may

expire up to 90 days after an employees termination for options granted under the 2000 Option Plan

SFAS 123R requires companies to estimate the fair value of share-based payment awards on the date of

grant using an option-pricing model In 2008 and 2007 the fair value of each grant was estimated using the

Black-Scholes valuation model Expected volatility was based upon weighted average of peer companies and

the Companys stock volatility The expected life was determined based upon an average of the contractual life

and vesting period of the options The estimated forfeiture rate was based upon an analysis of historical data The

risk-free rate was based on U.S Treasury zero coupon bond yields at the time of grant

Compensation expense for awards with service condition that cliff vest is recognized on straight-line

basis over the awards requisite service period For those awards with service condition that have graded vest

compensation expense is calculated using the graded-vesting attribution method This method entails recognizing

expense on straight-line basis over the requisite service period for each separately vesting portion as if the grant

consisted of multiple awards each with the same service inception date but different requisite service periods

This method accelerates the recognition of compensation expense
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The fair value of market based performance vesting share awards granted is calculated using Monte Carlo

valuation model that simulates various potential outcomes of the option grant and values each outcome using the

Black-Scholes valuation model which yields fair market value of the Companys common stock on the date of

the grant measurement date This amount is recognized over the vesting period using the straight-line method

Since the award requires both the completion of
years

of service and the share price reaching predetermined

levels as defined in the option agreement compensation cost will be recognized over the year explicit service

period If the employee terminates prior to the four-year requisite service period compensation cost will be

reversed even if the market condition has been satisfied by that time The total grant date fair value of the options

granted during 2008 using the Monte Carlo valuation model was $1026

The following table provides the assumptions used in determining the fair value of the market and service

based awards for the year ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Years ended December 31

2008 2008 2007 2006

Market based Service based Service based Service based

awards awards awards awards

Expected volatility 60.98% 56.23 57.52% 47.26 54.95% 39.5 41.98%

Expected dividends

Expected term in years 10 3.75

Risk-free rate 3.45% 1.87 2.77% 2.5 4.6% 4.6 5.1%

summary of the status of the Companys stock options as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and changes

during the period then ended is as follows

Options Restricted Stock

Outstanding Options Exercisable

Shares Wtd Avg Wtd Avg
available for Exercise Exercise

Grant Shares Price Shares Price

Balance atDecember 31 2006 3138046 1302008 $14.63 321208 $14.26

Grantedoptions 539400 539400 35.40

Grantedrestricted stock 16200 16200 0.00

Exercised 136673 11.42

Forfeited or expired 119900 119900 22.24

Balance at December 31 2007 2702346 1601035 $21.18 241335 14.96

Grantedoptions 1084600 1084600 11.87

Exercised options and vested restricted stock 83221 4.41

Forfeited or expired 114760 114760 29.28

Balance at December 31 2008 1732506 2487654 $17.33 447854 14.01

The total intrinsic value of options outstanding exercisable and exercised for the period ended

December 31 2008 was $1950 $343 and $1249 respectively The weighted average
fair value for options

granted during the period ended December 31 2008 and 2007 was $5.67 and 14.91 respectively The weighted

average remaining contractual term of options outstanding and exercisable at December 31 2008 was 5.61 and

4.36 respectively
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31 2008

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted

Average Weighted Weighted

Remaining Average Average

Number Contract Life Exercise Number Exercise

Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Years Price Exercisable Price

3.68$ 7.37 661998 9.12 5.03 101998 4.62

$11.06$14.74 603856 5.79 $12.53 203856 $13.47

$14.75$18.43 102000 2.41 $17.51 102000 $17.51

$18.44$22.12 533000 4.00 $19.30 0.00

$25.81 $29.49 38000 2.45 $27.25 0.00

$29.50$33.18 111000 4.79 $31.99 40000 $31.73

$33.19$36.87 437800 3.26 $35.54 0.00

3.68 $36.87 2487654 5.61 $17.33 447854 $14.01

As of December 31 2008 there was $7833 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested

share-based compensation arrangements granted under the 2005 Option Plan That cost is expected to be

recognized over weighted-average period of years

summary of the status of the Companys nonvested share options and restricted stock as of December 31

2008 and 2007 is presented below

Wtd Avg
Grant

Date Fair

Nonvested Shares Shares Value

Nonvested at December 31 2006 980800 8.65

Grantedoptions 539400 1491

Grantedrestricted stock 16200 31.46

Vested 56800 13.26

Forfeited or expired 119900 9.78

Nonvested at December 31 2007 1359700 $10.73

Grantedoptions 1084600 5.67

Vested 293000 8.98

Forfeited or expired 111500 12.31

Nonvested at December 31 2008 2039800 8.24

SFAS No 123R also requires us to change the classification of any tax benefits realized upon exercise of

stock options in excess of that which is associated with the expense recognized for financial reporting purposes

These amounts are presented as financing cash inflow rather than as reduction of income taxes paid in our

consolidated statement of cash flows

The pooi of excess tax benefits available to absorb tax deficiencies was determined using the alternative

transition method described in FSP FAS 123R-3 Using this method an opening pooi balance of $22 was

calculated As of December 31 2008 the pooi of excess tax benefits was $4215

95



Kenexa Corporation and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsContinued

All amounts in thousands except share and per share data unless noted otherwise

In accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No 107 we classified share-based compensation within cost

of revenues sales and marketing general and administrative expenses and research and development

corresponding to the same line as the cash compensation paid to respective employees officers and

non-employee directors

The following table shows total share-based compensation expense included in the Consolidated Statement

of Operations

Year ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Cost of revenues 341 391 513

Sales and marketing 961 1006 1109

General and administrative 4032 2204 1292

Research and development 427 192 162

Pre-tax share-based compensation $5761 $3793 $3076
Income tax 1813 1407 936

Share-based compensation expense net $3948 $2386 $2140

Between January 2008 and December 31 2008 the Company granted options to certain employees to

purchase an aggregate of 1084600 shares of the Companys common stock at weighted exercise price of

$11.87 per share The Company granted the options at prevailing market prices ranging from $5.11 to $21.80 per

share

Between January 2007 and December 31 2007 the Company granted options to certain employees to

purchase an aggregate of 539400 shares of the Companys common stock at weighted exercise price of $35.40

per share The Company granted the options at prevailing market prices ranging from $29.94 to $36.87 per share

On August 14 2007 the Company granted to each non-employee member of the Board of Directors 2700
shares of restricted stock or an aggregate of 16200 shares of restricted stock which vested on May 19 2008
The grant date fair value of the restricted stock was $31.46

Between January 2006 and December 31 2006 the Company granted options to certain employees to

purchase an aggregate of 316333 shares of the Companys common stock at weighted exercise price of $25.24

per share The Company granted the options at prevailing market prices ranging from $21.10 to $32.69 per share

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Employee Stock Purchase Plan which was approved in May 2006 enables substantially all U.S and

foreign employees to purchase shares of our common stock at 5% discounted offering price off the closing

market price of our common stock on the NASDAQ National Market LLC on the offering date We have granted

rights to purchase up to 500000 common shares to our employees under the Plan The Plan is not considered

compensatory plan in accordance with SFAS 123R and requires no compensation expense to be recognized

Shares of our common stock purchased under the employee stock purchase plan were 27141 and 10152 for the

years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively
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Warrants

summary of the Companys warrant activity and balances as of December 31 2006 and 2005

respectively is as follows

Balance at Balance at

Exercise December 31 December 31

Warrant Class Price 2005 Exercised Forfeited 2006

Class $20.88 622542 590022 32520

Class 4.18 158480 158480

ClassE $20.88 13120 13120

Total 794142 761622 32520

Class and warrants were exercisable until December 16 2006 after which they expired The holders

of the Class warrants had the ability to require the Company to repurchase these warrants at the Put Price as

defined by the warrant agreements on or after August 12 2006 if Realization Event has not occurred In

connection with the 2001 Private Placement the Class warrant agreements were amended to only permit

redemption of these warrants if all outstanding Series preferred shares have been redeemed

Pursuant to the initial public offering all of the Class warrants to purchase 396195 shares of common

stock were converted into common shares and 396195 Class warrants were terminated Additionally the

Class warrant put feature expired Following the conversion and termination of warrants the Company had

794142 warrants outstanding with an average
exercise price of $17.54 as of December 31 2005

All outstanding warrants are subject to anti-dilution provisions and correspondingly their exercise and

conversion prices will be adjusted for occurrence of certain events as defined including changes in shares

options and warrants issued and currently outstanding In connection with the 2001 Private Placement all

outstanding warrant agreements were amended to permit the issuance of shares in connection with this

transaction without triggering the anti-dilution provisions of these agreements The fair value of the warrants are

immaterial for all years presented

12 Related Party

The Companys CEO served on the Board of Directors of software development consulting company that

provided services to the Company during the years ended December 31 2004 and 2003 in connection with

software being developed for sale In 2004 the Companys CEO resigned from the Board of Directors of this

company In 2003 the Company terminated its agreement with the software development consulting company

The Company paid $215 for perpetual licenses in accordance with the termination agreement This amount is

being amortized over three years The Companys CEO did not receive any cash compensation during 2005

2004 or 2003 for his participation on the Board of Directors of the software development consulting company In

2006 the Company purchased certain intangibles and property plant and equipment for $300 from the software

development consulting company

One of the Companys directors Barry Abelson is partner in the law firm of Pepper Hamilton LLP

This firm has represented the Company since 1997 For the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 the

Company paid Pepper Hamilton LLP net of insurance coverage $389 $1477 and $2326 respectively for

general legal matters The decrease in payments to Pepper Hamilton LLP for the year ended December 31 2008

as compared to previous years
resulted from reduction in transactional and acquisitions related services

performed during the current year For the years ended 2007 and 2006 majority of the payments resulted from
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services performed in conjunction with our initial public and secondary offerings various acquisitions in 2006

and 2007 credit facility arrangements and other corporate matters The amount payable to Pepper Hamilton as of

December 31 2008 and 2007 was $75 and $33 respectively

13 Geographic Information

The following table summarizes the distribution of revenue by geographic region as determined by billing

address for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

For the year ended For the year ended For the year ended
December 312008 December 312007 December 312006

Revenue as Revenue as Revenue as

percentage of percentage of percentage of

Country Revenue total revenue Revenue total revenue Revenue total revenue

United States $149225 73.6% $155247 85.3% $101165 90.2%

United Kingdom 17729 8.7% 10741 5.9% 3578 3.2%

Other European Countries 11660 5.5% 5389 3.0% 946 0.9%

Germany 9765 4.8% 2832 1.5%

The Netherlands 3196 1.6% 2706 1.5% 2367 2.1%

Canada 5539 2.7% 2526 1.4% 2715 2.4%

Other 6618 3.1% 2485 1.4% 1336 1.2%

Total $203732 100.0% $181926 100.0% $112107 100.0%

The following table summarizes the distribution of assets by geographic region as of December 31 2008

and 2007

December 312008 December 31 2007

Assets as Assets as

percentage of percentage of

Country Assets total assets Assets total assets

United States $146850 67.2% $306276 88.0%

United Kingdom 43634 20.0% 16889 4.9%

India 9099 4.1% 14436 4.1%

Germany 9976 4.6% 6888 2.0%

Canada 3332 1.5% 2428 0.7%

Poland 2139 1.0% 0.0%

Other 3435 1.6% 972 0.3%

Total $218465 100.0% $347889 100.0%

14 Subsequent Events

On January 20 2009 Kenexa entered intu joint venture agreement with Shanghai Runjie Management

Consulting Company and in Shanghai China for $1189 or Chinese Yuan Renminbi 8145 The initial

capital contribution will provide the Company with 46% ownership in the new entity and provide the Company
with presence in ChirLa growing recruitment processing outsourcing market Based upon the EBITDA results

the Company will acquire an additional 3% ownership interest in the joint venture through 2010
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ITEM Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not Applicable

ITEM 9A Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management including our principal executive

officer and principal financial officer we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and

operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as of the end of the period covered by this report or the Evaluation Date Based

upon the evaluation our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure

controls and procedures were effective as of the Evaluation Date Disclosure controls and procedures are controls

and procedures designed to reasonably ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under

the Exchange Act such as this report is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods

specified in the SECs rules and forms Disclosure controls and procedures include controls and procedures

designed to reasonably ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management

including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions

regarding required disclosure

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation

of financial statements for external
purposes

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance

of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets

ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that our receipts and expenditures

are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors and iii provide

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of

our assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Management assessed our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 the end of the

our fiscal year Management based its assessment on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission Managements

assessment included evaluation of such elements as the design and operating effectiveness of key financial

reporting controls process documentation accounting policies and our overall control environment

Based on its assessment management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was

effective as of the end of the fiscal year to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial

reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles The results of managements assessment were reviewed with the Audit

Committee of the Board of Directors

Grant Thornton LLP independently assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial

reporting and has issued its opinion which is included below

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

On Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Board of Directors and Shareholders

Kenexa Corporation

We have audited Kenexa Corporation and Subsidiaries collectively Kenexa Corporation

Pennsylvania corporation internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on criteria

established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of

the Treadway Commission COSO Kenexa Corporations management is responsible for maintaining effective

internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over

financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial

Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on Kenexa Corporations internal control over financial

reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our

audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that

material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based

on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We
believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate In our opinion Kenexa Corporation maintained in all material respects

effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on criteria established in

Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by COSO

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated balance sheet of Kenexa Corporation and Subsidiaries as of December 31 2008

and the related consolidated statements of operations shareholders equity and cash flows for the year then

ended and our report dated March 16 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion

Is Grant Thornton LLP

Philadelphia Pennsylvania

March 16 2009
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Change in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with

managements evaluation that occurred during the last fiscal quarter ended December 31 2008 that have

materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

ITEM 9B Other Information

Not Applicable
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PART III

ITEM 10 Directors and Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the captions Board of Directors Structure

and Practices of the Board of Directors Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance and

Executive Compensation and Executive Officers in our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2009 annual

meeting of shareholders to be filed within 120 days after the end of the year covered by this Report pursuant to

Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the 2009 Proxy Statement

We have adopted written code of business conduct and ethics known as our Corporate Code of Conduct

which applies to all of our directors officers and employees including our principal executive officer and our

principal financial and accounting officer Our Corporate Code of Conduct is available on our Internet website

www.Kenexa.com Any amendments to our Corporate Code of Conduct or waivers from the provisions of the

Corporate Code of Conduct for our principal executive officer and our principal financial and accounting officer

will be disclosed on our Internet website within four business days following the date of such amendment or

waiver

ITEM 11 Executive Compensation

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the captions Executive Compensation and

Executive Officers Compensation Committee Report and Structure and Practices of the Board of Directors

in our 2009 Proxy Statement

ITEM 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the caption Security Ownership of Certain

Beneficial Owners and Management in our 2009 Proxy Statements

Equity Compensation Plan Information as of December 31 2008

The following table sets forth as of December 31 2008 information concerning equity compensation plans

under which our securities are authorized for issuance The table does not reflect grants awards exercises

terminations or expirations since that date The following table excludes 500000 shares of our common stock

which was issued or is available for issuance pursuant to our 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan which was

approved by our shareholders in May 2006 As of December 31 2008 444787 shares were available for

issuance pursuant to our 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan All share amounts and exercise prices have been

adjusted to reflect stock splits that occurred after the date on which any particular underlying plan was adopted

to the extent applicable All of the equity compensation plans pursuant to which we are currently granting equity

awards have been approved by our shareholders

Number of securities

Number of remaining available

securities to be Weighted-average for future issuance

issued upon exercise price of under equity

exercise of outstanding compensation
Plan Category outstanding options options plans

Equity Compensation Plans approved by

shareholders 2280854 $18.04 1732506

Equity Compensation Plans not approved by

shareholders 206800 9.51

Excludes number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options
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For description of the material features of our equity compensation plans see Note 11 to our consolidated

financial statements

ITEM 13 Certain Relationships Related Transactions and Director Independence

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the caption Certain Relationships and Related

Party Transactions and Structure and Practices of the Board of Directors in our 2009 Proxy Statement

ITEM 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the caption Proposal No Ratification of

Selection of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm in our 2009 Proxy Statement
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PART IV

ITEM 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Documents filed as part of this report

Financial Statements The financial statements as set forth under Item of this Annual Report on Form

10-K are incorporated herein

Financial Statement Schedules All financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are

not applicable not required or the information is shown in the financial statements or related notes

Exhibits See below

Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Description of Document

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of December 21 2005 among Kenexa Corporation Kenexa

Technology Inc Kenexa Acquisition Corp Webhire Inc and Gazaway Crittenden solely as the

representative of the Equityholders incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 filed with the

Companys Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 22 2005

2.2 Equity Purchase Agreement and Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of October 2006 among
Kenexa Corporation Kenexa Technology Inc Birmingham Acquisition Corp BrassRing LLC

BrassRing Inc Gannett Satellite Information Network Inc BRLLC Holdings Inc Tribune

National Marketing Company Accel VI L.P Accel Internet Fund II L.P Accel Keiretsu VI L.P

Accel Investors 98 L.P Accel VI-S L.P Accel Investors 98-S L.P James Breyer and Gerald

Rosberg solely as the representative of the stockholders of BRINC and the selling members of

BRLLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form

8-K dated October 2006

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Kenexa Corporation incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 3.1 filed with the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated November 2007

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Kenexa Corporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 filed

with the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated Novermber 2007

4.1 Form of Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Kenexa Corporation incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.1 filed with Amendment No to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated

June 20 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.1 Kenexa Corporation 2000 Stock Option Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.2 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the Kenexa Corporation 2000 Stock Option

Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Companys Registration Statement on

Form 5-1 dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.3 Kenexa Corporation 2005 Equity Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 filed with

the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No

333-124028

10.4 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan

Director incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 filed with the Companys Registration

Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.5 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan

Employee incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 filed with the Companys Registration

Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028
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Exhibit

Number Description of Document

10.6 Kenexa Corporation Amended and Restated 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8K dated October 20

2006

10.7 Investor Agreement dated April 2005 among Kenexa Corporation and certain shareholders

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 filed with the Companys Registration Statement on Form

S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028 of Kenexa Corporation

10.8 Agreement Among Certain Management Shareholders dated April 2005 among Kenexa

Corporation and the investors named therein incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 filed with the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.9 Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated March 29 2001 incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.9 filed with the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated

April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.10 Agreement of Lease between Liberty Property Limited Partnership and Raymond Karsan Associates

dated July 1996 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 filed with the Companys Registration

Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.11 First Amendment to Agreement of Lease dated August 14 2002 between Liberty Property Limited

Partnership and Kenexa Corporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 filed with the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.12 Second Amendment to Agreement of Lease dated November 2002 between Liberty Property

Limited Partnership and Kenexa Corporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 filed with

the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No

333-124028

10.13 Credit Agreement dated November 13 2006 by and among Kenexa Technology Inc the several

banks and other financial institutions from time to time parties thereto and PNC Bank National

Association as administrative agent incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 filed with the

Companys Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 17 2006

10.14 Revolving Credit and Security Agreement dated July 15 2003 between PNC Bank National

Association and Kenexa Technology Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 filed with the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.15 First Amendment and Waiver to Revolving Credit and Security Agreement dated October 10 2003

between PNC Bank National Association and Kenexa Technology Inc incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.14 filed with the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005

Registration No 333-124028

10.16 Second Amendment and Modification to Loan and Security Agreement dated March 22 2005

between PNC Bank National Association and Kenexa Technology Inc incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.15 filed with the Companys Registration Statement on Form 5-1 dated April 12 2005

Registration No 333-124028

10.17 Third Amendment and Modification to the Revolving Credit and Security Agreement dated

December 29 2005 between Kenexa Technology Inc and PNC Bank National Association

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K

dated December 30 2005

10.18 Guaranty dated July 15 2003 by Kenexa Corporation in favor of PNC Bank National Association

1996 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 filed with the Companys Registration Statement on

Form 5-1 dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028
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Exhibit

Number Description of Document

10.19 Form of Indemnification Agreements between Kenexa Corporation and each of its directors and

certain officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 filed with the Companys Registration

Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.20 Separation Agreement by and among Kenexa Technology Inc and Eliot Chack a/k/a Elliot

Clark dated November 26 2006 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the

Companys Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 29 2006

10.21 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan Non-Employee

Director incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Companys Current Report on

Form 8-K dated August 14 2007

10.22 First Amendment to the Credit Agreement dated March 26 2007 among Kenexa Technology Inc

the several banks and other financial institutions parties thereto and PNC Bank NA as

administrative agent incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Companys Current

Report on Form 8-K dated March 30 2007

21.1 Subsidiaries of Kenexa Corporation

23.1 Consent of BDO Seidman LLP

23.2 Consent of Grant Thornton LLP

31.1 Certification by Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 3a- 14a/15d- 14a

31.2 Certification by Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 3a- 14a/i Sd- 14a

32.1 Certification Furnished Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Management contracts and compensatory plans and arrangements required to be filed as exhibits pursuant to

Item i5a3 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

None
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused this

report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized on March 16 2009

Kenexa Corporation

Is NOORUDDIN KARSAN

Nooruddin Karsan

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

Is DONALD VOLK

Donald Volk

Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended this report has been

signed by the following persons on March 16 2009 in the capacities indicated

Signature Title

Is NOORUDDIN KARSAN Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer and

Nooruddin Karsan Director Principal Executive Officer

Is DONALD VOLK Chief Financial Officer Principal Financial and

Donald Volk Accounting Officer

Is TROY KANTER President Chief Operating Officer and Director

Troy Kanter

Is BARRY ABELSON Director

Barry Abelson

Is RENEE BOOTH Director

Renee Booth

Is JOSEPH KONEN Director

Joseph Konen

Is JOHN NIEs Director

John Nies

/s RICHARD PINOLA Director

Richard Pinola

/s REBECCA MADDOX Director

Rebecca Maddox
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number Description of Document

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of December 21 2005 among Kenexa Corporation Kenexa

Technology Inc Kenexa Acquisition Corp Webhire Inc and Gazaway Crittenden solely as the

representative of the Equityholders incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 filed with the

Companys Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 22 2005

2.2 Equity Purchase Agreement and Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of October 2006 among
Kenexa Corporation Kenexa Technology Inc Birmingham Acquisition Corp BrassRing LLC
BrassRing Inc Gannett Satellite Information Network Inc BRLLC Holdings Inc Tribune

National Marketing Company Accel VI L.P Accel Internet Fund II L.P Accel Keiretsu VI L.P

Accel Investors 98 L.P Accel VT-S L.P Accel Investors 98-S L.P James Breyer and Gerald

Rosberg solely as the representative of the stockholders of BRINC and the selling members of

BRLLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form

8-K dated October 2006

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Kenexa Corporation incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 3.1 filed with the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated November 2007

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Kenexa Corporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 filed

with the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated November 2007

4.1 Form of Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Kenexa Corporation incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.1 filed with Amendment No to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated

June 20 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.1 Kenexa Corporation 2000 Stock Option Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.2 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the Kenexa Corporation 2000 Stock Option

Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Companys Registration Statement on

Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.3 Kenexa Corporation 2005 Equity Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 filed with

the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No

333-124028

10.4 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan

Director incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 filed with the Companys Registration

Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028
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Exhibit

Number Description of Document

10.5 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan

Employee incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 filed with the Companys Registration

Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.6 Kenexa Corporation Amended and Restated 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 20

2006

10.7 Investor Agreement dated April 2005 among Kenexa Corporation and certain shareholders

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 filed with the Companys Registration Statement on Form

S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028 of Kenexa Corporation

10.8 Agreement Among Certain Management Shareholders dated April 2005 among Kenexa

Corporation and the investors named therein incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 filed with the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.9 Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated March 29 2001 incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.9 filed with the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated

April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.10 Agreement of Lease between Liberty Property Limited Partnership and Raymond Karsan Associates

dated July 1996 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 filed with the Companys Registration

Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.11 First Amendment to Agreement of Lease dated August 14 2002 between Liberty Property Limited

Partnership and Kenexa Corporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 filed with the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.12 Second Amendment to Agreement of Lease dated November 2002 between Liberty Property

Limited Partnership and Kenexa Corporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 filed with

the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No
333-124028

10.13 Credit Agreement dated November 13 2006 by and among Kenexa Technology Inc the several

banks and other financial institutions from time to time parties thereto and PNC Bank National

Association as administrative agent incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 filed with the

Companys Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 17 2006

10.14 Revolving Credit and Security Agreement dated July 15 2003 between PNC Bank National

Association and Kenexa Technology Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 filed with the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.15 First Amendment and Waiver to Revolving Credit and Security Agreement dated October 10 2003

between PNC Bank National Association and Kenexa Technology Inc incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.14 filed with the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005

Registration No 333-124028

10.16 Second Amendment and Modification to Loan and Security Agreement dated March 22 2005

between PNC Bank National Association and Kenexa Technology Inc incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.15 filed with the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005

Registration No 333-124028

10.17 Third Amendment and Modification to the Revolving Credit and Security Agreement dated

December 29 2005 between Kenexa Technology Inc and PNC Bank National Association

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K

dated December 30 2005
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Exhibit

Number Description of Document

10.18 Guaranty dated July 15 2003 by Kenexa Corporation in favor of PNC Bank National Association

1996 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 filed with the Companys Registration Statement on

Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.19 Form of Indemnification Agreements between Kenexa Corporation and each of its directors and

certain officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 filed with the Companys Registration

Statement on Form S-i dated April 12 2005 Registration No 333-124028

10.20 Separation Agreement by and among Kenexa Technology Inc and Eliot Chack a/k/a Elliot

Clark dated November 26 2006 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the

Companys Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 29 2006

10.21 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan Non-Employee

Director incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Companys Current Report on

Form 8-K dated August 14 2007

10.22 First Amendment to the Credit Agreement dated March 26 2007 among Kenexa Technology Inc

the several banks and other financial institutions parties thereto and PNC Bank N.A as

administrative agent incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Companys Current

Report on Form 8-K dated March 30 2007

21.1 Subsidiaries of Kenexa Corporation

23.1 Consent of BDO Seidman LLP

23.2 Consent of Grant Thornton LLP

31.1 Certification by Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a- 14a/i Sd- 14a

31.2 Certification by Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 3a- 14a/i 5d- 14a

32.1 Certification Furnished Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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Exhibit 31.1

Nooruddin Karsan certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Kenexa Corporation

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to

state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant

as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal control over

financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15f and 15d- 15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures

to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including

its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the

period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of

the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected or is reasonably likely

to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants

board of directors

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record

process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date March 16 2009 Is NOORUDDIN KARSAN

Nooruddin Karsan

Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

Donald Volk certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Kenexa Corporation

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to

state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant

as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal control over

financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15tTj for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures

to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including

its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the

period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of

the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected or is reasonably likely

to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants

board of directors

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record

process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date March 16 2009 Is DONALD VOLK

Donald Volk

Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the accompanying Annual Report of Kenexa Corporation the Company on Form

10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date

hereof the Report the undersigned Nooruddin Karsan Chief Executive Officer of the Company and

Donald Volk Chief Financial Officer of the Company certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C.Section 1350 as adopted

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that to their respective knowledge

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial

condition and results of operations of the Company

By Is NOORUDDIN KARSAN

Nooruddin Karsan

Chief Executive Officer

March 162009

By
/5 DONALD VOLK

Donald Volk

Chief Financial Officer

March 162009

This certification is made solely for the purposes of 18 U.S.C Section 1350 subject to the knowledge

standard contained therein and not for any other purpose signed original of this written statement required by

Section 906 has been provided to Kenexa Corporation and will be retained by Kenexa Corporation and furnished

to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request
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